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Group profile 
Basil Read Holdings Limited, a prominent construction group in South Africa, is listed on the JSE under heavy construction in 
the industrial sector. Its subsidiaries are leading participants in the areas of civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed 
integrated housing developments, property development, opencast mining, and engineering design, procurement and 
construction management, as well as related services. Basil Read operates throughout Africa and other emerging markets. 

For well over half a century, Basil Read has been laying the foundations for the future of the country and all South Africans. 
Every South African has been touched by Basil Read at some point – from the home you live in, the clinic you are treated in, 
the roads you drive on or the school where you and your children were educated.

In just about every area of the construction industry in South Africa, Basil Read plays a leading role, be it building and 
residential developments, civil engineering, road construction or opencast mining. The group’s focus on value-for-money 
offerings that deliver uncompromising quality, even in the face of the tightest of deadlines, is the cornerstone of its business.

Basil Read’s founding principles – hard work, team effort and integrity – are evident in every contract we undertake. 
A combination of innovative technology and unwavering attention to detail enables Basil Read to not only meet clients’ 
requirements, but exceed them every time.

As South Africa grows and changes, Basil Read is ready to meet these new challenges head-on. From low-cost housing to 
a stadium for the 2010 FIFA World Cup or vital infrastructure development, you can be sure Basil Read will deliver.

SCOPE OF REPORT

Basil Read’s 2010 annual report integrates our economic, social and environmental results in South Africa for a group-
wide understanding. It also sets out the challenges and opportunities that lie ahead. 

Although the group is almost six decades old, rapid expansion in recent years makes data comparability quite challenging 
in some areas. Where practical, we are implementing common data standards. In some sections, however, readers will find 
separate disclosure on the performance of the TWP engineering group, recently acquired, given the nature of its business 
and different stakeholder needs.

Triple bottom-line reporting remains a cornerstone of our commitment to entrench global best practices in all 
operations. Basil Read therefore reports against the most recent guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (G3), and 
the content of this report is self-declared at GRI level C. Once a group-wide reporting platform is more mature, this 
report will be externally assured.
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Group at a glance

1

Construction
This division incorporates Basil Read’s civil engineering, roads and building operations. Proven 
technical and financial engineering skills have reinforced the group’s position among the leaders in 
this industry.

Basil Read undertakes major works for private and public sector clients covering a broad spectrum 
of civil engineering and road projects, including earthworks, bridges, pipelines, infrastructure, 
harbour and marine works, industrial plants, sports facilities, roads, highways, airports and other 
related industrial activities. The group also adds value through innovative packaging: build-operate-
transfer (BOT) contracts, design and construct, and other alternative solutions tailored to meet 
client requirements.

Using a total quality approach to projects, the 
Basil Read building division adds value through 
unique turnkey solutions, innovative 
construction methods, effective cost control, 
design alternatives and financing options.

Salient features
>  Expansion into Africa under way

>  Two strategic acquisitions

Revenue

R3,9 billion
(2009: R3,9 billion)

Operating profit

R293,0 million  5%
(2009: R309,1 million)

Mining
Basil Read’s mining division incorporates opencast mining operations and the group’s drilling 
and blasting activities, housed in subsidiary Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Limited (B&E).

Basil Read Mining specialises in opencast contract mining; mine spoils rehabilitation; bulk 
earthmoving; thin, thick and multiple seam mining, hard-rock selective mining and materials handling. 
B&E provides drilling and blasting services to the southern African construction, quarrying and 
mining industries. It is the largest company of its kind and the major user of explosives in these 
industries in the region. 

Basil Read Mining has operated medium- and 
long-term contracts for gold, platinum, nickel, 
iron, diamond and coal mining clients across 
Africa, using the latest operating equipment 
and innovative mining techniques to satisfy 
their evolving needs.

Salient features
>  Margins normalising as mining production rises

>  Commodity prices strengthening

Revenue

R801,7 million  18%
(2009: R679,2 million)

Operating profit

R111,3 million  2%
(2009: R113,9 million)

Developments
Basil Read’s developments division is strategically significant to the broader group: while the 
philanthropic nature of many of the contracts undertaken is an integral part of our social licence to 
operate, the division also provides secondary work for group companies. From affordable housing 
developments to mixed-use residential estates and light industrial parks, Basil Read is working with 
national, provincial and local government, parastatals and non-governmental organisations to 
support national imperatives focused on improving the quality of life of South Africa’s people.

Basil Read’s flagship project in this sector to 
date is the Cosmo City development – already 
a vibrant community of over 9 000 families 
enjoying the comfort of affordable, quality 
homes surrounded by schools, churches, clinics, 
shopping centres and parks. By the end of 
the year, Cosmo City will be home to some 
60 000 residents. Similar projects are well along 
the regulatory approval process for Savanna 
City, south of Johannesburg, and for Garden 
City New Town, which will anchor the 
north-east expansion corridor of Cape Town.

Salient features
>  Five projects well advanced

>  Regulatory delays impact performance 

Revenue

R24,2 million  65%
(2009: R68,3 million)

Operating profit

R4,7 million  24%
(2009: R6,2 million)

Engineering
Basil Read’s engineering division complements the activities of the group’s construction, mining and 
developments divisions, adding a wealth of specialised in-house expertise and experience. This will 
be augmented by the considerable pool of consulting expertise in the TWP group, following 
shareholder approval for this acquisition in November 2009.

Drawing on an 800-strong team of skilled professionals, TWP is a leading engineering project house 
with a track record of over US$20 billion in successfully completed projects for its global clients. 
TWP provides a full range of civil and structural engineering, project management and architectural 
services, as well as electrical and mechanical engineering solutions.

This newest division in the group will capitalise 
on increased demand for companies that offer 
turnkey services and specialist skills for 
construction projects.

Salient features
>  TWP well integrated into Basil Read group

>  Significant amount of new work

Revenue

R663,4 million

Operating loss
R0,2 million

Group
Strong organic and acquisitive growth in recent years has made Basil Read a formidable competitor 
in its core sectors. Increasingly, intra-group synergies enable constituent companies to offer their 
clients a comprehensive service, while securing additional work for the group.

Salient features
>  Phase 1 of new head office completed

>  Construction of Phase 2 well under way

Revenue

R5,4 billion  16%
(2009: R4,7 billion)

Operating profit

R408,8 million  5%
(2009: R429,2 million)
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Construction
This division incorporates Basil Read’s civil engineering, roads and building operations. Proven 
technical and financial engineering skills have reinforced the group’s position among the leaders in 
this industry.

Basil Read undertakes major works for private and public sector clients covering a broad spectrum 
of civil engineering and road projects, including earthworks, bridges, pipelines, infrastructure, 
harbour and marine works, industrial plants, sports facilities, roads, highways, airports and other 
related industrial activities. The group also adds value through innovative packaging: build-operate-
transfer (BOT) contracts, design and construct, and other alternative solutions tailored to meet 
client requirements.

Using a total quality approach to projects, the 
Basil Read building division adds value through 
unique turnkey solutions, innovative 
construction methods, effective cost control, 
design alternatives and financing options.

Salient features
>  Expansion into Africa under way

>  Two strategic acquisitions

Revenue

R3,9 billion
(2009: R3,9 billion)

Operating profit

R293,0 million  5%
(2009: R309,1 million)

Mining
Basil Read’s mining division incorporates opencast mining operations and the group’s drilling 
and blasting activities, housed in subsidiary Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Limited (B&E).

Basil Read Mining specialises in opencast contract mining; mine spoils rehabilitation; bulk 
earthmoving; thin, thick and multiple seam mining, hard-rock selective mining and materials handling. 
B&E provides drilling and blasting services to the southern African construction, quarrying and 
mining industries. It is the largest company of its kind and the major user of explosives in these 
industries in the region. 

Basil Read Mining has operated medium- and 
long-term contracts for gold, platinum, nickel, 
iron, diamond and coal mining clients across 
Africa, using the latest operating equipment 
and innovative mining techniques to satisfy 
their evolving needs.

Salient features
>  Margins normalising as mining production rises

>  Commodity prices strengthening

Revenue

R801,7 million  18%
(2009: R679,2 million)

Operating profit

R111,3 million  2%
(2009: R113,9 million)

Developments
Basil Read’s developments division is strategically significant to the broader group: while the 
philanthropic nature of many of the contracts undertaken is an integral part of our social licence to 
operate, the division also provides secondary work for group companies. From affordable housing 
developments to mixed-use residential estates and light industrial parks, Basil Read is working with 
national, provincial and local government, parastatals and non-governmental organisations to 
support national imperatives focused on improving the quality of life of South Africa’s people.

Basil Read’s flagship project in this sector to 
date is the Cosmo City development – already 
a vibrant community of over 9 000 families 
enjoying the comfort of affordable, quality 
homes surrounded by schools, churches, clinics, 
shopping centres and parks. By the end of 
the year, Cosmo City will be home to some 
60 000 residents. Similar projects are well along 
the regulatory approval process for Savanna 
City, south of Johannesburg, and for Garden 
City New Town, which will anchor the 
north-east expansion corridor of Cape Town.

Salient features
>  Five projects well advanced

>  Regulatory delays impact performance 

Revenue

R24,2 million  65%
(2009: R68,3 million)

Operating profit

R4,7 million  24%
(2009: R6,2 million)

Engineering
Basil Read’s engineering division complements the activities of the group’s construction, mining and 
developments divisions, adding a wealth of specialised in-house expertise and experience. This will 
be augmented by the considerable pool of consulting expertise in the TWP group, following 
shareholder approval for this acquisition in November 2009.

Drawing on an 800-strong team of skilled professionals, TWP is a leading engineering project house 
with a track record of over US$20 billion in successfully completed projects for its global clients. 
TWP provides a full range of civil and structural engineering, project management and architectural 
services, as well as electrical and mechanical engineering solutions.

This newest division in the group will capitalise 
on increased demand for companies that offer 
turnkey services and specialist skills for 
construction projects.

Salient features
>  TWP well integrated into Basil Read group

>  Significant amount of new work

Revenue

R663,4 million

Operating loss
R0,2 million

Group
Strong organic and acquisitive growth in recent years has made Basil Read a formidable competitor 
in its core sectors. Increasingly, intra-group synergies enable constituent companies to offer their 
clients a comprehensive service, while securing additional work for the group.

Salient features
>  Phase 1 of new head office completed

>  Construction of Phase 2 well under way

Revenue

R5,4 billion  16%
(2009: R4,7 billion)

Operating profit

R408,8 million  5%
(2009: R429,2 million)
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Highlights

Financial

+16% 

revenue (R5,4 billion)

(2009: R4,7 billion)

-5% 

operating profit (R408,8 million)

(2009: R429,2 million)

+5% 

order book (R8,5 billion)

(2009: R8,1 billion)

+8% 

dividend cover (7,0x)

(2009: 7,6x)

Sustainability

>  Group carbon footprint determined

>  Implementing world-class human 

resources practices

>  Considerable improvement in disabling-

injury frequency rate (down from 0,58 in 

2009 to 0,4 in 2010)
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SUPPORT

Group structure

OPERATIONS

Plant

>  Group policies and 
procedures

>  Plant acquisitions 
and disposals

>  Plant maintenance

Commercial

>  Group policies and 
procedures

>  Legal

>  Group insurance

>  Group QSE

>  Group commercial 
and risk

Business 
Development

>  PPPs

>  Special projects

>  International 
contracts

>  Turnkey projects

>  Energy

>  Oil and gas

Human 
Resources

>  Group policies and 
procedures

>  Shared services – 
payroll

>  Bursary student 
management

>  HIV/Aids 
management 
programme

>  Employee relations

>  Employee benefits

>  Group training and 
development

Finance

>  Group policies and 
procedures

>  Group finance and 
treasury

>  Shared services 
– finance

>  Group tax

>  Statutory reporting

>  Investor relations 
and reporting

>  Mergers and 
acquisitions

Mining

>  Opencast 
contract mining

>  Mine spoils 
rehabilitation

>  Bulk 
earthmoving

>  Thin, thick and 
multiple seam 
mining

>  Hard rock 
selective mining

>  Materials 
handling

>  Specialised 
drill and blast 
services

Mining and  
B&E

>  Engineer, 
procure, 
construct 
(EPC)

>  Engineer, 
procure, 
construct, 
manage (EPCM)

>  Public-private 
partnerships 
(PPPs)

>  Build, own, 
operate 
and transfer 
(BOOT)

>  Plant, process 
and mine 
operation

>  Architectural 
design

Engineering

Engineering

>  Property 
development

>  Housing 
schemes 
for low and 
middle-income 
earners

>  PPPs

Developments

Developments

>  Earthworks

>  Bridges

>  Pipelines

>  Roads and 
highways

>  Airports

>  Supply and 
spraying of 
bitumen 
and related 
products

>  Township 
infrastructure

Roads

>  Airports

>  Bridges

>  Harbour and 
marine works

>  Stadiums

>  Industrial plants

Civils

>  Retail 
and office 
complexes

>  Residential 
housing

>  Apartment 
blocks

>  Educational 
facilities

>  Hospitals

>  Correctional 
facilities

Buildings

Construction
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Five-year review
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010
 R’000 

2009
 R’000 

2008
 R’000 

2007
 R’000 

2006
 R’000 

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue  5 389 769  4 662 492  3 474 831  2 010 559  1 162 198 

Contracting  5 196 208  4 421 007  3 205 224  1 809 691  1 016 193 

Other  193 561  241 485  269 607  200 868  146 005 

Contracting and other costs (4 579 854)  (3 949 241)  (2 939 421)  (1 674 055)  (1 016 810)

Gross profit 809 915  713 251  535 410  336 504  145 388 

Admin and operating overheads (401 369) (283 435) (220 229) (165 738) (92 753)

Other income/(expenses)  252  (578)  (1 844)  37  1 850 

Operating profit 408 798 429 238 313 337 170 803 54 485

Amortisation of intangible assets (39 303) (20 488) (4 947) (468) (735)

Net finance income/(costs) 619  3 019  (12 314)  (6 030)  3 479 

Profit before share of associates  370 114  411 769  296 076  164 305  57 229 

Share of profits from jointly controlled entities  1 662  –  –  –  – 

Share of (loss)/profit from associates  (188)  10  85  15  – 

Profit before taxation  371 588  411 779  296 161  164 320  57 229 

Taxation  (119 370)  (140 869)  (90 319)  (46 678)  (2 269)

Net profit for the year  252 218  270 910  205 842  117 642  54 960 

Net profit for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the company  260 753  274 270  204 516  117 788  54 103 

Non-controlling interests  (8 535)  (3 360)  1 326  (146)  857 

Net profit for the year  252 218  270 910  205 842  117 642  54 960 

STATISTICS

Earnings per share (cents)  210,63  317,15  265,44  159,18  93,53 

Diluted earnings per share (cents)  210,63  316,49  262,12  156,92  93,05 

Headline earnings per share (cents)  209,25  333,12  267,04  158,54  89,62 

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)  209,25  332,43  263,71  156,29  89,15 

Dividend per share (cents)  42,00  58,00  50,00  30,00  – 

Interest cover (times)  5,96  7,82  6,57  7,20  10,58

Operating margin (%) 7,58 9,21 9,02 8,50 4,69
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2010
 R’000 

Restated#

2009
 R’000 

2008
 R’000 

2007
 R’000 

2006
 R’000 

STATEMENT Of fINANCIAl POSITION

Assets

Non-current assets  1 854 008  1 742 164  960 792  587 074  215 007 

Property, plant and equipment  873 390 781 855  761 470  489 021  176 438 

Intangible assets  843 183 832 667  143 907  41 486  10 444 

Other non-current assets  137 435 127 642  55 415  56 567  28 125 

Current assets  2 430 905 2 442 783  1 515 927  732 682  415 941 

Inventories  47 700 18 890  25 940  20 533  6 659 

Development land  351 938  280 718  54 734  –  – 

Contract debtors and retentions  898 323 813 170  448 967  243 210  120 069 

Other current assets  121 394 83 966  42 529  31 812  18 695 

Cash and cash equivalents  1 011 550  1 246 039  943 757  437 127  270 518 

Non-current assets held for sale  92 558  –  –  –  – 

 4 377 471 4 184 947  2 476 719  1 319 756  630 948 

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves  1 708 885  1 500 916  789 552  355 863  193 231 

Non-controlling interests  6 404  (1 212)  2 521  2 060  6 232 

Non-current liabilities  439 156 500 465  348 150  195 539  55 775 

Interest-bearing borrowings  337 658  350 852  264 249  149 443  49 982 

Other borrowings  26 188  79 357  38 811  27 432  – 

Other non-current liabilities  75 310 70 256  45 090  18 664  5 793 

Current liabilities  2 219 938 2 184 778  1 336 496  766 294  375 710 

Trade and other payables  970 223  997 903  688 906  445 712  190 730 

Amounts due to customers  583 399 484 581  335 894  87 410  91 114 

Interest-bearing borrowings  339 733  369 464  135 936  94 620  32 996 

Other current liabilities  293 689 308 596  175 760  136 196  56 789 

Bank overdraft  32 894  24 234  –  2 356  4 081 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current 
assets classified as held for sale  3 088  –  –  –  – 

 4 377 471 4 184 947  2 476 719  1 319 756  630 948 

STATISTICS

Number of shares in issue (’000)  123 798  123 798  86 472  75 588  70 720 

Net asset value per share (cents)  1 380,38  1 212,39  913,07  470,79  273,23 

Tangible net asset value per share (cents)  699,29 539,79  746,65  415,91  258,47 

Current ratio (times)  1,10  1,12  1,13  0,96  1,11 

Return on shareholders’ interests (%)  16,25  23,95  35,71  42,90  47,75 

Return on total average tangible assets (%)  11,87  17,08  17,08  17,94  12,11 

Average price per share (cents) 1 270 2 475 2 475  2 544  825 

Debt equity ratio (times)*  0,21  0,29  0,38  0,49  0,25 

* Debt equity ratio is calculated using total non-current borrowings
# Refer to note 2 of the annual financial statements
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1. Sindile lester leslie Peteni (66)
Independent non-executive director, chairman

BSc (Building Science) (University of Cape Town)

Lester has numerous years’ experience in various 
roles at construction and property development 
companies. He is a founding member of  Thebe 
Investment Corporation. He was appointed to the 
board in July 2006 and as chairman in May 2009.

2. Marius lodewucus Heyns (51)
Chief executive officer, managing director

BSc Civ Eng, PrEng, MSAICE

Marius has 32 years’ experience in the construction industry 
across the full spectrum of activities. He has held various 
executive management positions for leading public and 
private companies in the sector and was reappointed at 
Basil Read on 19 October 2004 in his current position.

3. Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia (35)
Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)

Donny has worked in finance for 17 years, seven of which 
were in the auditing profession. He joined Basil Read in 2001 
and is responsible for group financial reporting, taxation 
planning, and group treasury and finance. He was appointed 
chief financial officer in 2004 and as financial director on 
the board of Basil Read in May 2009. In October 2010, 
Donny was appointed as deputy chief executive officer.

4. Nigel Townshend (55)
Executive director

PrEng, BSc (Hons), MSAICE, FSAIMM, 
CEng, AMI, StructE, PCPM

Nigel immigrated to South Africa from the United 
Kingdom in 1978 with a degree in civil engineering from 
Loughborough University. In 1982, he founded TWP as a 
civil and structural firm, now the biggest EPCM (engineering, 
procurement and construction management) organisation 
in Africa. Nigel is chairman of TWP Holdings and, following 
the acquisition of TWP by Basil Read in December 2009, 
was appointed to Basil Read’s board on 1 January 2010.

Board

1. 

2.

3.

4.
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5. Charles Peter Davies (64)
Independent non-executive director

Charles began his career in the insurance industry, 
culminating in his appointment as chief executive officer of 
Norwich Holdings, a post he held from its incorporation 
in 1995 until his retirement in 1999. He currently serves 
on various boards in a non-executive capacity. He was 
appointed to the board of Basil Read in 2006.

6. Given Refilwe Sibiya (43)
Independent non-executive director

BCom, BAcc (Wits), CA(SA)

Given has 20 years’ experience in the finance and 
consulting fields. After completing audit articles with 
KPMG, she joined Anglo American as an internal auditor. 
She entered the consulting arena in 1996 with Ebony 
Financial Services and continued in this field with 
SizweNtsaluba VSP until 2007. Given is currently a director 
of Xabiso Chartered Accountants, a medium-sized 
audit firm and serves on the external audit, consulting 
and forensics and serves on the audit committee of 
the Media Development and Diversity Agency. She was 
appointed to the board of Basil Read on 1 July 2009.

7. Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba (50)
Non-executive director

BCom, BCompt (Hons) (Unisa), CA(SA), HDip 
Tax Law (University of Johannesburg)

Sango is a founding member of Amabubesi Investments 
(Pty) Limited. He also serves on other boards of listed 
companies and public sector entities. He was a founding 
member of SizweNtsaluba VSP and Neotel. He was 
appointed to the board of Basil Read in July 2006.

8. Thabiso Alexander Tlelai (47)
Non-executive director

BCom (Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada)

Thabiso is a founding member and director of 
Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Limited. He has been 
chief executive officer of The Don Group since 
acquiring a significant shareholding in 2000, and has 
been involved in the hotel industry for more than 
15 years. He is also a founder member and chairman 
of the Tourism Business Council of South Africa. He 
was appointed to Basil Read’s board in July 2006.
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6.

7.

8.
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1. Marius lodewucus Heyns (51)
Chief executive officer, managing director

Résumé on page 8.

2. Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia (35)
Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

Résumé on page 8.

3. Nigel Townshend (55)
Executive director

Résumé on page 8.

4. Kgomotso Bontle Sekgobela (30)
Executive director : business development*

Kgomotso has solid experience in marketing and 
communication implementation and over seven years’ 
experience in relationship management, business 
development and client service. He was appointed as 
executive director: business development in 2009.

5. Webster Mfebe (51)
Executive director : stakeholder relations*

Diploma International Trade, IPM Diploma

Webster has a number of years’ experience in stakeholder 
relations, including developing and implementing 
a stakeholder relations strategy for the South African 
Broadcasting Corporation (SABC). Prior to that, Webster 
was the minister responsible for sport, arts, culture, science 
and technology in the Free State provincial government. 
He was also a member of parliament and served on 
portfolio committees for minerals and energy and trade and 
industry. He was appointed by Basil Read in October 2009.

6. Christopher John Erasmus (49)
Chief operating officer: Construction*

NHD Civil Eng, PR Techni Eng, PrCM

Chris has spent the past 28 years with the Basil Read group. 
During this time, he has held various posts at senior level 
including managing director of the Roads & Civils division. 
Chris was appointed as executive director: Engineering, 
during 2009, and was subsequently appointed to his current 
position in the last quarter of 2010.

4.

5.

6.

Management and executive  
directors of subsidiaries
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7. Erica Gretel Grace (49)
Executive director : Human Resources*

BA (Legal) LLB

Erica has more than 20 years’ experience in human 
resources, 15 of those in senior positions (executive and 
director level), ranging from Industrial Relations to Generalist 
HR, having worked in a range of industries from mining, 
manufacturing to pharmaceutical and consulting engineering. 
Erica was appointed to her current position, executive 
director: Human Resources in 2010.

8. Digby John Glover (40)
Chief executive officer: TWP*

BSc Eng (Mech), PrEng, GCC (Mines), PMP, MBA

Digby has been employed by the TWP group since 
January 2001. He has extensive experience gained in many 
facets of planning, designing and running of project 
management projects involving coal, chrome and other 
mining activities. He was appointed to his current position 
during 2010.

9. Eugene du Toit (56)
Executive director : special projects*

BSc Eng (Hons), Diploma in Arbitration

Eugene has 34 years’ experience in the industry, where he 
has held various senior executive positions with some of the 
largest construction companies in South Africa. He joined 
Basil Read in 2006, where he has held various senior posts.

10.  Antonie fourie (39)
Managing director : Mining*

National Diploma: Civil Engineering

Antonie has 16 years’ experience in construction, 14 of 
which have been spent at Basil Read. He has gained 
experience in most construction arenas, including roads, 
civils, plant and mining. He was appointed to his current post 
in 2009.

7. 

8.

9.

10.
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* Appointed at subsidiary level
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Basil Read’s World Cup showcase

The local construction industry was undoubtedly one of the biggest stars of the 2010 
FIFA World Cup. With an incredible showcase of engineering, civil and construction 
excellence, the world had front-row seats to what South Africa’s construction sector has 
to offer. 

Basil Read is proud to have contributed to the overwhelming success of the tournament 
through its involvement in a number of projects around South Africa. 

Gautrain
An efficient public-transport system was critical to the success of the World Cup and part of the transport strategy was the partial 
completion of the Gautrain transport route. Basil Read was contracted to complete both phase 1 and phase 2 of the Gautrain Park 
Station. The station is on the corner of Smith, Eloff, Wolmarans and Joubert streets, next to the existing Johannesburg Station, and is 
the last stop for the Gautrain. 

Mbombela Stadium
Another successful partnership between Bouygues TP and Basil Read’s civils division culminated in the successful completion of 
Mbombela Stadium in Nelspruit (since renamed Mbombela). Construction began in February 2007 and was completed ahead of time 
in March 2010, despite various setbacks.

On 20 June 2010, Mbombela Stadium hosted its first World Cup game between New Zealand and Italy. In total, 164 000 fans entered 
the stadium during the tournament. 

Mbombela Stadium not only provided an attractive and uniquely South African experience to international soccer fans, it will be an 
asset to the town and surrounding areas which, until now, had few sporting facilities available. 

Gauteng Freeway Improvement Project (GFIP)
Infrastructural upgrades to accommodate increasingly congested roads also played a pivotal role in World Cup preparations. Basil 
Read was awarded several of these contracts and completed the required milestones well on time. One of the highlights was the 
phenomenal progress on the D1 and D2 work packages in Pretoria awarded to Basil Read in joint venture. The single-tender package, 
which actually comprised two separate projects (D1 and D2), was the result of SANRAL inviting bids from pre-qualified consortiums. 
Bidders were required to include large, medium, and small contractors to enhance SMME and BEE participation.
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Chairman’s statement

The review period was one of two 

halves, with high levels of activity to 

June dropping sharply in the second 

half. However, Basil Read’s strong 

order book and equally strong 

relationships with clients, suppliers 

and subcontractors again enabled it 

to manage these conditions as 

effectively as possible.

The 12 months to 31 December 2010 mark another positive year for Basil Read, reflected 
in the completion of several milestone projects and continued organic and acquisitive 
growth.

The group’s single biggest asset is undoubtedly its people. In these trying economic times, 
with retrenchments prevalent in many industries, Basil Read has not only managed to retain 
its staff but has increased its total staff complement by 1 910 employees, 522 of which are 
attributed to companies acquired during the year.

Safeguarding our human capital is of paramount importance to the group and for this 
reason, safety is both a core element and a strategic imperative. The group’s robust safety, 
health, environment and quality system is both a guide and measurement tool to achieving 
set standards in each of these areas.

The group has incorporated risk management into the safety, health and environment 
division, aligning its governance processes with the recommendations of King III and 
reinforcing its commitment to an integrated approach focused on zero harm.

In the past two years, a strong drive by project managers, divisional managers and executive 
directors to reduce the number of incidents and accidents, coupled with continuous 
training, has paid off in a disabling-injury frequency rate (DIFR) of 0,58 in 2009 dropping 
over 30% to 0,4 in 2010. While this does not meet our set target of 0,3 for the review 
period, the group believes this is encouraging progress.

Sadly, a number of our employees lost their lives on our sites during the year under review 
and we extend our condolences to their family, friends and colleagues. As the number of 
operational sites increases, so too does the risk of fatalities. For this reason we are 
continuing with various awareness programmes to keep our employees alert and focused 
on the tasks at hand, as 90% of fatalities occur due to a lack of concentration or a disregard 
for safety rules.

Business environment
The review period was one of two halves: in the first half, activity levels were high amid final 
preparations for the 2010 FIFA World Cup, supporting confidence that an economic 
recovery was unfolding. In the second half, however, this confidence waned in line with 
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sharply decreased activity levels in many 
sectors as it became evident that the 
economic recovery would be protracted, 
exacerbated by the strength of the local 
currency against those of major trading 
partners. 

A strong order book and equally strong 
relationships with clients, suppliers and 
subcontractors again enabled the group to 
manage these conditions as effectively as 
possible. 

Financial performance
The construction sector has experienced 
tough trading conditions in the year under 
review due to a delay in the roll out of new 
projects coupled with increased 
competition in the sector. The boom period 
of recent years enabled many new 
construction companies to enter the 
market leading to an increase in the number 
of companies tendering for any one 
contract. This increased competition has led 
to tighter margins as companies battle 
against one another to obtain work.

Despite these difficult conditions and the 
uncertainty that is prevalent in the sector, 
Basil Read has performed well and has 
secured sufficient new contracts to maintain 
the order book at healthy levels. More 
details on the financial results are provided 

in the chief executive officer’s report on 
page 18 and the financial director’s report 
on page 22.

Top 100 companies
In the Sunday Times Business Times Top 100 
Companies survey, Basil Read took its place 
among the Royals – companies that qualified 
in the top 20 over the most-recent three 
consecutive years. This prestigious annual 
survey acknowledges listed companies that 
have achieved a significant increase in 
shareholder value over the past five years.

After placing first for two consecutive years 
(2009 and 2008) off an admittedly low base, 
Basil Read was ranked ninth in the 2010 
survey, with a five-year compound growth 
rate of 36% and less than 3% separating 
companies ranked fifth to tenth.

Since 2004, we have convincingly proved to 
our empowerment partners that the 
modern Basil Read is a worthwhile 
investment.

Industry inquiry
In 2007, South Africa’s Competition 
Commission initiated a probe into alleged 
anticompetitive practices in the 
construction industry. Early in 2011, this 
inquiry reached the public domain via print 
and electronic media headlines. Basil Read 

was among the companies named as 
participating in anticompetitive practices.

Basil Read has appointed two firms of 
external attorneys, Ramsay Webber 
Incorporated and Bell Dewar, to conduct an 
in-depth investigation into the alleged 
accusations. We are cooperating fully with 
the commission and await the outcome of 
our internal investigation, at which time all 
relevant findings will be provided to the 
commission.

The Competition Commission has set a 
deadline of 15 April 2011 for all 
construction companies to report any 
anticompetitive behaviour discovered as a 
result of these internal investigations.

Construction charter
Basil Read’s performance against the 
construction sector charter, instituted in 
2009, shows continued progress. The group 
is a true reflection of the demographics of 
South Africa, already exceeding longer-term 
empowerment targets in key categories 
such as economic interest and skills 
development. In all other areas, we are 
making solid strides towards compliance.

We still face obstacles in attaining our goals 
of real, sustainable economic empowerment 
in the areas of voting rights, management 

Lester Peteni Chairman 

Despite difficult industry conditions 
and the uncertainty prevalent in the 
sector, Basil Read has performed well, 
securing sufficient new contracts to 
maintain a healthy order book.
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Chairman’s statement continued

Basil Read Campus
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control and employment equity, in common 
with most of the private sector in South 
Africa. Several initiatives are under way to 
address this.

Broad-based black economic 
empowerment 
In South Africa, Basil Read is classified 
as a level 4 broad-based black economic 
empowerment (BBBEE) contributor, 
meaning companies are entitled to 
recognise 100% of the amount spent with 
our group in calculating their procurement 
spend.

The group still faces challenges in certain 
areas to reach its goal of real, sustainable 
economic empowerment, specifically 
management control, employment equity 
and skills development. Several initiatives are 
under way to address these areas, including 
the monitoring of middle to senior black 
management and the provision of support 
and mentoring to all previously 
disadvantaged individuals in the group’s 
employ. These efforts have culminated in the 
appointment of 22 previously disadvantaged 
individuals to senior management positions 
during the year.  We are making every effort 
to attain level 3 status in 2011. 

Corporate governance
Basil Read’s directors and senior 
management endorse the code of corporate 
practices and conduct set out in the King II 
report on corporate governance. Given the 
size of the group, the board believes Basil 

Read complies with the code as well as with 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 
in all material respects. The group regularly 
reviews its corporate governance policies 
and practices and strives for continuous 
improvement. Detailed plans to comply with 
King III and the new Companies Act were 
prepared in the review period.

Following the acquisition of the TWP group 
in 2009, Mr Nigel Townshend, chairman of 
TWP, was appointed as an executive 
director. His appointment was effective from 
1 January 2010 and the board welcomes his 
experience and expertise.

In May 2010, Mr Lungisa Dyosi resigned as 
a non-executive director of the group. 
We thank him for his valuable input while 
in office. 

It was with a great sense of sadness that 
we learned of the untimely passing away of 
Ms Ntombekaya September in January 2011. 
Her wise counsel, astute leadership and 
positive contribution to the affairs of the 
group will be sorely missed. The group again 
extends its deepest sympathy and sincere 
condolences to her friends and family.

Prospects
The start of the second decade of the 
21st century marks a new chapter in 
the long history of Basil Read as our 
international expansion gains momentum. 
The group’s phenomenal growth of recent 
years is certainly a source of pride, 
particularly at a time when the local 

construction industry has faced its greatest 
challenges in decades. 

We are well placed to participate as the 
proposed government infrastructural 
spending that underpins sustainability and 
progress in our country becomes reality.

Appreciation
The past two years have tested the mettle 
of the Basil Read group, which has emerged 
stronger and strategically focused on 
meeting its objectives. Basil Read is home to 
a formidable group of people, ably led by 
Marius Heyns and his management teams.

In today’s environment, however, strategic 
focus is simply one element of a sustainable 
business. We also need to ensure that our 
operations are managed honestly and that 
our shareholders are rewarded for their 
loyal support.

The hard work and commitment of this 
7 000-strong team, and the constant 
support and leadership of my fellow board 
members, augur well for Basil Read’s 
continued growth and development.

lester Peteni
Chairman

The start of the second decade of the 21st 
century marks a new chapter in the long history 
of Basil Read as our international expansion gains 
momentum.

Basil Read Campus
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Chief executive officer’s review

In the current economic climate, the construction sector presents new challenges.  As a 
group, we have responded by being even more innovative and diversifying our services, while 
retaining the focus on containing our cost base and improving efficiencies. Undoubtedly, one 
of the most important elements of our continued success is retaining our skilled workforce 
while attracting even more talented individuals. 

Performance review
After meeting our 2010 turnover target of R5 billion, our new target is to build an 
international construction, engineering and related services group with a focus on emerging 
markets, operating in the mining, energy/power and infrastructure sectors. 

Revenue increased by 15,6% to R5,4 billion (2009: R4,7 billion). Margins came under 
pressure in the year under review with operating margin decreasing slightly from 15,3% at 
a level of R713,3 million in 2009 to 15,1% at a level of R820,4 million for the 2010 financial 
year. Overhead costs increased sharply by 23%, exacerbated by the inclusion of TWP’s 
results, and much of the year ahead will be focused on efforts to contain these costs. This 
translated into a decrease in the net operating margin from 8,8% in the 2009 reporting 
period to 7,0% for the current financial year. Net margin was 4,7% (2009: 5,8%) for the 
period.

Earnings for the year were R260,8 million, 4,9% down on earnings in the prior year, which 
were reported as R274,3 million. The poor performance of TWP contributed to the 
decrease as a result of an under recovery of staff utilisation and recoveries. Our rationale 
for this acquisition remains unchanged and with sentiment in the mining industry becoming 
more positive, we expect TWP’s performance to improve in future years.

Our order book at the reporting date was R7,8 billion (2009: R8,1 billion) due to our 
relative success in replacing work completed with new contracts. Since the end of the 
financial year, we have since secured additional contracts to the value of R1,3 billion and as 
at the date of this report, our order book stands at a notable R8,5 billion.

>  Our international expansion 

strategy is unfolding, with 

construction projects now in 

Zimbabwe and Sierra Leone as 

well as Botswana, Namibia and 

Zambia.

>  Successful continuation of major 

sections of Gauteng Freeway 

Improvement Project.

>  In 2010, Basil Read completed 

projects worth R5,4 billion; at the 

reporting date, our order book 

was R8,5 billion.
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Strategy 
The abundance of work in the construction 
sector in recent years has enabled 
Basil Read to grow into a well-managed 
sustainable entity, one that is now ready to 
take on new challenges in a very different 
operating environment. 

With all the activity ahead of the World Cup 
now history, the group has entered a new 
and rigorous growth phase based on a 
three-tiered business strategy initiated prior 
to 2010: international expansion, public-
private partnerships and larger, more 
technically challenging projects.

Despite economic difficulties globally, 
exacerbated by the slowdown in the South 
African construction sector, we have made 
progress on all three strategic pillars and 
are now reaping the rewards of this forward 
planning.

The growth of our international 
portfolio is well under way, reflected in the 
number of contracts secured in Africa, 
including projects in Namibia, Botswana, 
Sierra Leone, Zambia and Zimbabwe. Earlier 
this year, we opened an office in Kampala, 
Uganda, to capitalise on the plethora of 
construction work in east Africa – 
specifically Uganda, Kenya and Tanzania. 

We are actively pursuing other niche 
markets in Africa, and believe that projects 
outside our borders will offer better 
margins, given the lower capital 
requirements and infrastructural 
investments.

To become the benchmark public-private 
partnership (PPP) service provider in 
South Africa, we are forming robust 
consortiums whose members share our 
vision and complement our abilities to 
deliver the highest quality services for all 
clients – from conception to delivery to 
operation. The partnership between Basil 
Read and French group, Bouygues, means 
our clients receive the best international 
practice tailored to local requirements 
through our exceptional understanding 
of the local environment and how key 
PPP drivers are affected by these needs. 
Basil Read has been involved in submitting 
bids for PPPs for over 18 months and 
decisions are imminent on projects totalling 
R17 billion for national, provincial and local 
governments. The South African 
government’s recent announcement on 
addressing infrastructural backlogs is 
expected to galvanise these projects.

Our successful completion of the Mbombela 
Stadium during 2010 proved our ability to 

complete larger, more technically 
challenging projects and it was with 
a sense of pride that we watched the 
various 2010 FIFA World Cup games hosted 
at the stadium. The D1 and D2 road 
rehabilitation packages that form part of the 
Gauteng Freeway Improvement Project are 
nearing completion and are further 
testament to our construction capabilities.

Our growth strategy will also involve 
increasing and diversifying our product 
and services base, with a streamlined and 
more focused approach that extends to the 
TWP group and some of its new initiatives. 

A major challenge in the construction 
sector at present is availability of skills, 
especially of employees willing to work in 
Africa.  As such, we need to nurture and 
develop the talent we have in the 
organisation by employing the right skills 
base, and focusing on training – making 
personal growth in the group a reality.

Basil Read has secured more than R1 billion 
worth of work since June this year, much of 
this in the Free State province. We are also 
the preferred bidder for a new toll road in 
Zambia for a contract with a value in excess 
of US$200 million, which is not included in 
our current order book.

Marius Heyns Chief executive officer 

For nearly six decades, Basil Read has 
thrived in a turbulent construction 
sector, weathering economic booms, 
recessions and recoveries.

For most of this time, Basil Read 
has been a blue-chip investment, 
with results that have vindicated 
shareholders’ support and 
demonstrated the group’s depth 
of leadership and strategy for 
continued success.
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Chief executive officer’s review continued

Acquisitions to enhance expansion plans
In May 2010, Basil Read concluded two acquisitions that will significantly impact on future 
roads and civil operations, and expand the group’s African footprint. 

>  Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) limited is a respected roads and civil 
engineering contractor headquartered in Francistown, Botswana. Similar to Basil Read’s 
previous acquisitions, the current management team remains in place. With its solid 
reputation for quality, delivery and timely completion, we believe Sladden International 
will be a good strategic fit for the group in terms of civil operations and should further 
aid our expansion into the African continent. 

>  The Valente Brothers group has a solid reputation in civil engineering construction, 
specialising in bulk infrastructure, specifically pipeline infrastructure and pipe jacking. Over 
the past 40 years, this company has been responsible for some landmark water pipeline 
projects. Recently it expanded operations by establishing an empowerment company, 
Phambili Pipelines and Tubo Jacked Pipelines, a specialist pipe-jacking operation. This 
acquisition positions Basil Read well to participate in current and future water projects.

In February 2011, we successfully completed the disposal of one of our property holding 
companies, Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Limited, which owned Basil Read’s head office 
building in Boksburg for a sale consideration of R91,2 million. We have relocated our 
headquarter base to another site in Boksburg, the Basil Read Campus phase one, where we 
have constructed a world-class building. Phase two is currently under construction and is 
expected to be completed in the first half of 2012, at which time we will unite the group, 
with the exception of the TWP group, at a single site.

Sustainability
We embrace our responsibility to enhance the quality of life of those we employ and those 
touched by all our operations – this focus on sustainability is evident throughout our 
operations, in our conduct and in our strategies for growth. 

We are committed to moving beyond legislative compliance in furthering South Africa’s 
transformation, and embedding global standards in our corporate governance. This has 
become a framework for our corporate social investment initiatives to make a sustainable 
difference by empowering communities.

For nearly six decades, Basil Read has operated as a family business. Five years ago, we 
aligned those family values with the triple bottom-line approach of reporting to 
stakeholders by integrating our economic, social and environmental performance in our 
annual report.

This annual report is guided by the recommendations of King III, the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) and the United Nations Global Compact. In many areas of sustainability and 
reporting to stakeholders, we have made significant progress.

For 2010, we have formally declared our annual report as level C, according to GRI 
guidelines. This means we report in more depth on 10 indicators, spread across economic, 
social and environmental performance. As noted last year, because of the group’s strong 
growth in recent years, we are still integrating acquisitions, standardising systems and 
platforms and, most importantly, getting to know the new stakeholders who are now part of 
the Basil Read family. This includes hundreds of new employees, communities in new 
geographic regions with different needs and priorities, and new local and provincial 
governments with different integrated development plans. 

>  Basil Read played a pivotal role in 

the showcase of engineering, civil 

and construction projects ahead 

of South Africa’s 2010 FIFA World 

Cup, including Gauteng’s freeway 

improvement project and 

Mbombela Stadium. 

>  Basil Read Developments was the 

only South African company 

invited by Brazil’s Ministry of 

Housing to present its approach 

to integrated mixed-use 

residential developments in 

São Pãulo.
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We are committed to embedding 
sustainability into every facet of our 
business, in line with our international peers, 
as we make Basil Read a truly global 
construction group.

Our people
Basil Read operates in a sector where 
skilled individuals are often in short supply. 
The future of our industry and South 
Africa’s sustained growth and development 
as global players relies on the exchange of 
skills and transfer of accumulated 
knowledge that comes with experience. 
In addition, a well-implemented and properly 
facilitated training programme with a clear 
career path has been proven to create job 
satisfaction among young professionals and 
aid employee retention, while helping these 
individuals become more efficient and 
effective – and simultaneously addressing 
the future skills need of the construction 
sector.

We have accordingly introduced a full-
spectrum training programme by launching 
the Basil Read Training Academy.  These 
initiatives are detailed on page 90.

Prospects 
Fundamentals in the construction sector 
have deteriorated significantly since 2009 
and are expected to remain challenging in 
2011, despite gradual economic recovery. 
As a sector, operating performances are 
likely to be affected by high cost increases 
and greater competition. A sustained 
recovery in the sector was always expected 
to lag a recovery in the larger South African 
economy, given the relatively long lead times 
associated with planning and executing large 
projects. 

Against this background, Basil Read remains 
committed to continued expansion, both 
organic and acquisitive, local and 
international despite difficult trading 
conditions. While no major acquisitions are 
planned for the year ahead, the group will 
continue to monitor opportunities to 

expand service offering and geographic 
footprint.

Local operations are expected to come 
under pressure due to the delay in roll out 
of government projects. This uncertainty in 
timing is expected to continue for most of 
the year ahead, despite the South African 
government’s commitment to infrastructure 
spend. Significant projects are still planned in 
the power generation and water supply 
sectors.

Construction opportunities exist within the 
rest of Africa particularly due to the influx 
of funding from international sources. 
We will continue to pursue contracts on 
the African continent within our defined set 
of risk parameters, which include the 
certainty of committed funding for the 
contract in question and upfront payments.

The group has seen a significant change in 
sentiment in the mining sector in the 
second half of 2010, which bodes well for 
the mining and engineering divisions. 
The TWP group has secured a significant 
amount of work on new engineering 
projects, the majority of which is beyond 
South Africa’s borders. Staff utilisation and 
recovery ratios are expected to improve in 
the year ahead.

The group remains cautious about the year 
ahead and will remain prudent in managing 
the uncertainty and volatility, backed by 
a healthy balance sheet and effective 
management structure.

Appreciation
The review period was another challenging 
year, but we have proved throughout our 
58 years that this group thrives on 
challenges. The way our people derive 
opportunity out of challenge, unleash 
innovation from adversity, is both humbling 
and inspiring – and the cornerstone of our 
success.

The support and guidance of our senior 
executive team – coupled with their passion 
and vision – augur well for our continued 

growth. Behind this team is a board of 
directors, so capably led by our independent 
non-executive chairman, Lester Peteni, 
whose counsel and direction are invaluable 
at this key stage of our development. 

Strong relationships with a range of 
suppliers in the public and private sectors 
also play a vital role in attaining common 
goals.

My thanks go to every person at every level 
who plays a role in our journey.

Marius Heyns
Chief executive officer
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Financial director’s report

As our expansion into Africa gains 

momentum, it is vital to fully 

understand the markets we operate 

in, particularly each country’s unique 

legal, financial and statutory 

environments.

As our expansion into Africa gains momentum, it has become of primary importance to fully 

understand the markets that we operate in, particularly with regard to the unique legal, 

financial and statutory environments. Much of the year under review has been spent 

ensuring that we have the necessary policies and procedures in place to enable us to 

operate seamlessly beyond our borders.  As we continue to expand into new markets and 

territories, financial discipline remains a key objective.

Restatement of prior year balances
On 21 December 2009, the group acquired the TWP group for a provisional purchase 

consideration of R661,4 million. The TWP group’s core business is the provision of 

engineering, procurement and construction management for clients.

During the current financial year, the purchase consideration and purchase price allocation 

relating to the acquisition of the TWP group was finalised, resulting in a revised allocation to 

the fair values of assets, liabilities and goodwill.

On 1 September 2009, the group finalised the acquisition of the Gerolemou/Mvela group 

for a provisional purchase consideration of R351,5 million. The Gerolemou/Mvela group’s 

core business is the construction of buildings for clients in South Africa.

The group finalised the purchase consideration for the acquisition of the Gerolemou/Mvela 

group in the year under review, which led to a revised amount of goodwill.

In terms of the guidance provided in IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the group has restated its 

statement of financial position and statement of cash flows, and accompanying notes, for the 

2009 financial year, to reflect the abovementioned changes as if they had occurred at the 

acquisition date. 
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These changes did not impact the income 

statement, statement of comprehensive 

income and statement of changes in equity.

Further details of these adjustments are 

provided in note 44.

Financial results
The group reported satisfactory results 

with revenue up by 15,6% and an increase in 

gross operating profit of 15,0%. Overhead 

costs increased significantly in the year 

under review, largely driven by the under 

recovery of staff costs in the TWP group. 

Many of their projects are still in the 

feasibility and planning stages, where staff 

utilisation and recovery ratios are 

traditionally lower.  As these projects move 

to the production stages, we expect these 

recoveries to improve. Having said that 

however, we expect net operating margins 

and net profit margins in the construction 

business to remain under pressure for the 

foreseeable future. Cost containment will be 

of paramount importance in the coming 

months to ensure the continued success of 

the group. This entails finding the 

appropriate balance between retaining 

scarce skills and capacity and ensuring that 

the group remains competitive.

The results of the group were adversely 

affected by the amortisation of intangible 

assets which was at a level of R39,3 million, 

almost double the amortisation charge of 

R20,5 million reported in 2009. Intangible 

assets are raised at the time of acquisition 

and comprise standard accounting entries 

relating to the future benefits that are 

expected to accrue to the group from 

contracts that exist at the time of 

acquisition.  A valuation is performed on 

all contracts that the acquired company 

has secured at the time of acquisition. 

This valuation considers inter alia the 

expected profits that the contract is 

expected to generate after taking working 

capital, plant and staff costs into account. 

The resultant value gives rise to an 

intangible asset that is amortised over the 

life of these contracts.

The expected amortisation of intangibles 

charge for the 2011 financial year is 

R10,8 million.

Earnings decreased by 4,9% to 

R260,8 million (2009: R274,3 million). 

Earnings per share decreased by 33,6% from 

317,15 cents in 2009 to 210,63 cents in 

2010, largely impacted by the issue of 

37,3 million shares to fund the acquisition 

of the TWP group in December 2009. 

A similar decrease was noted in headline 

earnings which decreased by 37,2% to 

209,25 cents per share (2009: 333,12 cents). 

The effect of the acquisition on earnings and 

headline earnings per share is detailed in the 

table overleaf.

Cash on hand at the reporting date was 

R1,0 billion, down from the 2009 level of 

R1,2 billion. Cash in the year under review 

was primarily used to acquire property, 

plant and equipment and to reduce 

borrowings. The group invested in 

R422,8 million worth of property, plant and 

equipment, of which R223,4 million was 

acquired with the group’s own cash 

resources. The group’s gearing ratio, defined 

as net debt divided by total capital, was 

0% (2009: 0%) at the reporting date. Net 

debt is calculated as total borrowings less 

Donny Gouveia Financial director

The year under review was one of 
consolidation as we bedded down 
and integrated our two sizeable 
acquisitions of the prior year, the 
TWP and Gerolemou/Mvela groups. 
In difficult trading conditions and with 
a degree of uncertainty in the local 
construction sector, we set about 
ensuring that our core operations 
continue to perform well. 
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cash and cash equivalents. The debt equity 

ratio at 31 December 2010 was 21,3% 

(2009: 28,7%).

Cash balances were also negatively impacted 

by the decrease in operating cash flows as a 

result of an increase in working capital 

requirements as debtors’ terms extended 

due to the prevailing economic environment 

and additional funds were invested in 

property developments, classified as 

development land held for sale. A significant 

portion of the group’s cash is tied up in its 

property portfolio, which comprises land 

held for both residential and industrial 

developments. While the residential sector 

has been slow to recover from the 

economic crisis, momentum is gathering in 

the industrial space and the group expects 

to realise a portion of this cash in the 

foreseeable future.

Cash management is becoming increasingly 

crucial particularly as government contracts 

offered for tender of late contain a financing 

element due to delayed payment terms. In 

certain cases, payments under the contract 

terms extend well beyond the expected 

construction period. While these notional 

financing costs can be priced into the 

tender price, it is imperative that the group 

has the cash resources to hold these 

debtors in the statement of financial 

position for extended periods.  As this type 

of government contract is expected to 

become commonplace and to ensure 

ongoing liquidity, the group is negotiating 

with numerous financial institutions to not 

only provide the necessary funding, but also 

to assume the risk of non-payment from the 

government institutions concerned. Where 

appropriate the group may fund these 

contracts internally.

The group continues to monitor debt levels 

and repaid R320,1 million of debt in the 

year under review. This was partly offset 

by an increase in asset-backed financing 

relating to capital expenditure incurred 

during the year, resulting in a decrease 

in total borrowings of R802,7 million 

(2009: R890,2 million). The group aims 

to continue to reduce debt levels in the 

2011 financial year.

Corporate activity
On 1 May 2010, the group acquired 100% of 

the share capital of Sladden International 

(Botswana) (Pty) Limited through an initial 

cash payment of R30,5 million and the 

recognition of a deferred payment liability of 

R38,0 million. Part of the deferred payment 

liability is dependent on the company 

achieving BWP67,6 million net profit after 

tax in the three years post-acquisition. 

The first of these profit warranties was not 

met, and the group released R11,8 million 

of the deferred payment liability in the year 

under review. Based on the purchase price 

allocation, the acquisition gave rise to the 

recognition of goodwill of R32,4 million. 

Sladden International has been operating in 

Botswana and neighbouring countries for 

more than 40 years and has an established 

reputation with a valued client base. The 

acquisition provides Basil Read with the 

ideal opportunity to expand its African 

footprint for a relatively low initial 

investment. 

On 1 June 2010, the group increased 

its stake in Newport Construction 

(Pty) Limited to 100% (2009: 70%) through 

the buyout of the remaining minorities. 

The purchase consideration for 30% of 

the company was R4,0 million and the 

transaction resulted in the recognition of 

a loss on transaction with minorities 

of R0,9 million.

Financial director’s report continued

R’000 

Weighted
average

number of
shares

’000

Earnings
per share

(cents)

Earnings for the year, excluding the TWP group 271 680 86 479 314,15

Loss for the year for the TWP group, including amortisation of intangible asset (10 927) 37 319  

Earnings for the year for the group 260 753 123 798 210,63

Headline earnings for the year, excluding the TWP group 269 370 86 479 311,48

Headline loss for the year for the TWP group, including amortisation of intangible asset (10 320) 37 319

Headline earnings for the year for the group 259 050 123 798 209,25
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The acquisition of the Valente Brothers 

group, comprising Valente Brothers 

(Pty) Limited, Phambili Pipelines (Pty) 

Limited and Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) 

Limited, was successfully completed during 

the 2010 financial year and their results 

have been consolidated from 1 July 2010. 

The total purchase consideration of 

R25,6 million was settled through a cash 

payment of R19,2 million and the 

recognition of a deferred payment liability 

of R6,5 million. The acquisition gave rise 

to the recognition of a contract based 

intangible asset of R1,9 million and goodwill 

of R15,5 million.  An amount of R1,7 million 

relating to the amortisation of the intangible 

asset was recognised in the income 

statement in the year under review.

On 3 September 2010, the group increased 

its stake in Matomo Engineering Namibia 

(Pty) Limited to 100% (2009: 61%). The 

purchase consideration for 39% of the 

company was R37 898 and the transaction 

resulted in the recognition of a gain on 

transaction with minorities of R0,2 million.

While no significant corporate activity is 

planned for the 2011 financial year, the 

group will continue to explore investment 

opportunities, both locally and abroad.

Share-based payment
During the year under review the group 

expensed R1,2 million relating to costs 

pertaining to the employee share scheme 

under IFRS 2. The remaining charge relating 

to all issued options amounts to 

R1,7 million which will be amortised over 

the next two years according to the option’s 

respective vesting periods. 

Dividends
The group declared a dividend of 30 cents 

per share (2009: 42 cents per share) for the 

year under review. This translated into 

dividend cover of 7,0 times, a slight 

improvement over the dividend cover 

achieved in 2009 of 7,6 times. Dividend 

cover is reviewed annually and an 

appropriate level decided on once all factors 

have been taken into account.

In closing
The year under review was another 

successful year for the group in a difficult 

and uncertain trading environment. Our 

sites and projects could not deliver 

consistently good results without the 

support of a solid back-up team and I thank 

each member of our support divisions for 

their valued contribution.

Following my appointment as deputy chief 

executive officer, I have assumed 

responsibility for the day-to-day operations 

of the group in addition to my 

responsibilities as financial director. I will be 

relinquishing my role as financial director 

following the appointment of a suitable 

replacement and further announcements 

will be made in due course.

As part of our continuous improvement 

project with regards to communication and 

disclosure to all stakeholders, we would 

welcome your views and suggestions.  

Feedback can be sent to:

communications@basilread.co.za.

Donny Gouveia

Financial director
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Operational review

Picture supplied courtesy of Eskom.
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Logan Moodley, group cost control director

Chris Erasmus, chief operating officer: Construction

Pier 2, Durban Harbour

The review period was another challenging, but exceptionally rewarding, period for Basil 
Read’s largest division. The focus has been on organic and acquisitive growth to diversify 
the product base and range of services, while pursuing selected opportunities in other 
geographical regions. 

With secured contracts in Botswana, Namibia, Sierra Leone, and an office established in 
Uganda, the group is actively tendering for projects in East Africa, where there are a 
number of public and private work opportunities. In terms of construction work 
prospects, there has been a natural progression from South Africa to other parts of 
Africa, where the need for quality construction groups is high.  At present Basil Read is 
exploring niche markets with long-term prospects in infrastructural spend in Africa.

In the current economic climate, the construction sector presents new challenges and 
we need to be even more innovative and creative, while lowering our cost base and 
improving efficiencies. One of the most important elements for our continued success 
is retaining our skilled workforce, and attracting even more talented individuals to the 
organisation.

The construction division is Basil Read’s largest, contributing 72% of group revenue and 
72% of group operating profit. For the review period, revenue was R3,9 billion (2009: 
R3,9 billion) with operating profit at a level of R293,0 million (2009: R309,1 million). 
Operating margin decreased slightly to 7,51% (2009: 7,9%). The divisional order book 
at year end was R4,9 billion.

Construction

Operational review  
continued
Operational review  
continued

Basil Read undertakes major works for private 
and public sector clients covering a broad 
spectrum of disciplines in South Africa and 
further afield. The group adds value through 
unique turnkey solutions and innovative 
construction methods, effective cost control 
and financing options.

What we do:
>  The group’s construction division houses civil engineering, roads and building 

operations.

Key contracts over the last year:
>  Southern Africa: New contracts in Botswana, Namibia and Sierra Leone are 

cementing the group’s geographic expansion strategy.
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What we do:
>  Basil Read Roads is among the leaders in high-profile road contracts in South 

Africa, reflecting its skilled teams.
>  Roadcrete Africa is known as a low-cost, high-quality producer in the road 

infrastructure arena.
>  Newport Construction, one of the Eastern Cape’s fastest-growing and 

empowered civil engineering contractors, has developed a solid reputation for 
the quality of its construction work.

>  Now in its 30th year, Spray Pave supplies and sprays top-quality bituminous 
products for Basil Read and other leading construction companies in Africa. 

>  Sladden International, operating since 1963 is a well respected civil engineering 
contractor based in Francistown, Botswana.

Key contracts over the last year:
>  Sierra Leone: US$46 million contract to construct 35km of formation of 

a 120km railway line to a new iron ore mine at Tonkolili.

>  South Africa: R166 million contract to repair and rehabilitate Bultfontein to 
Wesselsbron road (18,2km turnkey project).

>  South Africa: R300 million contract for SANRAL to rehabilitate a section of 
national route 9.

>  South Africa: Upgrade of the N17 toll route in Gauteng, ongoing N17 upgrade 
from Bethal to Ermelo, N12 upgrade from Wolmaransstad to Christiana.

>  Botswana: Sladden was awarded a major contract spanning pipework and related 
infrastructure for a leading resource company.

Paul Walker, managing director : Newport Construction

www.basilread.co.za

Greg Badenhorst, managing director : Roadcrete Africa

www.roadcrete.co.za

www.basilread.co.za

Deon de Jager, managing director : Basil Read Roads

GFIP N12 Tom Jones, Freeway improvement

Roads

Operational review  
continued
Operational review  
continued

The Basil Read group has built a solid 
reputation for quality work, completed on time 
and within budget, drawing on experienced 
teams in key disciplines.

Basil Read Roads
This division continues to perform well as one of the main contributors to group 
turnover and profit margins. 

By the end of 2010, the division had successfully completed a number of contracts. These 
include the Cosmo City project, as well as four major contracts in the Eastern Cape in 
collaboration with our joint venture partner, Newport Construction. A particular 
highlight was the Coega River bridges project, which was completed on time and to 
excellent quality standards.

The technically challenging D1 and D2 projects, and N12 upgrade contract, all part of 
the Gauteng Freeway Improvement Project, are in their final stages. 

N1 and N2 Winelands project, Western Cape
Basil Read Roads, in consortium with two other construction groups, has been the 
scheme developer on this project and has submitted a bid for which we expect to know 
the outcome in the first half of 2011. As scheme developer, our consortium has the 
option of a best and final offer. 
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Operational review continued

Coega River bridges
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Gobabis, Namibia

Late in the prior year, the division secured 

its first international contract. By year end 

2010, work on upgrading the surface 

standards of the 160km Gobabis-Otijenene 

road was progressing well. The R400 million 

project is scheduled for completion in the 

first quarter of 2012. Further work on the 

contract in Namibia is expected to become 

available next year. 

Road construction, Sierra Leone

Basil Read has been awarded a 

US$46 million contract in Sierra Leone to 

construct 35kms of formation of a 120km 

railway line to a new iron ore mine at 

Tonkolili. The mine is being developed by 

African Minerals Limited and the completed 

railway line will transport ore to the coast 

for export.

When completed, the new mine will be one 

of the biggest suppliers of iron ore in the 

world, with reserves of over 10 billion 

tonnes. The project is some 150km 

north-east of the capital city Freetown, near 

the town of Makeni. The scheduled 

completion date is July 2011 and further 

work is anticipated in the region.

Newport Construction
Over the past seven years, Newport 

Construction (100% held by Basil Read) has 

developed a solid reputation in the Eastern 

Cape for the quality of its work. This is 

reflected in a growing portfolio of 

completed contracts – spanning mass 

earthworks, roadworks, bridge construction, 

infrastructure development and industrial 

projects – that have surpassed client 

expectations. 

Newport is one of the fastest-growing civil 

engineering contractors in the Eastern Cape. 

The company’s status as a level 3 BBBEE 

contributor underscores the focus on 

transferring skills to SMME subcontractors 

and previously disadvantaged individuals as 

well as growth and development 

opportunities for all Newport Construction 

employees.

Coega River bridges

One of Newport Construction’s most 

technically challenging contracts to date, the 

N2 Coega River bridges and approach 

roadworks, was handed over on 

1 September 2010. These impressive 

structures are in the heart of the Coega 

Industrial Development Zone, some 20km 

north-east of Port Elizabeth in the Eastern 

Cape. Notably, Newport Construction 

received the highest accolades from client 

SANRAL for the quality and consistency of 

its workmanship and service throughout 

the 28 months of this R180 million contract.

Colesburg N9

In joint venture with Basil Read Roads, 

Newport Construction was recently 

awarded a R300 million contract for client 

SANRAL to rehabilitate section 7 of 

national route 9 from Wolwefontein to 

Colesburg. This 30-month contract includes 

a new N1/N9 interchange at Colesburg.

Roadcrete Africa

Bultfontein to Wesselsbron

Roadcrete Africa was awarded the contract 

to repair and rehabilitate the Bultfontein to 

Wesselsbron road (an 18,2km turnkey 

project).The R166 million contract will take 

12 months to complete. 

Protea Glen

Roadcrete Africa was recently awarded the 

contract for construction of roads and 

stormwater reticulation in Protea Glen 

extensions 26, 27 and 29. This eight-month 

contract commenced in January 2011 and 

has a contract value of R41,4 million.

Coega River bridges

The focus has been on organic and acquisitive 
growth to diversify the product base and range of 
services, while pursuing selected opportunities in 
other geographical regions.

Postmasburg railway line

The group’s first railway contract with 

Transnet included the civils and earthworks 

with associated roads and drainage structures 

for the 33km stretch of railway near 

Postmasburg, Northern Cape. This 14-month 

contract has not been without difficulties, and 

is expected to be completed in August 2011.

N17 toll plazas

The group’s sites on the N17 were expanded 

during the year by the contract to construct 

the civil and structural components of the 

Leandra, Trichardt and Ermelo toll plazas 

complex – a 24-month contract in 

Mpumalanga province valued at around 

R175 million. Basil Read Roads is already 

building the section between Leandra and 

Leven station as part of the eastern expansion 

of the N17 route. 

The latest contract involves constructing 

three mainline toll plazas:

>  Leandra – six mainline toll lanes and four 

ramp plaza toll lanes

>  Bethal – eight mainline toll lanes at 

Trichardt

>  Ermelo – six mainline toll lanes

Free State provincial road network

The division has been awarded the contract 

to rehabilitate and repair a 73km stretch of 

road between Kroonstad and Vredefort. The 

contract is valued at around R306 million and 

will take 24 months to complete.

Mpumalanga provincial road network

In October 2010, the division was awarded 

the contract for the rehabilitation and repair 

of roads between Ermelo and Morgenzon in 

Mpumalanga province. The contract is divided 

into two sections, each consisting of 20,4km 

of road. Total contract value of this 15-month 

contract is R215,7 million.
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SprayPave
SprayPave, which celebrates its 30th 

anniversary in 2011, became part of the 

Basil Read group in 2006. The Gauteng-

based company offers world-class 

technology to a broad base of customers 

throughout sub-Saharan Africa through a 

fleet of eight modern bitumen distributors, 

fitted with the technically advanced 

Spraybar systems, and seven bitumen 

haulers.

SprayPave supplies and sprays top-quality 

bituminous products for Basil Read and 

other leading construction companies. 

It also supplies products into Africa, 

including Mozambique and Zambia. 

During the year, the company upgraded its 

facilities which now include a fully calibrated 

weighbridge, and a state-of-the-art emulsion 

plant with CSIR (South Africa’s Council for 

Scientific and Industrial Research) and SRT 

(Static Roll Threshold) certification. 

A complete operational upgrade of the 

existing plant and manufacturing facility will 

allow the company to manufacture all the 

products it currently supplies in-house, 

ensuring optimal quality control. The 

upgrade has also improved lead times and 

efficiencies, while retaining the company’s 

competitive pricing structures. A new 

branch in KwaZulu-Natal will extend 

SprayPave’s ability to deliver quality services 

throughout southern Africa. 

Current projects include:

>  The recently completed N1 between the 

Orange River and Springfontein, Free 

State.

>  Upgrade of the N17 toll route in Gauteng.

>  Ongoing N17 upgrade from Bethal to 

Ermelo.

>  N12 upgrade from Wolmaransstad to 

Christiana.

>  N2 upgrade in the Eastern Cape from 

Storms River to Tsitsikamma.

>  N1 upgrade in Lynnwood, Pretoria.

>  N3 toll road between Heidelberg and 

Cedara in KwaZulu-Natal.

The company is also completing projects 

outside South Africa, including Zambia, 

Mozambique and Namibia.

Sladden International

Sladden International was acquired by Basil 

Read in 2010 to significantly enhance the 

group’s civil engineering capabilities in Africa. 

Sladden International is a respected civil 

engineering contractor based in 

Francistown, Botswana. Founded in 1963, 

over the decades the Sladden name has 

become synonymous in Botswana with 

quality of delivery, timely completion of 

contracts and exceptional technical 

expertise.

The company’s client base includes the 

Botswana government, Debswana,  African 

Copper and Tati Nickel Mine. It has also 

maintained a presence in the prestigious 

diamond mines of Jwaneng and Orapa since 

1977. Extensive works through southern 

Africa include diverse projects such as: 

roadwork on the Kariba Dam project in 

Zimbabwe, full infrastructure development 

in Lusaka, Broken Hill and Kitwe in Zambia 

and the port at Selima on Lake Malawi. 

Steven Single, managing director : SprayPave

www.spraypave.co.za

Chris Sladden, managing director : Sladden International

Bitumen distributor
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Basil Read’s civil engineering division operates on a project basis primarily in South 
Africa and neighbouring countries. Worldwide, the division pursues projects where it has 
the required capacity and experience. Its range of activities includes concrete structures, 
water and fluid storage and transport, marine construction, and design.

The division had an exceptional year, reflected in strong turnover growth and the 
number of infrastructural projects in the pipeline. It is also pursuing further 
opportunities in the private sector. Strategic acquisitions have broadened both the 
geographic scope and depth of management in the civils division. 

Kusile power station 
In 2010, the division continued its joint venture on the R3,5 billion Kusile power station, 
next to the existing Kendal power station in the Witbank area of Mpumalanga province. 
Kusile’s expected capacity will be 4 800MW, with the first unit planned for commercial 
operation in 2014. 

Port of Durban
Work also continued on the R430 million infrastructure project for the Port of Durban’s 
Pier Two and the R130 million container vehicle repair workshop. 

Kusile power station

Marco Valente, managing director : Valente Brothers Group

www.basilread.co.za

Operational review  
continued

Building on a solid reputation primarily for 
concrete structures, water and fluid storage 
and transport, marine construction, and design 
in South Africa and neighbouring countries, 
Basil Read’s civils division is now pursuing 
projects where it has the required capacity and 
experience worldwide.

Willem Meyer, managing director : Basil Read Civils

Civils 
What we do:
>  Basil Read’s civil engineering division operates on a project basis 

primarily in South Africa and neighbouring countries.

Key contracts over the last year:
>  South Africa: Infrastructure contract for Eskom’s new Medupi power station.

>  South Africa: Water treatment works in KwaZulu-Natal and Gauteng.
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Kusile power station

Picture supplied courtesy of Eskom.
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Operational review continued

Sunderland Ridge Waste water treatment works
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Ohlanga 
In January 2010, Basil Read began work on 
the 24-month, R95 million contract for the 
Ohlanga outfall sewer, pump station and 
rising main between Umhlanga Rocks and 
Umdloti, KwaZulu-Natal. The work consists 
of constructing a new pump station at 
Ohlanga and a pipeline from the existing 
pump station to Phoenix water treatment 
works . 

Sunderland Ridge waste water treatment 
works
The division was awarded the R172 million 
civil works contract to extend the 
Sunderland Ridge waste water treatment 
works. The contract will take 16 months 
to complete.

Civil engineering, Zimbabwe
The division was recently awarded its first 
cross-border contract for client, Zimplats. 
The contract involves the main civil 
engineering works on the Ngezi mining and 
concentrator project. Construction is 
expected to take 12 months.

Medupi ash dump and dams
Eskom recently awarded the division the 
contract for the construction of ash dumps, 
dams and other miscellaneous 
infrastructure at its Medupi power station. 
This R516 million contract is expected to 
take 19 months to complete with the start 
date still to be confirmed.

The Valente Brothers group
Established in 1948, the Valente Brothers 
group has built a solid reputation in the civil 
engineering construction sector, specialising 
in the construction of bulk infrastructure, 
specifically pipeline infrastructure and pipe 
jacking. 

Valente’s landmark contracts include the 
first potable water pipeline to Sun City; 
42km of 1 000mm diameter pipeline for the 
Department of Water Affairs and Forestry      

– one of the largest potable water projects 
of the late 1990s; moving large bulk services 
for the Gautrain project’s airport link; and 
over 120km of bulk pipelines for the Arabie 
Dam bulk water supply scheme.

Recently Valente Brothers expanded by 
setting up an empowerment company, 
Phambili Pipelines and Tubo Jacked Pipelines, 
a specialist pipe-jacking operation.

Reverse osmosis plant in Saldanha 
Located in the operational iron ore export 
terminal in the Port of Saldanha, Western 
Cape, this project involves construction of 
the reverse osmosis (RO) plant, supporting 
infrastructure and services. The plant 
will produce potable water at a rate of 
3 600kℓ/day. 

Sunderland Ridge Waste water treatment works

Strategic acquisitions have broadened both the 
geographic scope and depth of management in 
the civils division. In 2010, the division was 
strengthened by the acquisition of the Valente 
Brothers group, specialists in pipeline 
infrastructure and pipe jacking.
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Operational review  
continued

With the successful integration of the 
Gerolemou/Mvela group, Basil Read’s buildings 
division has entrenched itself as an innovative 
and fully integrated construction solutions 
provider with a number of prestigious 
contracts in its growing portfolio of public- and 
private-sector projects in South Africa and 
across its borders.

Basil Read Buildings
In its first full year after the successful integration of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, Basil 
Read’s buildings division has proven itself an innovative and fully integrated construction 
solutions provider with a number of prestigious contracts in its growing portfolio of 
public- and private-sector projects. This has added critical mass to Basil Read’s ability to 
target larger projects in South Africa and across borders.

The division is actively pursuing public-private partnerships (PPPs) in support of Basil 
Read’s goal to become the benchmark PPP service provider in South Africa by forming 
robust consortiums with members who share the group’s vision and complement its 
abilities to deliver the highest quality services from conception through delivery to 
operation.

Government healthcare facilities
Key contracts include the restoration and revitalisation of numerous government 
healthcare facilities and hospital projects around the country: 
>  Additional on-site projects that formed part of the R315 million upgrade of Paarl 

Hospital will be completed in May 2011.
>  The 300-bed facility at Germiston Hospital for the Department of Public Works was 

completed at the end of April 2011.
>  The ongoing R1,5 billion Natalspruit Hospital project, involving a 760-bed facility for 

the Department of Public Works, is progressing well with completion scheduled for 
March 2012.

Chris Hani Baragwanath Hospital

Reinoud Oranje, deputy managing director : Buildings

Peter Gerolemou, managing director : Buildings

www.basilread.co.za

Buildings
What we do:
>  The division is active in South Africa’s major centres and has been strengthened 

by recent acquisitions.

Key contracts over the last year:
>  South Africa: 15-month contract for various buildings at Eskom’s new Medupi 

power station.

>  South Africa: Numerous healthcare contracts have entrenched the division’s 
capability in this market niche.
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Chris Hani Baragwanath Hospital
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Operational review continued

Regent apartment building
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>  The division secured a further contract 
from the Department of Public Works 
involving repair work to the nurses 
college residences for the Thaba Tshwane 
Department of Defence: SAMHA College. 
This R164 million, 24-month contract 
started in March 2010.

>  The division, in joint venture, was 
awarded the contract for the 
construction of Trompsburg Regional 
Hospital, which will service the needs of 
communities south of Bloemfontein. The 
contract is valued at R256 million and will 
take 30 months to complete.

University of South Africa
Work continued on the R110 million 
contract to construct a new entrance 
building for Unisa. The five-storey multi-
purpose building will accommodate offices, 
student gathering facilities, and several 
galleries.

Gautrain stations
Basil Read buildings have been part of the 
Gautrain project through the construction 
of the Rhodesfield, OR Tambo, Hatfield, Park 
and Marlboro stations.

Miscellaneous buildings at Medupi
The division was recently awarded the 
contract for the construction of various 
buildings at Medupi power station. This 
R235,6 million project includes construction 
of the following buildings over a period of 
15 months:

>  A medical station, ambulance garage and 
fire station to be housed in one building 
of approximately 1 193m²

>  A canteen facility of approximately 
2 314m²

>  A double-storey main office complex to 
accommodate 200 people, including an 
auditorium for 40 people, tea rooms, 
board rooms, store rooms, reception area, 
archive area and library, totalling 
approximately 3 800m²

>  Compressor house building of 
approximately 2 100m²

>  Ash dump workshop and office of 
approximately 550m²

Basil Read Campus 
Construction of phase one of the Basil Read 
Campus, the group’s new head office 
complex in Boksburg was completed in 
February 2011. This state-of-the-art building 
contains many green features including 
water tanks for the catchment and recycling 
of water and motion-sensor lighting to save 
on energy costs.

Construction of phase two has commenced 
and is expected to be completed in the 
second quarter of 2012.

Regent apartment building

The division was recently awarded the 
R236 million contract to construct various 
buildings at Medupi power station over a period 
of 15 months, underscoring its ability to take on 
larger and more complex projects.
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What we do:
>  Basil Read Mining has become the contract mining partner of choice for projects 

in southern Africa, reflecting its growing capabilities and exceptional resources.
>  B&E provides drilling and blasting, load-and-haul and crushing services to the 

construction, quarrying, civil engineering and mining industry with projects in 
all major southern African countries including Uganda, Zambia, Mauritius and 
Madagascar.

Key contracts over the last year:
>  Botswana: R200-million Jwaneng contract awarded by the Debswana Diamond 

Company, an equal joint venture between De Beers and the government of 
Botswana. 

>  Namibia: R330-million contract (of a total R1-billion project) at Trekkopje mine, 
north-east of Swakopmund in the Namib desert in a 24-month joint venture for 
French client Areva.

>  South Africa: Work continues on the percussion drilling project at Venetia diamond 
mine, near Musina in Limpopo. 

Stephen Marx, contracts director : Mining

Francois Stock, financial director : Mining

Antonie Fourie, managing director : Mining

Jwaneng Diamond Mine

In 2010, mining production rose for the first time since 2005 to record an almost 
4% gain, seasonally adjusted (Statistics SA) as investors sought metals as a hedge against 
rising inflation and the depreciation of currencies such as the US dollar and euro. 
While all mineral groups contributed to the increase, notable performances came from 
platinum and coal. 

More importantly for our group, the government has recognised the urgent need to 
invest in South Africa’s critical infrastructure to stimulate sustained economic growth 
and generate jobs. The cost of modernising and upgrading the country’s ageing 
infrastructure has been estimated by government at R1 trillion over the next four years. 
This is particularly relevant for the mining industry, which accounts for a sizeable portion 
of the country’s gross domestic product or GDP.  The industry has long been hampered 
by road and rail constraints, security of power supplies and, most recently, water 
management issues. Investments on the scale now being discussed by government will go 
a long way towards addressing these challenges and ensuring the domestic industry is 
able to capitalise on the next commodities boom – which appears to be gathering 
momentum already.

Mining

Operational review  
continued
Operational review  
continued

Basil Read Mining operates medium- and 
long-term contracts for major commodity 
companies across Africa, using the latest 
equipment and innovative mining techniques 
to meet the changing needs of clients.

www.basilread.co.za

www.blasting.co.za
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Operational review continued

Blasting activities at Jwaneng Diamond Mine
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Performance
The onset of a recovery in the mining 
sector will obviously take time to develop 
fully, although demand is up virtually across 
the board.  As such, activity levels remained 
constrained in the review period. For the 
year, Basil Read’s mining division reported 
revenue of R801,7 million (2009: 
R679,2 million) and operating profit 
of R111,3 million (2009: R13,9 million) at 
a margin of 13,9% (2009: 16,8%). The 
division has a promising order book of 
R1,3 billion (2009: R1,4 billion).

Capital expenditure of around R200 million 
during the year reflects the division’s 
ongoing investment in new plant and 
equipment. Further expenditure has been 
approved for 2011.

Basil Read Mining
Despite the protracted slump in the mining 
industry, the division maintained its base of 
expertise by carefully managing both its 
people and their deployment. A pool of 
specialist skills is a decided competitive 
advantage in an industry characterised by an 
ongoing shortage of core skills.

Solid long-term contractual agreements and 
good client relationships have protected the 
division to some extent in the current 
economic climate.

The heightened and ongoing focus on safety, 
which includes a sophisticated system for 
notification and sharing knowledge, is 
producing benefits with the Jwaneng 
operation recording 600 000 hours without 
a lost-time injury. The division also received 
a safety award from Afrisam Northern Cape. 

Rössing Uranium Mine
The division continues to work at the 
Rössing uranium mine in Namibia for owner 
Rio Tinto, one of the world’s largest mining 
houses. This is part of a further contract 
extension, with significant progress made 
during the review period.

Blasting activities at Jwaneng Diamond Mine

Because a pool of specialist skills is a decided 
competitive advantage in an industry 
characterised by the ongoing shortage of core 
skills, the division has maintained its base of 
expertise by carefully managing both its people 
and their deployment. 

Jwaneng Diamond Mine, Botswana
In January 2010, Basil Read Mining started 
work on the Jwaneng contract awarded by 
the Debswana Diamond Company, an equal 
joint venture between De Beers and the 
government of Botswana. Jwaneng mine is in 
south-central Botswana, about 120km west 
of Gaborone. The 12-month contract is 
valued at more than R200 million, covering 
phase 1 of the Cut 8 project. This includes 
drilling, blasting and removing 20 million 
tons of waste to expand the current 
open-pit mine and facilitate access to the 
Jwaneng kimberlite ore at greater depth. 

Basil Read, as part of the MAJWE Mining 
joint venture, was recently awarded a five- 
year multi-billion rand mining service 
contract for Cut 8 phase 2. Work is 
expected to commence in June 2011.

Trekkopje Mine, Namibia
In February 2010, Basil Read Mining broke 
ground on a R330 million (of a total 
R1 billion project) at Trekkopje mine, 
140km north-east of Swakopmund in the 
Namib desert. This is a 24-month joint 
venture for client Areva, a French company, 
whose core business is nuclear power 
plants and enriching and extracting uranium.

Contract work includes constructing a 
4km2 maxi leach pad, seven solution ponds 
and crushing the filter material. At peak 
operation, there will be 800 employees with 
over half living on site.

Highveld Steel and Vanadium
In the first half, the division started on a 
contract at Mapochs Mine, in Mpumalanga, 
for Highveld Steel and Vanadium. This 
contract, undertaken in extremely 
challenging conditions, involved drilling and 
blasting, crushing, loading and hauling 
125 000 tons of material per month but 
proved uneconomical to carry out with 
existing technology. With the consent of the 
client, the contract was cancelled. The 
division has since secured an unrelated 
contract from this client. 

Blasting & Excavating
Blasting & Excavating (B&E) has provided 
drilling and blasting, load-and-haul and 
crushing services to the construction, 
quarrying, civil engineering and mining 
industry since 1972. As a leading drill and 
blast specialist contractor, the company has 
executed projects in all major southern 
African countries including Uganda, Zambia, 
Mauritius and Madagascar.

B&E recorded an acceptable performance 
for the year, given sharply higher 
competition and price sensitivity. 
The company ended the year in excellent 
shape after appropriate management 
actions were taken, with a solid pipeline 
of quality projects.

The protracted downturn in the aggregates 
sector continues to obscure the long-term 
sustainability of this market. The South 
African government’s recent announcement 
that R1 trillion will be needed over the next 
four years to upgrade and maintain the 
country’s infrastructure, particularly water 
supply and transport infrastructure, 
underscores the potential for B&E to 
participate meaningfully once demand 
improves.

De Beers Venetia Mine
Work continues at Venetia diamond mine, 
near Musina in Limpopo. The contract is for 
the mine’s percussion drilling project.

Prospects
Basil Read Mining is well placed to 
participate as conditions improve in 
the southern African mining industry. 
The division is working closely with group 
subsidiary TWP to extract synergies and 
has extended its services into the junior 
mining sector. In addition to building 
strategic relationships with local partners 
in the countries in which we operate, 
opportunities are also being explored 
further afield.
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Operational review  
continued

Savanna City

Basil Read Developments has entrenched its reputation for developing sustainable 
communities, reflected in its Gauteng flagship project, Cosmo City – the first mixed-use, 
fully integrated sustainable human settlement in South Africa. In 2010, and based on the 
success of this development, the company was invited by the Ministry of Housing in 
Brazil to present its approach to integrated residential communities.

While still the smallest of Basil Read’s divisions, it has the largest socio-economic impact 
with a total economic impact of R99,2 billion during construction and R71,2 billion 
post-construction. For the group, this division is strategically significant, given its focus on 
sustainable development and the secondary work it creates for the group. Some 
R3 billion in work, not yet included in the group’s order book, will be created for other 
Basil Read divisions over the life of current projects.

Performance
Basil Read Developments contributed revenue of R24,2 million (2009: R68,3 million) and 
operating profit of R4,7 million (2009: R6,2 million).

As noted at the half-year stage, divisional performance was affected by delays in breaking 
ground on several projects. Given that government has reaffirmed its commitment to 
eradicating informal settlements, with a concomitant effect on job creation and poverty 
reduction, this division remains of strategic importance to the group.

Developments

Des Hughes, managing director : Developments

Brian Mulherron, technical director : Developments

Yusuf Patel, executive director : Special Projects

www.brdevelopments.co.za

Basil Read Developments has the largest 
socio-economic impact in the broader group 
with a total economic contribution of 
R99 billion during construction and R71 billion 
post-construction.

What we do:
>  Basil Read Developments is a leader in affordable housing, mixed-use residential 

estates and light industrial parks.

Key developments over the last year:
>  South Africa: Environment impact assessment approved for Savanna City.

>  South Africa: First mixed-use residential estate being developed in Cape Town.
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Hlanganani Gardens Cosmo City
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At Malibongwe Ridge, an extension to 
Cosmo City, the township application 
process is under way. The development of 
Savanna City, south of Johannesburg, has yet 
to break ground.  Although the record of 
decision has been received and 
environmental impact assessment approved, 
there have been delays in finalising bulk 
service agreements with the local 
municipality. Savanna City is being developed 
in partnership with the Old Mutual group, 
which is providing funding. This planned 
R9-billion project will be larger than Cosmo 
City.

In Cape Town, Basil Read is developing 
another integrated mixed-use residential 
area in partnership with Garden Cities, the 
largest private land-owner in Cape Town 
and a non-profit group with a 90-year track 
record in providing affordable housing. 
Garden City New Town, a 767-hectare 
property, has been identified for low-cost, 
middle-income and bonded housing. Similar 
to Cosmo City, the R9,7 billion project will 

include schools, community centres, clinics, 
churches, parks, commercial and light 
industrial areas. Although regulatory 
approvals have been slow to materialise, 
good relationships have been built with 
stakeholders, including municipalities, 
government bodies and communities.

At Phakisa Estate, near Welkom in the Free 
State, the environmental impact assessment 
for phase 1 has been approved. The only 
outstanding issue now is approval of the 
township application, expected in the first 
half of 2011.

Klipriver Business Park, a pivotal spine 
between Johannesburg, Meyerton and 
Ekurhuleni, is progressing well. Although 
sales of this industrial development remain 
subdued, the group has received several 
serious enquiries in recent months. Ongoing 
negotiations are expected to gain 
momentum in the near future.

Aligned with its housing initiatives, the 
division established Basil Read Green Energy 

Projects to ensure sustainable and 
environmentally friendly developments. To 
date:
>  Nurseries are propagating 500 000 trees 

and shrubs for planting on new 
developments and creating vegetable 
gardens.

>  A solar water heater programme is aimed 
at installing solar heating on every 
Breaking new ground and finance-linked 
house. 

>  House designs are maximising energy 
efficiencies.

>  Energy-efficient lights are provided 
throughout each development.

Prospects
In addition to the significant volume of 
projects at various stages of development, 
this division has also been approached by 
private sector groups wanting to capitalise 
on its expertise in integrated mixed-use 
developments.

Activity levels in this division will always be 
characterised by long lead times in official 
approval processes. 

Total impact of current developments (ZAR billion)

 Development Houses

Total 
impact during 
construction

Employment 
during 

construction

Total 
impact post 

construction

Employment 
post 

construction

Savanna City 18 691 28,4 54 900 12,7 12 700

Cosmo City 12 500 15,9 30 924 20,2 22 643

Malibongwe Ridge 5 265 5,7 11 100 3,9 5 600

Garden City New Town 14 500 37,0 53 730 19,0 52 240

Phakisa Estate 9 550 12,2 23 625 15,4 17 299

Total 60 506 99,2 174 279 71,2 110 482

* Impact = direct, indirect and induced

Hlanganani Gardens Cosmo City

The focus is on sustainable and 
environmentally friendly developments, 
from innovative design and construction 
methods to landscaping.
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Main shaft headgear at Styldrift

Following the 2009 merger, the multi-disciplinary TWP engineering group has integrated 
well into the Basil Read structure to create an enlarged group uniquely equipped to offer 
a full service to the world’s leading building environment and mining sectors, particularly 
in the engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) arena. 

With a team of some 800 engineers and architects, TWP provides a broad spectrum of 
services including resource identification, bankable feasibility studies, mine and 
production planning, process engineering, project execution, delivery and handover.

The scale of these complementary activities is supporting Basil Read’s stated intention of 
tendering for larger contracts, pursuing international acquisitions and competing globally. 

Performance
The engineering division reported revenue of R663,4 million and an operating loss of 
R0,2 million. The divisional order book of R1,5 billion is defined as an 18-month order 
book, although a number of contracts included in this amount will continue well beyond 
this period. The contract value for the portion of work extending beyond this 18-month 
period has not been included in the divisional order book.

The poor performance of TWP can be attributed to the slow recovery in the 
commodities market with mining houses still cautious about commissioning new 
projects. TWP’s performance was in line with expectations at the time of acquisition; as 
the economic recovery gains traction, the group expects the performance of TWP to 
improve, albeit more slowly than originally anticipated. 

TWP
Founded 29 years ago, TWP is a leading engineering consultancy, with particular expertise 
in the mining sector. Its largest subsidiary, TWP Projects is fully accredited against 
ISO 9001:2000 and OHSAS 18001, with ISO 14000 accreditation due in April 2011.

Digby Glover, chief executive officer: TWP Holdings

Franco Pellegrini,  managing director : TPS.P, 
deputy chief executive officer: TWP

Ernst Rischmuller, financial director : TWP Projects

John Russell, executive director : TWP Holdings

www.twp.co.za

www.tpsp.co.za

What we do:
>  TWP is a leading multi-disciplinary engineering firm providing a full service to the 

world’s building environment and mining sectors, particularly in the EPC 
(engineering, procurement and construction) arena.

>  TPS.P.  This architectural practice is renowned for its design and service levels 
across a broad range of sectors.

Key contracts over the last year:
>  South Africa: The single-biggest shaft-sinking EPCM contract for Impala 17 shaft. 

This world-class platinum project is scheduled to be commissioned in 2015 and 
will take another four years to develop the mine to full production.

>  Zambia: TWP Projects designed one of the largest steel headgears in the world, as 
well as extensive underground infrastructure, for Konkola Copper Mine’s Konkola 
Deeps Mining Project in Zambia.

>  Philippines: TWP Australia secured the EPCM contract to develop plant and 
associated infrastructure at the Siana gold project in the Surigao Gold District of 
the Philippines.

Engineering

Operational review  
continued
Operational review  
continued

Our engineering division complements other 
group activities, adding a wealth of specialised 
in-house expertise and experience to meet 
rising demand for turnkey solutions.
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Feed conveyors to and from cone crusher at Black Rock
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TWP Projects is the biggest EPCM 
(engineering, procurement, and construction 
management) organisation in Africa, with 
offices in South Africa, Zambia, Namibia, 
Mozambique,  Australia and Peru.

In 2009, TWP extended its focus beyond 
providing technical and project management 
services to the mining and minerals industry. 
TWP Projects is now actively pursuing two 
new market areas and has started an 
infrastructure division in line with its 
objective of becoming the preferred 
technical and project management 
professional services company to industry.

TWP Projects, mining division
Anglo plc tier one status
TWP is one of three EPCM companies to 
be awarded Anglo American tier one status 
for EPCM services in southern Africa. This 
enables negotiated work to be conducted 
for all Anglo subsidiaries in the region. The 
benefits of this selection are already 
emerging with significant new work being 
awarded to TWP in the coal, platinum and 
iron ore (Kumba) divisions.

Impala Platinum
In 2010, the division secured the single-
biggest shaft-sinking EPCM contract for the 
Impala 17 shaft project. This world-class 
platinum project is scheduled to be 
commissioned in 2015 and will take a 
further four years to develop the mine to 
full production. The project involves sinking 
three shafts concurrently, with the main 
shaft being deepest at nearly 2 000m. In 
addition, the contract includes the option to 
increase the scope of work to include the 
capital development phase, which will bring 
the shaft to full production in 2018. This will 
be the engineering division’s flagship project 
for many years.

Underground infrastructure installation and 
commissioning at Impala Platinum’s 20 shaft 
is on track, with the first reef hoisting by the 
end of 2010. Production started in January 
2011 and the second reef hoisting is planned 
for March 2011.

TWP Projects has also secured the 
feasibility projects for Impala’s 18 and 19 
shafts, which should ramp up to execution 
in the near future.

Konkola Copper Mine
After four years of intensive work and effort, 
the first phase of Konkola Copper Mine’s 
Konkola Deeps Mining Project (KDMP) in 
Zambia was completed during the year. TWP 
Projects was responsible for designing what 
is now one of the largest steel headgears in 
the world, as well as extensive underground 
infrastructure. The 81,5m tall headgear 
(Konkola No 4 shaft) – itself a massive 
architectural feat – is part of an expansion 
project to treble the mine’s copper ore 

production to 7,5 million tons per annum 
(mtpa). The division has also designed the 
shaft steelwork for deepening Konkola No 1 
shaft from 1 000m to 1 480m. Other 
technical accomplishments include the 
underground pumping and settling system, 
shaft piping, general electrical reticulation 
and associated control and instrumentation. 

De Beers Venetia underground project 
TWP has been commissioned to conduct 
the new De Beers flagship Venetia 
underground project feasibility study. The 
study should take most of 2011 and will 
more than likely ramp up into execution in 
the following year.

Wesizwe Ledig 
This project was executed on a small scope 
until December 2010 ahead of full execution 
in 2011. TWP is acting as EPCM contractor 
and aiming to conclude full EPCM 
negotiations before the end of 2010.

Styldrift
The twin-shaft system project at Styldrift 
started shaft-sinking operations in October 
2010. Progress to date has been good with a 
high-quality installation, and an excellent 
safety record of no lost-time injuries since 
the project began in March 2009. This 
project is on schedule and on budget.

TWP Projects 
TWP process division continues to thrive. 
2010 saw the successful completion of a 
number of large projects including PPC’s 
Ntšhafatso Plant,  Assmang’s Black Rock Plant 
and GBG’s Burnstone gold plant. The process 
portfolio grew significantly in 2010 with 
numerous new awards for companies such as 
ENRC, Gold Fields, Kumba, Rand Refineries, 
Assmang, Anglo Platinum and Impala Platinum.

In the first quarter of 2010, the engineering 
process division secured further work in the 
Democratic Republic of Congo and Zambia. 
These projects improved the pipeline in the 
copper and cobalt portfolio, with ramp-up 
to full production into 2013. In the second 
quarter, the division secured a local gold 
project expansion with planned production 
ramp-up starting in mid-2012. 

Further work was also secured in base 
metal and precious metal refinery projects 
ramping up into 2014. The division also 
recorded success in the commodity 
diversification drive and secured an iron ore 
pilot project that has the potential to 
provide pipeline security into 2013.

International offices 
Both the Australian and Peruvian offices 
have received recent project awards and 
show strong signs of growth for 2011.

Siana gold project
TWP Australia was awarded the EPCM 
contract to develop plant and associated 
infrastructure at the Siana gold project in 
the Surigao Gold District of the Philippines. 
This is a major milestone in the 
development of the project, which has an 
indicated mineral resource of some 80 000 
ounces of gold and the potential to extend 
this resource.

TWP has started preliminary engineering 
work and reviews, including optimisation of 
the project schedule. 

Matomo Projects
Matomo Projects – a process design and 
project execution company – is re-emerging 
post recession as a strong contender in its 
field.  While a large proportion of its work 
this year will reside in the PGM/chrome 
tailings recovery field, including Pan African 
Resources’ Phoenix project, it is also tapping 
into some unique project work.

TPS.P Architects
TPS.P Architects, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of TWP, is a highly experienced professional 
practice renowned for its design and service 
levels. Its extensive portfolio of completed 
projects spans South Africa and Africa, and 
includes commercial, industrial, retail, 
educational, residential, hotel and leisure 
facilities, as well as numerous projects for 
the mining industry.

Most recently, the practice has been 
involved in the Gautrain rapid transport rail 
system, including the design of certain 
stations, while its interior design company, 
Facets, was responsible for the VIP lounges 
inside World Cup stadiums.

TPS.P was recently awarded the major 
architectural role for the new head office of 
Old Mutual in Sandton.

Prospects
Global trends indicate that in coming years 
there will be a need for large numbers of 
skilled engineers and architects to tackle the 
imminent population growth issues of food, 
water and energy scarcity, as well as major 
infrastructural requirements. We believe 
engineers will be at the forefront of the 
professionals tasked with solving these 
challenges – specifically design engineers. 
Equally, the specific mix of technical, 
organisational and interpersonal skills 
required to complete these complex 
projects will require experienced project 
managers.

The broader Basil Read group is ideally 
equipped to meet these challenges.

Feed conveyors to and from cone crusher at Black Rock
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Alternative energy sources

Basil Read’s integrated growth strategy will involve the group increasing and diversifying 
its products and services with a streamlined approach that extends to some of TWP’s 
new initiatives.

The review period was an exceptional time for the Basil Read group in terms of new 
contract awards.  At year end, the group order book was at R7,8 billion, and solid 
progress was being made on longer-term growth opportunities.

Basil Read Turnkey Projects
One of the motivations for Basil Read to acquire TWP was to open up opportunities for 
both entities. Basil Read has all the construction capabilities while TWP is an expert in 
engineering, procurement and construction management (EPCM). 

To harness this expertise, the group established Basil Read Turnkey Projects to offer 
clients a design and construct solution as a critical extension to both TWP and Basil 
Read’s traditional service offerings. In contrast to TWP’s traditional EPCM approach, 
the new company will take on projects on a turnkey basis, spanning engineering, 
procurement and construction or EPC.

We believe the most significant opportunities for the new entity will initially be provided 
by the junior mining sector beyond South Africa’s borders, as well as the infrastructure 
arena across the continent. Basil Read Turnkey Projects will also boost the group’s 
capacity for public-private partnership (PPP) services for infrastructure and building 
projects. 

Public-private partnerships
Aiming to become the benchmark service provider in South Africa, Basil Read’s 
public-private partnership (PPP) model continues to evolve as a feasible method of 
undertaking larger projects. Given the group’s long-standing and robust partnerships 
with international construction conglomerates and turnkey contractors such as 
Bouygues, Sodexo and Alstom, we are well placed to bid on projects of this nature.

These partnerships mean that Basil Read clients receive the best international practice 
tailored to local requirements through our in-depth understanding of the local 
environment and how key PPP drivers are affected by those needs.

Eugene du Toit, executive director : Special Projects

Gavin Chamberlain,  acting managing director : 
BR Turnkey Projects

Vinesh Moodley, managing director: BR Oil and Gas

Manny Singh, managing director : BR Energy

Business 
development

As South Africa grows and changes,  
Basil Read is meeting these new challenges 
with innovative technology and unwavering 
attention to detail.
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In 2010, South Africa’s government 
reaffirmed its commitment to investing in 
infrastructure, aiming to spend R846 billion 
over the next three years. The government 
has acknowledged that PPPs are one way in 
which it can improve service delivery and 
clear the backlog in areas such as healthcare 
and correctional services, as well as upgrade 
and centralise facilities for various 
government departments.

Government also announced its intention to 
broaden the use of PPPs in the health 
sector, and Basil Read’s experience in this 
area positions it well to win new tenders. 
Recently, the group has been involved in a 
number of projects in the health sector, 
detailed on page 40. The group is also the 
preferred bidder on a toll road in Zambia 
and is well placed to secure tenders for 
water-supply projects expected to be issued 
in the near future. 

Basil Read has been involved in submissions 
for several PPPs over the past 18 months, 
and decisions are expected shortly:
>  City of Tshwane headquarters – 

Construction value of over R1 billion
>  Four correctional facilities – 

Construction value of over R4 billion
>  Zambia toll road – Construction value of 

over R1,5 billion 
>  N1/N2 toll road, Western Cape 

– Construction value of over R6 billion

Several more PPPs are expected in the next 
few years, particularly in the healthcare 
sector, including an estimated R5 billion 
construction value PPP for Chris Hani/
Baragwanath Hospital and several provincial 
hospitals. While the PPP process has been 
slow and very protracted to date, we 
believe it is now accelerating. 

Basil Read Oil and Gas
Given the global energy shortage, the group 
is actively pursuing opportunities in this 
sector, specifically oil and gas developments. 
To entrench the broader Basil Read group 
as the preferred supplier of technical and 
project management services to this 
industry, a dedicated division has been 

established and staffed with experienced 
professionals. This team will target local and 
international opportunities for constructing 
storage facilities and pipeline projects.

In addition to its strong alliances with 
companies operating in this sector, and its 
ability to expand both organically and by 
acquisition, the oil and gas team brings a 
strong engineering and project management 
capability to the group’s growth initiatives, 
especially in terms of the petroleum assets 
recently acquired by Basil Read Energy.

The strong synergy between the oil and gas 
and energy divisions is expected to facilitate 
the latter’s projects through optimisation, 
maintenance and upgrades to derive the 
maximum commercial benefit. In essence, 
the oil and gas division offers consulting 
services, assessments and inspections of 
possible acquisitions and projects being 
evaluated by Basil Read Energy. Similar 
synergy exists with the turnkey projects 
division.

Basil Read Energy 
Basil Read Energy is a growth initiative, with 
a project team currently identifying and 
securing investment opportunities in 
partnership with strong counterparties 
across the energy value chain. The 
investment strategy is focused on greenfield 
projects, shovel-ready developments, and 
mergers and acquisitions.

Backed by a formidable base of existing 
resources in Basil Read and TWP, the new 
energy division focuses on providing both 
conventional and alternative power 
solutions to the market. It does not intend 
to become involved in huge energy projects, 
such as constructing baseload power 
stations, but to provide sustainable energy 
solutions for clients such as project 
developers and large power consumers who 
need a secure energy supply.

At present, the division is concentrating on 
renewable energy, security of supply and 
assisting neighbouring countries that 
previously relied on South African power 
utility, Eskom, for their power-generation 

needs. In the field of renewable energy, the 
South African government has committed to 
a goal of at least 10 000GWh of renewable 
energy in use in the country by 2013, 
spurring the development of a sizeable 
potential market.

Carbon asset development capability is key 
in the renewable energy field and Basil Read 
Energy has formed a partnership with 
Standard Bank/International Carbon to 
develop and monetise its carbon portfolio. 
Effective carbon asset development requires 
a multitude of exceptional skills and 
expertise to identify the most promising and 
viable projects with the most emission-
reduction potential.

The division maintains good relationships 
with key stakeholders in the power-
generation market, including Eskom, the 
National Energy Regulator of South Africa 
(Nersa), and relevant government 
departments.

Fuel storage tanks
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Given the size of the group, the board believes that Basil Read 
complies with the code as well as with the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE Limited in all material aspects. The group regularly reviews its 
corporate governance policies and practices and strives for 
continuous improvement.

Corporate governance remains a permanent item on the board’s 
agenda, and the board believes the group complies with JSE 
requirements.

The group’s corporate philosophy is consistent with the principles of 
King II in that:
>  The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer are separate.
>  An independent non-executive director is elected as chairman of 

the board.
>  The remuneration and audit and risk committees are chaired by 

independent non-executive directors who act independently.

The group is currently formalising a detailed plan to ensure 
compliance with King III and the new Companies Act. 
An implementation team, led by the financial director and monitored 
by the audit and risk committee, will manage the process to ensure 
a seamless transition in complying with the new legislation.

Board of directors
Basil Read has a unitary board structure, which comprises three 
executive directors, an independent non-executive chairman, two 
non-executive directors and two independent non-executive 
directors.

New directors are appointed depending on board requirements, 
including the need for specific skills and expertise, or shareholding 
changes. Any member of the board may nominate an individual for 
appointment to the board, and directors are appointed by unanimous 
resolution at board meetings.

The board’s key responsibilities are to:
>  Review and approve corporate strategy.
>  Approve all acquisitions and major investment decisions.
>  Identify and monitor key risk areas.
>  Safeguard group assets.
>  Monitor operational performance.
>  Review and approve annual budgets and business plans.
>  Oversee the group’s reporting and communication process.
>  Approve the nomination of directors and appointment of the chief 

executive officer.
>  Oversee succession planning.

The appointment of new directors to the board is done according 
to approved procedures and guidelines. All appointments are 
subject to confirmation by shareholders at the annual general 

Corporate governance
meeting. Every member of the board has equal standing and voting 
rights, thus ensuring the balance of power within the board.

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate. 
The board meets at least once every quarter and details of 
attendance in the review period are shown below.

Date meeting held Director’s name Attended Apologies
11 March 2010 SLL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

MDG Gouveia ✓

NJ Townshend ✓

CP Davies ✓

LB Dyosi ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

NY September ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

6 May 2010
Annual general
meeting

SLL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

MDG Gouveia ✓

NJ Townshend ✓

CP Davies ✓

LB Dyosi ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

NY September ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

31 August 2010 SLL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

MDG Gouveia ✓

NJ Townshend ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

NY September ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

18 November 
2010

SLL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

MDG Gouveia ✓

NJ Townshend ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

NY September ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

N1 Springfontein Enna Kruger, company secretary

Basil Read’s directors and senior management 
endorse the code of corporate practices and 
conduct set out in the King II report on corporate 
governance.
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Date meeting held Director’s name Attended Apologies
24 March 2011 SLL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

MDG Gouveia ✓

NJ Townshend ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

No director has a service contract with the group. One-third of the 
directors retire each year by rotation with reappointment subject to 
shareholder approval at the annual general meeting. No restraint-of-
trade payments are made to directors.

The board retains effective control over the group and monitors 
the implementation of strategies and policies by the executive 
management team through various committees and processes. 
The information provided to the board is sufficient to enable the 
directors to consider decisions on material matters.

The group operates according to a business plan, compiled by the 
executive management team and approved by the board of directors.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the company 
secretary, and unrestricted access to all records, assets and 
employees of the group, as well as to each committee and its 
chairman.

Board committees
The board has established three formal committees to assist in 
discharging its duties and responsibilities, namely the audit and risk 
committee, the remuneration committee and the chairman’s 
committee.

Audit and risk committee
Members:
GR Sibiya (chairman) (appointed 24 March 2011)
CP Davies
SS Ntsaluba (appointed 24 March 2011)
NY September (deceased 6 January 2011)

The audit and risk committee comprises two independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director.

Due to the untimely passing away of Ms Ntombekaya September a 
vacancy occurred on the audit and risk committee.  In order to 
substantially comply with King II the following appointments were 
made – Mrs Given Sibiya, an independent non-executive director and 
an existing member of the audit and risk committee, was appointed 
as chairman and Mr Sango Ntsaluba, a non-executive director who is 
a qualified chartered accountant and is suitably skilled and 
experienced,  was appointed to fill the vacancy which then occurred.

However in compliance with King III and the new Companies Act 
2008,  Mr Sango Ntsaluba will step down as a member of the audit 
and risk committee once a suitably qualified independent non-
executive director can be appointed to fill the vacancy.

The committee meets periodically throughout the year to review 
the financial statements, the scope of external audit functions, risk 
management and the effectiveness of management information, 
internal controls and corporate governance procedures. It reports 
to the board on its findings. Details of attendance at meetings are 
shown below.

Date meeting held Member’s name Attended Apologies
10 March 2010 NY September (chairman) ✓

CP Davies ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

5 May 2010 NY September (chairman) ✓

CP Davies ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

3 August 2010 NY September (chairman) ✓

CP Davies ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

20 October 2010 NY September (chairman) ✓

CP Davies ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

23 March 2011 GR Sibiya (chairman) ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

The committee is also responsible for reviewing the group’s 
accounting policies and statutory compliance and recommending 
changes, where appropriate.

The committee also sets the principles for recommending the use of 
the external auditors for non-audit services.

For the annual reporting process, the committee is responsible for 
considering the appointment of the external auditor and the review 
of the nature and scope of the external audit.

The audit and risk committee considered the competence, skills and 
experience of the financial director in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements on appointment and is satisfied that Donny Gouveia 
meets all the requirements to fulfil the role of financial director 
of Basil Read.

The board is satisfied that the audit and risk committee has fulfilled 
its responsibilities under its terms of reference. 

Refer to page 76 for the audit and risk committee’s report for the 
year ended 31 December 2010.

Sustainability continued
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Remuneration committee
Members:
CP Davies (chairman)
GR Sibiya (appointed 2 February 2011)
AT Tlelai
OJP Giot
BM Johnson
EG Grace (appointed 6 October 2010)
LB Dyosi (resigned 6 May 2010)

The remuneration committee, which comprises three non-executive 
directors, two of whom are independent, and three members of 
management, meets periodically throughout the year. Details of 
attendance are shown below.

Date meeting held Member’s name Attended Apologies
3 February 2010 CP Davies (chairman) ✓

LB Dyosi ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

OJP Giot ✓

BM Johnson ✓

21 July 2010 CP Davies (chairman) ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

OJP Giot ✓

BM Johnson ✓

6 October 2010 CP Davies (chairman) ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

OJP Giot ✓

EG Grace ✓

BM Johnson ✓

2 February 2011 CP Davies (chairman) ✓

GR Sibiya ✓

AT Tlelai ✓

OJP Giot ✓

EG Grace ✓

BM Johnson ✓

The committee’s objectives are to assist the board in determining 
conditions of employment and to review and approve remuneration 
policies and practices for executive directors and senior 
management. The committee is also responsible for establishing the 
policy for, and operation of, the group’s share incentive scheme. The 
committee is satisfied that executive directors are remunerated in 
line with their responsibilities and performance, and in line with the 
market.

Remuneration philosophy
Basil Read’s philosophy is to encourage sustainable long-term 
performance. The purpose of remuneration is to attract, retain, 
motivate and reward staff to achieve the group’s objectives. 
Remuneration is reviewed at appropriate intervals to motivate staff 
to perform to a required standard and to retain their services by 
offering and maintaining at least market-related remuneration in line 
with their performance and outputs for particular jobs.
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Remuneration increases are granted for all staff annually in March, 
considering individual performance and output and appropriate 
market increases.

Non-executive directors
The committee considers and recommends fees for non-executive 
directors after taking into account duties performed and market 
trends. Non-executive directors receive a fixed remuneration for 
their services based on their participation in board meetings and 
other committees. Non-executive directors do not receive incentive 
bonus payments nor do they participate in the group’s share incentive 
scheme. Details of fees earned by non-executive directors in the year 
under review are provided on page 118.

Executive directors
The objective of the remuneration policy is to attract and retain high-
calibre directors and executive management, while balancing the 
group’s primary objective of sustainable growth. Remuneration 
structures are designed to create an environment that motivates and 
supports high levels of individual and team performance.

The annual performance bonus, coupled with the share incentive 
scheme, is structured to encourage sustainable, enhanced earnings 
growth and aid in aligning long-term director remuneration directly 
to growth in shareholder wealth. 

The annual performance bonus plan offers incentives to executives 
and management, based on group performance levels. A bonus pool is 
created only if certain criteria or financial standards are met, and its 
size is a function of productivity and improved performance in real 
terms. Executive directors and management are allocated bonuses 
from the organisational pool based on:
>  Divisional performance.
> Individual performance.

Details of the remuneration of executive directors appear on 
page 117.

Share incentive scheme
The share incentive scheme for employees and executive directors 
was launched in 1998 to reward participants for the group’s 
performance and to support retention strategies.

Details of options awarded to executive directors appear on 
page 119.

Chairman’s committee
In 2010, we formed a new board committee, known as the chairman’s 
committee, comprising three non-executive directors and the chief 
executive officer. The approved charter for this committee focuses on 
ensuring balanced and well-structured recommendations to the 
board by:
>  Serving as the nominations committee to consider and 

recommend the composition of the board and its subcommittees, 
and new directors.

>  Considering succession planning for the board, CEO and company 
secretary. The committee will also assist the CEO in considering 
the financial director and other executive directors who may serve 
on the board.

>  Functioning as the investment committee responsible for 
considering group acquisitions, mergers and disposals relative to 
group strategy, financial soundness of the target entity, and the 
capital structure of the proposed deal, before making a 
recommendation to the board.

Deliberations by this committee will embrace the board charter, 
King III, the Companies Act and the articles of association of Basil 
Read Holdings Limited. Meetings are scheduled monthly or as 
required by the chairman. Details of attendance in the review period 
are shown below. 

Date Member Attended Apologies
13 May 2010 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

8 June 2010 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

19 July 2010 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

13 August 2010 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

20 September 2010 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

21 February 2011 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

10 March 2011 SSL Peteni (chairman) ✓

ML Heyns ✓

CP Davies ✓

SS Ntsaluba ✓

Sustainability continued
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Risk management
Basil Read has identified two broad sources 
of risk:
>  Risks emanating from the group’s general 

operations, encompassing many 
departments and disciplines.

>  Those arising at a project level and which 
can be of a general nature, in that they 
apply to many projects, or unique to that 
project.

Basil Read’s risk management report is 
detailed on page 79.

Code of ethics
At Basil Read, we place trust in our 
employees and believe that, inherently, each 
one knows and understands the difference 
between right and wrong. As such, we do 
not see the need for detailed policies and 
procedures on all acceptable and 
unacceptable ethical behaviour. We believe 
this complicates matters and creates grey 
areas where someone may believe it is 
appropriate to engage in a form of unethical 
behaviour simply because it was overlooked 
or omitted from a list. 

For appropriate behaviour to be entrenched 
in a company, senior management must 
consistently demonstrate ethical behaviour 
and practices in all their dealings. Basil Read 
has therefore adopted a code of business 
conduct to which all senior managers have 
pledged their commitment. This will be 
renewed annually.

Financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing 
financial statements which fairly present the 
state of affairs of the group at the end of 
each financial period.

The board ensures the consistent use of 
appropriate accounting policies, supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The board recognises its responsibility for 
complying with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and has 
prepared the financial statements set out in 
the annual report accordingly.

Auditing
External audit
The primary responsibility of the group’s 
external auditors is to express an opinion 
on whether the financial statements are 
fairly presented. The external auditors were 
also formally engaged by the board to 
perform other services on behalf of the 
group. Fees paid for these services are 
disclosed in note 10 to the financial 
statements and include:
>  Advice on various tax issues including 

transfer pricing, VAT and capital gains 
taxation.

>  Factual findings reports for tender 
documentation.

>  Due diligence investigations on 
acquisition targets.

>  Other advisory services on certain 
acquisition targets.

The external independent auditors have also 
reviewed the non-financial aspects of this 
annual report to ensure consistency with 
their knowledge of the business, particularly 
those aspects embodied in King II. They do 
not, however, express an opinion on these 
aspects.

Unless otherwise stated, the non-financial 
aspects of this financial report have not 
been subject to external validation.

Internal audit
The board has established controls and 
procedures to provide a high standard, but 
not absolute assurance, on the accuracy and 
integrity of the group’s financial information.

These controls are designed to safeguard, 
verify and maintain accountability of the 
group’s assets and to detect and minimise 
fraud, liability and loss or unauthorised use. 
All joint ventures, associates and 
partnerships are subject to the same risk 
profile procedure as any other project 
undertaken by the group.

Grant Thornton is the group’s appointed 
internal audit service provider to provide a 
more comprehensive internal audit function 
and ensure that the controls and 
procedures in place are adequate and 
operating as intended.
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River Walk Office Park

Through Deloittes, Basil Read runs a 
round-the-clock dedicated tip-off service 
where employees can anonymously, and 
without fear of retribution, report any 
perceived unethical behaviour. This service 
has been in operation since 1 August 2008. 
Each tip-off is investigated and results fed 
back to the audit and risk committee. 

Pilferage and theft on site is an ongoing 
problem across our industry. To address this, 
Basil Read has engaged a specialist security 
company to provide forensic investigation 
and prosecutorial services when the need 
arises. 

The Basil Read group does not engage in 
anticompetitive or cartel behaviour, 
including price-fixing, market sharing or 
collusive tendering. We fully support the 
tenets of the Competition Act and the 
Competition Amendment Bill.

Basil Read endorses the principles on ethical 
practices and organisational integrity set out 
in King III, and will do all that is necessary to 
ensure it operates in line with these 
principles. 

Company secretary and  
professional advice
The company secretary is appointed by the 
board with duties that include providing 
guidance to directors on their duties and 
ensuring awareness of all relevant legislation 
and statutory requirements. The company 
secretary’s statement of compliance is set 
out on page 114 of the financial statements.

The company secretary is suitably qualified 
and experienced and is responsible for, 
among others, the duties stipulated in 
section 268G of the Companies Act and for 
the certificate to be signed in terms of 
subsection (d).

All directors have access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary, who is 
responsible to the board for ensuring that 
board procedures are followed.

All directors are entitled to seek 
independent professional advice about the 
affairs of the group at the group’s expense.

Going concern
The board of directors confirms that the 
group has adequate resources to continue 
to operate for the foreseeable future and 
will remain a going concern in the year 
ahead.

Share dealings
Basil Read operates two closed periods 
from 31 December and 30 June each year 
until the publication of its year end and 
interim results, respectively. To ensure that 
dealings are not carried out at a time when 
other price-sensitive information may be 
known, directors and named officers must 
at all times obtain permission from the 
chairman before dealing in the shares of the 
company. Dealings in company shares by 
directors and named officers are, as 
required, disclosed to the JSE and published 
on SENS.

Stakeholders
The directors recognise the importance of 
strong relationships with all stakeholders 
whose needs are balanced against the 
group’s accountability to its shareholders. 
The group subscribes to a policy of open 
and timely communication in accordance 
with the JSE Listings Requirements.

Corporate responsibility
Basil Read is resolutely committed to being 
a responsible corporate citizen in the 
communities and environment in which it 
operates. The group is equally focused on 
maintaining positive relationships with all 
stakeholders, the wellbeing of the 
environment and upholding universal human 
rights. 

We understand that our continued success 
is not just a factor of economic 
performance, but also relates to our 
investment in corporate, social and 
environmental sustainability.

Code of business conduct 
In all our dealings with employers, 
suppliers, subcontractors, stakeholders 
and among ourselves, we at Basil Read 
are committed to upholding the 
principles of:
>  Respect for human dignity, human 

rights and social justice.
>  Non-discrimination.
>  Transparency.
>  Honesty.
>  Fairness.
>  Accountability and responsibility. 

Accordingly, we undertake to:
>  Respect and uphold the laws of the 

countries in which we operate. 
Unethical payments, business dealings 
or participation in fraudulent acts 
such as bribery or asset 
misappropriation will not be 
tolerated.

>  Avoid any potential conflict of interest 
in all our dealings. We will perform 
our duties diligently and to the best of 
our ability, in the best interests of the 
company and all stakeholders. 

>  Refrain from deriving any personal 
advantage from our dealings. We will 
not accept gifts, hospitality or other 
favours which could be considered 
inappropriate or unwise, and which 
could be perceived as placing the 
recipient or the company under some 
kind of obligation.

>  Only use company funds, property 
and assets for legitimate business 
purposes. Improper use of the 
company’s electronic communication 
systems – computer systems, email 
and internet access – will not be 
tolerated. 

>  Respect the dignity of all employees, 
their right to freedom of association, 
to be rewarded fairly and to realise 
their full potential. Harassment of any 
kind, particularly sexual harassment, 
will be severely dealt with. 
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Report of the audit and  
risk committee
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Basil Read is well prepared for a new era of 
regulation and compliance – King III, the new 
Companies Act, various pieces of environmental 
legislation, Consumer Protection Act and others. 
These will all impact on the way we conduct 
business going forward.

Trekkopje Mine – Namibia

Given Sibiya, chairman of the audit and risk committee

The committee is pleased to present its 
report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 as recommended 
by the Corporate Laws Amendment 
Act No 24 of 2006.

The committee’s operation is guided by 
a formal detailed charter that is in line with 
the Companies Act and is approved by the 
board as and when it is amended. The 
committee has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained in that charter.

Objective and scope
The overall objectives of this committee 
are to:
>  Assist the board in discharging its duties 

relating to safeguarding of assets and the 
operation of adequate systems and 
controls.

>  Control reporting processes and the 
preparation of accurate reporting of the 
financial statements in compliance with 
the applicable legal requirements and 
accounting standards.

>  Provide a forum for discussing business 
risk and control issues and developing 
recommendations for consideration by 
the board.

>  Oversee the activities of internal and 
external audit.

>  Perform duties that are attributed to it 
by the Companies Act, the JSE and King II, 
and to monitor the transition to 
compliance with King III.

The committee performed the following 
activities:
>  Received and reviewed reports from 

both internal and external auditors 
concerning the effectiveness of the 
internal control environment, systems 
and processes.

>  Reviewed the reports of both internal 
and external auditors detailing their 
concerns arising out of their audits and 
requested appropriate responses from 
management.

>  Made appropriate recommendations to 
the board of directors regarding the 
corrective actions to be taken as 
a consequence of audit findings.

>  Considered the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditors and 
ensured that the scope of their additional 
services provided was not such that they 
could be seen to have impaired their 
independence.

>  Reviewed and recommended for 
adoption by the board such financial 
information that is publicly disclosed 
which for the year included:

>  The annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2010.

>  The interim results for the six months 
ended 30 June 2010.

>  Considered the effectiveness of internal 
audit, approved the one-year operational 
strategic internal audit plan and 
monitored the adherence of internal 
audit to its annual plan.

The audit and risk committee is of the 
opinion that the objectives of the 
committee were met during the year under 
review. Where weaknesses in specific 
controls had been identified, management 
undertook to implement appropriate 
corrective actions to mitigate the weakness 
identified.

Memberships 
During the 2010 financial year, the 
membership of the committee comprised 
solely independent non-executive directors.

As a result of the death of Ms Ntombekaya 
September in January 2011, Ms Given Sibiya 
was appointed as acting chairman and was 
formally appointed chairman on 24 March 
2011. Given is a chartered accountant with 
20 years of experience in accounting and 
auditing, both internal and external. She is 
considered to be suitably qualified to carry 
out the duties required of chairman. 

Mr Charles Davies continued to serve on 
the committee in the year under review. 
Charles has extensive management 
experience at executive level and continues 
to serve on various boards in a non-
executive capacity.

Mr Sango Ntsaluba was invited to attend 
the meeting of the audit and risk committee 
held on 23 March 2011. Sango is a chartered 
accountant with more than 20 years of 
experience. He was formally appointed to 
the audit and risk committee on 24 March 
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Financial director review
The committee has reviewed the 
performance, appropriateness and 
expertise of the chief financial officer, 
Mr MDG Gouveia, and confirms his 
suitability for appointment as financial 
director in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

Annual financial statements
The audit and risk committee has evaluated 
the annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2010 and considers that it 
complies, in all material aspects, with the 
requirements of the Companies Act and 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
The committee has therefore recommended 
the annual financial statements as set out on 
pages 116 to 201 for approval to the board. 
The board has subsequently approved the 
financial statements which will be open for 
discussion at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

Given Sibiya
Chairman of the audit and risk committee

2011, until such time as a suitably qualified 
independent non-executive director can be 
appointed.

Details of membership to the committee 
can be found on page 70.

External audit
The committee has satisfied itself through 
enquiry that the auditor of Basil Read 
Holdings Limited is independent as defined 
by the Companies Act. The committee, in 
consultation with executive management, 
agreed to an audit fee for the 2010 financial 
year. The fee is considered appropriate for 
the work that could reasonably have been 
foreseen at that time. Audit fees are 
disclosed in note 10 to the financial 
statements.

A formal procedure that governs the 
process whereby the external auditor is 
considered for the provision of non-audit 
services has been incorporated during the 
2010 financial year. Each engagement letter 
for non-audit work in excess of R250 000, 
is reviewed by the committee in advance of 
the commencement of the work. Routine 
work assignments, including auditor letters 
required for tendering purposes, below the 
value of R250 000 are not required to be 
approved by the committee. 

Meetings were held with the auditor where 
management was not present, and no 
matters of concern were raised.

The committee has reviewed the 
performance of the external auditors and 
has nominated, for approval at the annual 
general meeting, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Inc as the external auditor for the 2011 
financial year. In terms of the rotation 
requirements of the Act, Mr JP van Staden, 
the designated auditor for the 2010 audit, 
cannot continue as designated auditor. 
Accordingly Mr FJ Lombard will assume the 
role of designated auditor for the 2011 
financial year, effective from 26 May 2011.

Sustainability continued
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Managing risk in increasingly turbulent 
times 
While the global financial crisis that 
occupied prime position on every risk 
agenda a year ago has abated somewhat, 
similar to an earthquake it continues to 
produce financial tremors and after-shocks, 
reminding us that a slide back into recession 
is possible. Add to this the turmoil in North 
Africa and the Middle East, soaring oil prices, 
global warming causing flooding on a 
massive scale in the southern hemisphere, 
record summer heatwaves and winter 
snowfalls in the northern hemisphere, 
diminishing food and water resources 
causing rioting and protectionism, the 
‘overnight’ dearth of construction projects 
post the 2010 World Cup and the dire state 
of the local building industry, we certainly 
are living in interesting times.

In line with our enterprise and operational 
risk management policy, we continue to 
address our risks from two distinct 
viewpoints – at the enterprise (business), 
and operational (project) level. 

At the enterprise level we categorise our 
risks based on the source:
>  External – these risks evolve from 

outside the enterprise, and we have only 
limited, if any, control over their 
occurrence.

>  Transactional – these risks arise where 
we interact with third parties – 
employers, subcontractors, suppliers. 
We have greater control over the 
occurrence of these risks.

>  Internal – risks that lie in our own 
environment and are of our own making. 
We have complete control over the 
occurrence of these risks. 

Enterprise risk reviews are carried out 
twice yearly. Each identified risk is evaluated 
in terms of probability of occurrence, 

impact on the group, trend since last review, 
actions/controls to manage the impact, risk 
rating after the introduction of the actions/
controls and adequacy of the actions/
controls.

Key risks that we continue to focus on at all 
levels throughout the group are:
>  Negotiated terms and conditions of 

contract that reflect a fair allocation of 
risk between the parties and provide the 
commensurate reward.

>  Management of subcontractors – from 
the time of selection for inclusion in our 
tenders until signature of their final 
account and the rating of their 
performance.

>  A detailed due diligence and risk analysis 
when entering into new markets and new 
countries. 

>  Proper project planning and record 
keeping – these two disciplines are the 
cornerstone for successfully pursuing 
contractual entitlements.

We are entering a new era of regulation and 
compliance – King III, the new Companies 
Act, various pieces of environmental 
legislation including the proposed carbon 
tax, Consumer Protection Act and others 
will all impact on the way we conduct 
business going forward. 

Issues of ethics, corruption, bribery and 
collusion are receiving local and global 
attention, with governments imposing 
far-reaching punitive legislation such as the 
US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the 
new UK Bribery Act. 

In line with our goals for 2010, we have 
appointed a dedicated head of risk and 
compliance to assist the group in 
understanding our regulatory obligations 
and ensuring compliance.

Basil Read again employed Grant Thornton 
to carry out the internal audit function. 
Areas for audit are identified from the 

company risk register.  Audits carried out 
in Basil Read operations in 2010 covered 
business acquisitions, overhead expenditure, 
tendering and estimating, payment 
guarantees, fraud risk assessment, IT general 
controls and IT application. At TWP, audits 
were conducted on the business processes 
of sales and debtors, purchases and payables, 
and payroll. All concerns raised were 
addressed and recommendations 
implemented where necessary. Internal audit 
has not identified any fatal flaws in our 
processes and procedures. 

Given the rapid growth in employee 
numbers, coupled with acquisitions, our 
biggest challenge remains educating and 
training our employees in our policies, 
procedures and practices. 

Tip-offs Anonymous enables our employees 
and stakeholders to report possible 
incidents of fraud or corruption without 
fear of retribution. In 2010, only four calls 
were received, of which only one required 
further investigation. We have benchmarked 
the effectiveness of this service compared 
with other companies carrying out a similar 
business. Awareness of the service in Basil 
Read is rated low, primarily because of rapid 
growth in the workforce. 

In 2011 we will relaunch Tip-offs 
Anonymous through awareness sessions, 
a poster campaign and regular articles in 
the various group newsletters. Studies have 
shown that anonymous tip-off lines are one 
of the most successful means of 
counteracting crime and corruption. 

Theft on site is becoming increasingly 
prevalent. It is usually done on a small scale, 
often involves our own employees and/or 
subcontractors and is uninsurable since the 
value falls within our excess or is only 
noticed during periodic stocktakes. Basil 
Read uses Control Management Services, 
a specialist security company, to investigate 
every incident and to prosecute the people 

Risk and opportunity management
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Each project has its own risk and 
opportunity management plan. Risks and 
opportunities are identified from first 
principles based on a common template – 
physical conditions, contractual/commercial, 
employer/engineer performance, own 
performance, subcontractors and site 
conditions – and the detailed plan 
developed from risks and opportunities 
identified when assessing these six elements. 

The projects report monthly through the 
‘risk radar’ and ‘risk status dashboard’. These 
reports provide a subjective snapshot and 
serve as an early warning of potential 
problems. In addition, the risk management 
plan is reviewed at defined intervals – 
commencement, 20% complete, 50% 
complete and 80% complete.

Basil Read continues its membership of the 
Engineering and Construction Risk Institute 
(ECRI), an initiative started by the World 
Economic Forum. ECRI provides a platform 
for sharing risk management best practices 
across the engineering and construction 
industry. ECRI also provides an introductory 
and advanced course in engineering and 
construction risk management held at 
Stellenbosch University, which targeted 
members of staff attend. All ECRI’s best 
practices and procedures are readily 
accessible on the company intranet. 

In light of the King III recommendation on 
combined assurance, ie using a number of 
internal and external sources to verify that 
the risks facing Basil Read are identified, 
adequately addressed and that suitable 
controls are in place to treat or mitigate the 
risks, we have developed a risk and 
compliance assurance matrix. 

involved, regardless of the relatively minor 
nature of the incident. The success of this 
initiative will be publicised periodically to 
discourage such occurrences and to 
reinforce our zero-tolerance attitude. 

During the year, we issued a gifts and 
benefits policy and register to provide clear 
guidelines to all employees, customers, 
subcontractors, suppliers and service 
providers in dealing with any offer of a gift 
or benefit. Each new employee receives 
a copy and signs acknowledgment of our 
business conduct policy and guidelines. 

Marsh (Pty) Limited, the world’s leading 
insurance broker and risk advisor, serves as 
broker to the Basil Read group. Insurances 
are renewed annually on 1 January. We 
continually review our insurance portfolio in 
light of the company’s growth, changing risk 
profile and global best practice. We are again 
satisfied that our level of cover is 
commensurate with good corporate 
governance and the expectations of our 
shareholders. 

The audit and risk committee meets four 
times a year and continues to provide 
leadership and guidance in risk management 
and governance to the operations of 
the group. 

Operational risk is dealt with on a project- 
by-project basis. Although there may be 
common trends, each project is unique and 
has its own risk profile. We continue to 
place great emphasis on detailed analysis of 
the risks associated with a project at time of 
tender and ascribe to the 70/30 rule as 
postulated by Fluor, “70% of the contributing 
factors as to whether we will have a 
successful or unsuccessful project are 
determined by the time we sign the 
contract. There is never a good time to sign 
a bad deal.” 

Sustainability continued
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Combined risk and compliance assurance matrix

Management-based assurance Independent assurance
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Financial reporting/controls ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Estimating ✓ ✓ ✓

Procurement ✓

Subcontractors ✓ ✓

Legal/commercial ✓

Legal secretarial ✓

Business continuity ✓

Information technology ✓ ✓ ✓

Plant and equipment ✓ ✓ ✓

Health and safety ✓ ✓

Quality assurance ✓ ✓

Environment ✓ ✓

Human resources ✓ ✓

Industrial relations ✓

Insurance ✓ ✓ ✓

Fraud/ethics ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Operations ✓

Strategy ✓ ✓

Special projects ✓ ✓

Goals for 2011
>  King III and Companies Act 2008 compliance across the group.
>  We have held off on implementing an enterprise risk management software programme until our risk management practices are more fully 

embedded in the group. We will revisit this goal in 2011 and introduce the software at the appropriate time.  
>  We will continue our risk-training seminars – aligning our procedures with ISO 31000.
>  Detailed risk management plans developed and kept live on all new projects.
>  Relaunch Tip Off line.
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Sustainability continued

Sunderland Ridge Waste water treatment works
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Highlights

>  Implementing world-class human resources 
practices

>  Considerable improvement in disabling-
injury frequency rate (down from 0,58 in 
2009 to 0,4)

>  Carbon footprint determined for group

Lowlights

>  Missing our safety target, albeit marginally 
(target DIFR 0,3 against actual 0,4)

Basil Read’s business is to build the roads, 
bridges and power stations on which our 
economy and our society depend. Basil 
Read’s impact, however, goes way beyond 
infrastructure. In this section we elaborate 
on the achievements, challenges and 
disappointments of our social and 
environmental performance for the review 
period. 

Construction sector BBBEE scorecard for Basil Read (Pty) Limited

Indicator
Target 

year 0-4
Target 

year 5-7
Actual
2010 Progress

Ownership
Voting rights Exercisable voting rights in the hands 

of black people
27,5% 30% 22,81%

(2009: 31,4%)
Ongoing investigations into prospective 
shareholders.

Exercisable voting rights in the hands 
of black women

10% 10% 0,37%
(2009: 0,38%)

Economic interest Of black people 27,5% 30% 22,81%
(2009: 31,4%)

Of black women 10% 0,37%
(2009: 0,38%)

Of black natural people
>  contractors 10% 0% (2009: 0%)
>  built environment professionals 

(BEPs)
 – black designated groups
 –  black participants in employee 

ownership schemes
 –  black beneficiaries of broad-based 

ownership schemes
 –  black participants in co-operatives

5%

Scope of report
Basil Read’s 2010 annual report integrates 
our economic, social and environmental 
results in South Africa for a group-wide 
understanding. It also sets out the challenges 
and opportunities that lie ahead. 

Although the group is almost six decades 
old, rapid expansion in recent years makes 
data comparability quite challenging in some 
areas. Where practical, we are implementing 
common data standards. In some sections, 
however, readers will find separate 
disclosure on the performance of TWP 
given the nature of its business and different 
stakeholder needs.

Triple bottom-line reporting remains a 
cornerstone of our commitment to 
entrench global best practices in all 
operations. Basil Read therefore reports 
against the most recent guidelines of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (G3), and the 
content of this report is self-declared at 

GRI level C. Once a group-wide reporting 
platform is more mature, this report will be 
externally assured.

Construction sector BBBEE scorecard
As a sector, we believe the implementation 
of the codes of good practice on broad-
based black economic empowerment for 
the construction sector (the construction 
charter) in June 2009 will address 
inequalities in the sector. In time, this will 
unlock potential and enhance growth – for 
the ultimate benefit of the entire South 
African nation.

The charter is a framework for the 
construction sector to address broad-based 
transformation, enhance capacity and 
increase productivity to meet global 
best-practice standards. Its implementation 
will be monitored by the construction 
charter council, which will have executive 
capacity and will provide the necessary links 
to government institutions.

Sustainable development

Basil Read’s business is to build the roads, bridges 
and power stations on which our economy and 
our society depend. Our impact goes way beyond 
infrastructure and is reflected in our ongoing 
commitment to preserving our environment and 
enhancing the lives of our stakeholders.

Sunderland Ridge Waste water treatment works
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Construction sector BBBEE scorecard for Basil Read (Pty) Limited (continued)

Indicator
Target 

year 0-4
Target 

year 5-7
Actual
2010 Progress

Management control

Board participation Exercisable voting rights of black board 
members

40% 47,47% 
(2009: 55,1%)

The group will maintain the level of 
black representation on the board. 
Developing or employing senior black 
management is more challenging; this is 
being addressed by developing staff 
through formal programmes and active 
recruitment of suitable candidates. 
Steady progress is being made.

Top management Black senior management 25% 40% 11,76% 
(2009: 8,23%)

Employment equity

Black employees in senior management 35% 60% 10,4% 
(2009: 6,48%)

Steady progress is being made by 
fast-tracking identified candidates 
through internal development 
programmes. Recruitment policies 
work in tandem with these 
requirements.

Black employees in middle 
management

45% 75% 14,03% 
(2009: 19,43%)

Black employees in junior management 68% 80% 39,2% 
(2009: 44,25%)

Black disabled employees 2% 3% 0% 
(2009: 0%)

Skills development

Expenditure On all employees as percentage of 
leviable amount

1,5% 2,91% 
(2009: 2,8%)

Excellent progress made during the 
year. This included the launch of the 
Basil Read Training Academy (page 90), 
sizeable learnership programme in 
KwaZulu-Natal (page 91) and planned 
implementation of a verified 
mentorship programme.

Black employees 70% 74,03% 
(2009: 51,3%)

Black employees in management 
categories

25% 27,3% 
(2009: 11,4%)

Learnerships Number of learners (learnerships, 
category B, C and D programmes) as 
percentage of total employees

2,5% 8,45% 
(2009: 3,04%)

Black participants in learnerships 70% 85,97% 
(2009: 80,3%)

Black people with disabilities in 
learnerships

5% 0% 
(2009: 0%)

Bursaries Scholarship/bursary expenditure on 
black students (of leviable amount)

0,3% 0,24% 
(2009: 0,34%)

Mentorship Implementation of approved and 
verified programme

Sustainability continued
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Construction sector BBBEE scorecard for Basil Read (Pty) Limited (continued)

Indicator
Target 

year 0-4
Target 

year 5-7
Actual
2010 Progress

Preferential procurement

BBBEE procurement % of total procurement 50% 70% 30,5% 
(2009: 39,6%)

The group has a database of approved 
suppliers and subcontractors, and 
regularly updates its records on their 
BEE status. As empowerment 
throughout the industry improves, we 
expect these levels to increase. 
Ensuring suppliers and subcontractors 
obtain BEE certification is a major 
focus.

% from qualifying small enterprises or 
exempted micro-enterprises

10% 15% 9,61% 
(2009: 12,96%)

% from
suppliers 50% black-owned
suppliers 30% black women-owned 

9% 12% 6,67% 
(2009: 10,36%)

6% 8% 1,16% 
(2009: 2,26%)

Enterprise development

Enterprise 
development 
programme

Compliance with requirements and 
guidelines for enterprise development 
programme

The group has implemented further 
measures to maintain its solid score in 
this category. We are also adding to the 
enterprise development relationships 
already in place. Contributions Average annual value as a % of net 

profit after tax/leviable amount
3% 3,35% 

(2009: >3%)

Socio-economic development

Average annual value as a % of net 
profit after tax/leviable amount

1% 0,52% 
(2009: 1,01%)

A focused committee is responsible for 
maintaining existing relationships with 
sustainable initiatives and identifying 
new projects for support.

As a JSE-listed entity Basil Read has no 
control over trading in its shares, hence the 
drop in black ownership from 31,4% 
to 22,81%.

Basil Read is committed to the 
transformation of the SA construction 
industry to be far more representative of 

the demographics of the country. 
We acknowledge that transformation is 
a journey and not something that can 
be achieved overnight. The critical areas are 
skills development, employment equity and 
management control and we are pleased 
with the improvement shown in these areas. 

The building blocks we put down today will 
form the path to a transformed company in 
the future.

To drive this process within all the Basil 
Read entities a dedicated Transformation 
Performance Monitoring Manager was 
appointed in 2010.
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Sustainability in action 
Developing an integrated human settlement is not a commercial 

venture and must be seen as an investment in the future of South 

Africa.

Basil Read Developments is recognised as the development 

company that puts the citizens of South Africa first. With over 

50 years’ experience installing civil infrastructure in 

townships, this company has consciously focused on 

eradicating informal settlements by implementing the 

government’s Breaking new ground strategy in all its housing 

developments, simultaneously: 

>  Creating employment

>  Accelerating housing delivery

>  Alleviating poverty by creating wealth and fostering 

empowerment

>  Turning settlements into sustainable integrated suburbs.

For over ten years, Basil Read Developments has been 

involved in upgrading and developing new mixed-use, 

sustainable towns in various parts of South Africa. It is 

currently busy with five large-scale, integrated projects, valued 

at R56 billion and involving about 60 000 houses and 250 000 

inhabitants in South Africa’s provinces of Gauteng, Free State 

and Western Cape.

In this sector, we recognise there is no blueprint for 

developing a new town and each development is unique. We 

also acknowledge the constraints faced by local and provincial 

authorities in providing the services and financial contribution 

for which they are responsible. We are working closely with 

government and various financial institutions to remove 

obstacles hampering delivery.

However, we have identified many common factors where 

important lessons have been learned and improvements have 

been incorporated in new developments. Given the clear and 

major constraints for local and provincial authorities to 

provide the services and financial contribution they are 

responsible for, Basil Read is working closely with government 

and various financial institutions to unlock the obstacles 

hampering delivery.

Cosmo City, Gauteng

Cosmo City was initiated by the Gauteng Department of 

Housing and the City of Johannesburg in 1998, and Codevco 

(Basil Read) was appointed as preferred developer in 2000. 

After years of legal objections to the development Basil Read 

eventually broke ground in January 2005, making Cosmo City 

the first mixed-use, fully integrated sustainable housing 

development in South Africa.

Catering to an estimated population of 60 000, Cosmo City 

includes:

>  12 500 mixed housing units (including RDP, finance-linked 

bonded and rental units).

>  Six of 12 planned schools.

>  40 sites for churches, clinics and crèches.

>  43 parks and recreational sites.

>  30 commercial and retail sites.

>  40ha industrial park. 

>  300ha environmental area.

The socio-economic development impact value has been estimated 

at R15,9 billion, including 30 924 jobs, during construction.

Savanna City, Gauteng

Savanna City is a private greenfields development, 35km from 

Johannesburg’s CBD and adjacent to Orange Farm. The farm 

was bought by Basil Read and Old Mutual to develop a 

mixed-use, sustainable and integrated housing development. 

In developing Savanna City, Basil Read would be complying 

with its commitment to the government’s Breaking new ground 

strategy while Old Mutual would be complying with the 

requirements of the financial sector charter.

The scope of Savanna City includes:

>  18 691 units (finance‐linked and bonded).

>  16 schools.

>  Parks, churches/crèches, clinics.

>  Business and retail facilities.

>  Light industrial units.

The socio-economic development impact value of Savanna City is 

estimated at R28,4 billion, providing 54 900 jobs during 

construction.

Malibongwe Ridge, Gauteng

This development is an extension to Cosmo City and will 

incorporate the informal settlement of Itsoseng. It will also be 

a mixed-use, sustainable and integrated development.

The scope of Malibongwe Ridge includes:

>  5 265 mixed housing units. 

>  Schools, parks, clinics, churches and business sites.

The socio-economic development impact value of Malibongwe 

Ridge is estimated at R5,7 billion, providing 11 100 jobs during 

construction.

Sustainability continued
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Garden City New Town, Western Cape

Garden Cities, one of the oldest affordable housing and section 21 companies in South 

Africa, approached Basil Read to jointly develop a mixed-use, sustainable integrated 

housing development on one of its properties in the Western Cape. 

The scope of Garden City New Town includes:

>  14 500 mixed housing units. 

>  Schools, parks, clinics, municipal facilities, churches, business and retail, and light 

industrial facilities.

The financial development value of Garden City New Town is estimated at R5,8 billion, 

employing 53 730 during construction.

Phakisa Estate

In 2007, members of the Free State government visited Cosmo City and requested 

Basil Read to assist with a similar development in that province. Once infrastructural 

issues that are the responsibility of the local municipality have been resolved, the 

scope of the project will include:

>  9 500 mixed housing units.

>  Schools, parks, clinics, municipal facilities, churches, business and retail, and light 

industrial facilities.

4.

1.
3.

2.

5.

1. Cosmo City, Gauteng
 12 500 houses
 60 000 inhabitants

2. Savanna City, Gauteng
 18 691 houses
 76 000 inhabitants

3. Malibongwe Ridge, 
 Gauteng
 5 265 houses/rental rooms
 22 000 inhabitants

5. Phakisa Estate
 9 550 houses
 40 000 inhabitants

4. Garden City New Town,  
 Western Cape
 15 790 houses
 62 000 inhabitants Su
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Sustainability continued

Oom Piet receiving his long service award
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The legend of Oom Piet
Basil Read was founded on family values 

and that culture sets the group apart in a 

modern competitive marketplace. 

Piet Ndabane embodies the spirit of 

family unity that characterises this group. 

Affectionately known by all as 

Oom Piet – a mark of extreme respect 

– this stalwart has served the group for 

50 years, arriving for his first day of work 

on 23 March 1961 as a steel fixer in 

Modderfontein.  A year later he was 

transferred to Alberton, and then moved 

on to the Basil Read workshops, building 

huts that were eventually sent to various 

sites for office accommodation.

By 1965, recognising the singular loyalty 

of this man, Piet was transferred to head 

office, where he became the group 

founder’s assistant – a position he filled 

with pride and distinction until the death 

of Basil Read in 1974. 

Because the early start required to fulfil 

his duties included catching a train from 

home at 03:45 every day, the suggestion 

was made and happily accepted that 

Oom Piet make his home at head office, 

where he has remained ever since. 

For the past 37 years, Oom Piet has 

served various chairmen and managing 

directors. He is the custodian of the Basil 

Read head office complex and although 

he officially retired in 2010 with the 

means to live in comfort anywhere he 

chooses, his choice was to stay with his 

‘family’ – the group that has been home 

for five decades.

Managing growth
Basil Read’s staff complement has risen 
more than eightfold in recent years, in 
tandem with significantly greater legislative 
and reporting requirements. To manage this 
more effectively, human resources processes 
were streamlined in 2010 for improved 
efficiencies and performance, and better 
alignment to the group strategy.  As a result, 
HR management in Basil Read has moved 
from a reactive environment to a proactive 
team focused on partnering with the 
business to strengthen capacity and 
capability. 

As part of this initiative, business partners 
(HRBPs) have been appointed in each 
division with a particular focus on strategic 
HR interventions. This, together with the 
introduction of E-Serve, has been 
implemented to relieve HRBPs and 
managers of time-consuming operational 
issues that result in HR being reactive 
rather than proactive. These HRBPs 
understand the business of the division 
in which they operate and advise the 
management team on all HR-related 
matters, supporting the divisional strategy 
and driving group-wide HR initiatives in that 
division. HRBPs have the full support of the 
centres of excellence, summarised below.

The Basil Read centres of excellence focus 
on remuneration (benchmarking, calibration, 
corporate governance and compliance), 
talent management and development, 
employee relations, expatriate management, 
policy and procedure design, and E-Serve, a 
team dedicated to resolving employee and 
manager queries on pay, benefits, etc. The 
centre, together with the HRBPs, has 
designed and is implementing the talent 
audit process to support talent 

identification and performance management 
and development, from executive level 
through to emerging talent. These processes 
will enable the group to understand, manage 
and enhance the strength of its people, and 
assist managers and employees to map 
individual career paths. The centres will also 
focus on new ways of resolving challenges, 
with particular focus on improved 
communication using various technologies.

Basil Read’s E-Serve is creating an easy and 
convenient platform for employees to 
access information. The employee self-
service system, in its final phase, will:
>  Give our people easy access to past and 

present remuneration information. 
>  Make it possible to apply for leave online. 
>  Allow employees to update personal 

details and create comprehensive CVs 
that can be accessed for tenders, etc. 

>  Through the creation of an online 
performance management system, enable 
employees to set up, in agreement with 
their manager, their performance and 
personal development plan. 

>  Offer online recruitment, internal or 
external.

In addition, as a tool, managers will have 
access to relevant dashboards, salary 
information for their staff as well as 
market-related data – giving them quick 
access to employee information as required. 

This substantial exercise has created a 
world-class, streamlined structure and 
channelled resources into a support service 
that can deliver on all human resource 
objectives as the group works towards its 
ambitious international growth targets.

As a member of the HR Leadership Council, 
run by the Corporate Executive Board, 

Social performance

Our people
Loyal service is a hallmark at Basil Read – in 2010, 
67 employees collectively boasted 1 245 years’ 
service. At the same time, our training and 
development programmes ensure a steady 
pipeline of new talent at every level.

Oom Piet receiving his long service award
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Basil Read has also introduced a three-year 
carpenter apprenticeship programme 
(NQF level 3), partially funded by grants 
from CETA (the construction education and 
training authority) valued at R1,4 million 
over three years. Basil Read will enrol 
15 students as apprentice carpenters, seven 
from KwaZulu-Natal and eight from 
Gauteng, starting in January 2011. 

This supports our firm belief that to provide 
leading construction solutions, efficient 
training and continuous skills development 
is imperative in our sector. Equally, we 
recognise that the future of our industry 
and South Africa’s sustained growth and 
development as global players relies on 
the exchange of skills and transfer of 
accumulated knowledge that comes with 
experience. As such we are fully committed 
to providing access to training opportunities 
for all our employees.

Collectively Basil Read spent 2,91% of 
the leviable amount as defined by the 
construction sector scorecard on training 
and development, well above the 
requirement of 1,5%. In meeting our 
responsibility to transform the workplace, 
we aim to spend over 70% of our annual 
budget on developing the skills of employees 
from previously disadvantaged backgrounds.

Based on the long-standing approach that 
continuous development unlocks individual 
potential, diverse opportunities are 
extended to every member of our group. 
Quality training by accredited providers 
covers a broad range:
>  Executive development. 
>  Management development.
>  Development arising from individual 

development plans.
>  Learnerships.
 –  Artisan training
 –  Foreman development (NQF 4)
 –  Foreman training (NQF 5)
>  Adult basic education and training.
>  Mentorship programmes, on-site 

technical training, international exposure.
>  Continued professional development.

Basil Read’s human resources team has 
access to global knowledge and best-
practice principles. The team is also able to 
communicate with other HR practitioners 
anywhere in the world, particularly in those 
areas where Basil Read has a presence – 
with instant access to legislation in those 
jurisdictions. These will become important 
tools in developing and implementing 
strategic initiatives to achieve our goals 
through rigorous and dedicated teamwork.

We are making steady progress in creating 
an equitable working environment for our 
people and developing their full potential. 
As a group, we committed to playing a role 
in South Africa’s transformation beyond 
legislative compliance; this commitment 
guides our initiatives as we embed 
sustainable development into every facet 
of our business. 

Training and development
Individual development, equality and 
performance-based advancement are the 
cornerstones of our approach to employing 
and maintaining a balanced and highly skilled 
workforce. Accelerated opportunities for 
talented people are steadily eradicating past 
inequalities and ensuring a pool of skills for 
the continued growth of the group.

Operating in a sector where skilled 
individuals are often in short supply, the 
group has embarked on a full-spectrum 
training programme by launching the Basil 
Read Training Academy. Now in its second 
year, the BR Training Academy’s primary 
focus is on technical training, an area of 
significant risk given the already-constrained 
resource availability. The focus is on foreman 
development at NQF 4 level. Participants on 
the three-year programme are sourced 
externally, predominantly from previously 
disadvantaged backgrounds and display 
technical aptitude. On completion of the 
programme, they are appointed to foreman 
positions. 

The recently introduced three-year foreman 
programme (NQF 5) is aimed at those 
already in foreman positions to further 
deepen capacity and provide foremen with 
a recognised qualification. 

The artisan (carpentry) training has also 
started this year. This is a three-year 
programme, with candidates writing trade 
tests on completion. The investment in 
these technical programmes for the period 
exceeds R15 million and will benefit around 
160 participants at its peak. 

In TWP, drawing-office accreditation is 
under way. From 2012, this programme will 
train 25 students per annum, recognising the 
scarcity of draughting staff particularly in the 
mining environment.

Working with our partners, we have 
deliberately focused on addressing the risk 
of high drop-out rates in learnerships. 
We are also using the project to set new 
training standards in the civil and building 
construction industry. As a prerequisite, 
learners must have grade 12 maths, science, 
technical drawing (engineering graphic 
design) and a workshop subject (mechanical 
technology – welding or motor mechanical, 
or civil technology – building, carpentry or 
plumbing). The learnership will include 
intensive theory and very relevant practical 
on-site work experience in a number of 
building and civil construction trades.

The shortage of artisans in South Africa, 
despite the economic downturn, continues 
to have a debilitating effect on growth 
opportunities in our economy. This is 
exacerbated by the fact that some school 
leavers would rather remain jobless than 
enter the ‘blue collar’ field of desperately 
needed artisans. 

Through these learnership programmes, we 
hope to prove that technical high schools 
still have a pivotal role in developing and 
nurturing our country’s future top 
tradespeople.

Sustainability continued
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Foreman development
The student foreman development 
programme is Basil Read’s flagship training 
course for learners who have passed grade 
12. This is a three-year programme, 
preceded by a stringent selection process 
after which students complete three 
months’ theoretical and skills training at the 
beginning of each year. They are then placed 
on various construction sites in group 
divisions to complete their practical training. 
After exposure to all four divisions in their 
first and second years, students can 
specialise in any of the group’s divisions in 
their third year.

While addressing the shortage of middle 
managers in our industry, this course also 
empowers learners in other fields. The first 
two-year programme was completed in 
2009, giving Basil Read 12 new foremen with 
the appropriate skills to deploy on various 
sites. The next intake began in February 
2010 with 15 participants. 

Management development
Management development is ongoing 
through various institutions and focused on 
particular needs.  An executive development 
programme is currently being designed to 
incorporate international best practice and 
thinking. With the roll-out of the talent audit 
process and performance management 
system, further needs will be identified and 
the appropriate development designed and 
implemented over the year ahead.

Skills programmes
During the year, Basil Read gave over 
150 technical high-school graduates from 
KwaZulu-Natal the opportunity to enrol in 
a building and civil construction learnership 
with the Training Force Construction 
Academy in Pietermaritzburg and Durban. 
Candidates were drawn from technical high 
schools in and around Pietermaritzburg and 
Durban, based on the recommendation of 
each school’s life orientation teachers. Basil 
Read will test the top 30 candidates from 
this group to see how many qualify for 

a three-year carpentry apprenticeship or 
the foreman development programme.

In addition to formal training programmes, 
informal skills training takes place among 
communities near our various sites. Most 
recently, this included bricklaying and 
carpentry.

Newport Construction developing 
skills
Given that the continuous transfer of 
skills is fundamental to the sustainability 
and development of the local 
construction sector, Newport 
Construction provided skills training to 
25 of its local employees (around 17,5%) 
and five bursaries, two internal and three 
external.

Bursary programme
The Basil Read bursary programme 
supports a number of students entering our 
fields each year, particularly civil engineering, 
quantity surveying, building and financial 
management.

Basil Read currently has 61 full-time bursary 
students who are required to work on 
various group sites in their mid- and 
year-end vacations. In November each year, 
the students are taken on a roadshow which 
includes a communication course followed 
by visits to major suppliers including 
Corobrik, Wiehahn Formwork, Afrisam 
Ready Mix, Doka Formwork, Rocla Precast 
and Steeldale Reinforcing.  The students 
also participate in team-building events. 
In December the bursary students attend 
a prize-giving, and are joined by the new 
intake of students during the year-end 
roadshow.

Quantity surveyors play an extremely 
important role in this industry, but they are 
becoming a very scarce commodity.  While 
the quantity surveying industry seems to 
attract a large number of black women, the 
challenge appears to be long-term retention 
of these candidates. Basil Read is taking 
steps to encourage people in this direction 
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Sustainability continued

Chris Hani Baragwanath Hospital
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through its bursary programme aimed at 
both universities and technikons, raising 
awareness and on-site training to encourage 
people in the company to become quantity 
surveyors.

Basil Read takes an active interest in the 
progress of each candidate, arranging help if 
required, and providing vacation work so 
students can gain practical experience. 
On completion, graduates are guaranteed 
positions in the group, which ensures our 
skills base is constantly replenished with 
new talent.

In future, students will be visited at their 
universities and technikons to ensure they 
have settled well, establishing whether they 
have the necessary study material, offering 
support, addressing concerns and assessing 
overall wellbeing. At the same time, 
relationships with the various institutions’ 
engineering faculties are being developed to 
ensure ongoing dialogue and that vacation 
work programmes are well understood 
by all. 

Since the launch of Basil Read’s bursary 
scheme, only one person has not completed 
the intended studies after realising he/she 
was not suited to site work. This reflects the 
group’s robust selection process.

Basil Read plant operators
Basil Read has one of the best plant teams 
in the field and this reputation is protected 
by closely monitoring the comprehensive 
training programmes in place for all 
mechanics and plant operators.

Industry initiatives
In 2009, representatives from the 
construction industry met with the 
Department of Education to examine ways 
of addressing skills shortages in the sector 
and uplifting educational standards. The 
industry pledged its involvement in the 
country’s further education and training 
(FET) colleges. 

As part of this commitment, Basil Read is 
working with the Tshwane South College in 
Atteridgeville, Pretoria in support of its 
three-year national certificate (vocational) 
course, which comprises classroom work and 
practical, on-site training. The course carries a 
national qualifications framework (NQF) 
level 4 certification, roughly corresponding to 
junior foreman. Each successful year of study 
is equivalent to one NQF level.

Basil Read provided funding for ten students 
to start this course and takes a group 
of students each year for the practical 
component of the course. Each student 
is assigned to a Basil Read site to gain a 
better understanding of how the theoretical 
knowledge they are acquiring is practically 
applied.

In addition, Basil Read is extending training 
and development into communities through 
a one-year skills development programme 
focused on skills such as bricklaying, 
carpentry, plastering, etc. 

Adult basic education and training
Basil Read has offered formal ABET (adult 
basic education and training) courses for 

Basil Read bursary programme

Discipline Number of candidates Male Female
Civil 26 20 6
Mechanical 4 4 –
Mining 1 1 –
Quantity surveying 14 10 4
Chemical/process 2 1 1
Construction/building 9 5 4
BCom 2 2 –
Social sciences 1 1 –
Accounting 1 – 1
IT 1 1 –
Total 61 45 16

three years now. Working with accredited 
providers, employees and member of the 
communities in which we work acquire 
communication, numeracy and life skills to 
prepare them for learnerships and further 
education and training courses. The courses 
are proving their worth to people with little 
formal primary or secondary schooling as 
well as those who have been out of the 
educational environment for some time.

The ABET programme is currently 
operational at five Basil Read sites. 
Candidates attend classes with an 
accredited facilitator twice each week. 

The following sites have been involved 
to date:
>  Bethal – Seven candidates have 

completed the training.
>  Cosmo City – Six candidates completed 

the training. A new community project 
started in February 2011 at Cosmo City.

>  Park Station – One candidate completed 
the training.

>  Head office – Ten candidates undergoing 
training.

>  Blasting & Excavating – Two candidates 
are completing their training.

Basil Read will consider starting a new 
programme once these sites have all 
completed the course. The ABET course 
duration is 12 months or until the candidate 
is competent.

Chris Hani Baragwanath Hospital
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Sustainability continued

Roadcrete Africa helps trainees give local community 

schools a complete overhaul

What started as a contract requirement specified by the client 

has become a success story that has benefited an entire 

community. 

As Roadcrete Africa nears completion of its Malibongwe (K29) 

dual-carriage upgrade for the Department of Public Works and 

Transport in Randburg, it is also completing a comprehensive 

training programme that has equipped hundreds of local 

community members, previously unemployed, with the skills to 

find long-term employment.

During the training programme, 137 beneficiaries attended and 

57 of these learners have since been employed by Roadcrete. 

The beneficiaries received a stipend for each day they attended 

the training courses and in addition to theoretical training as 

well as practical on-site experience, they were also equipped 

with essential life skills training such as HIV awareness. This 

ensures the safety of the learners and helps them identify a 

long-term career path once training is completed.

The course comprised selected training modules from NQF 

level 1 to 3, including:

>  Applying health and safety at work.

>  Expanded public works programme infrastructure and life 

skills (HIV awareness, financial life skills, environmental 

awareness, first aid).

>  Use and maintain hand tools on a construction site.

>  Computer skills.

>  Landscape maintenance level 1.

>  Garden maintenance module 1.

>  Eradication of intruder plants, brush cutting (mobile).

>  Erect fencing.

>  Erect and maintain guardrails on a road construction site.

>  Construct V-drains.

>  Basic concrete skills, applying (grade III).

>  Shutterhand grade III.

>  Batch and mix concrete by volume (already covered under 

basic concrete skills, applying (grade III).

>  Install manholes and chambers on a civil construction site.

>  Excavate, backfill and compact a trench.

>  Use a small self-propelled compactor to compact material 

(operate a lightweight roller and plate vibrator).

>  Use and maintain small plant and equipment on a 

construction site.

Once the training programme began, it soon became apparent 

that the skills being taught could be put to practical use in the 

community to ensure trainees received thorough practical 

training while helping to benefit others as well. Three local 

schools with dilapidated buildings were selected for this process 

and were soon transformed into far more suitable learning 

facilities. 

Several school buildings received gutter and roof repairs as well 

as plastering work where necessary. In addition, learners were 

able to use their landscaping course to assist in transforming 

the school grounds, planting shrubs and flowers, and turning the 

bushy landscape into a beautiful and welcoming environment for 

learners, staff and visitors to appreciate. 

The Kwena Malopo Crèche received a complete facelift through 

replastering and painting. A signboard was erected and colourful 

gardens established on the school grounds. 

The Blair Athol High School, although in not such disrepair, also 

received a full aesthetic overhaul by establishing new landscaped 

gardens, maintained by the trainees, who have in turn 

transferred their knowledge to school staff.

One of the schools that received the most attention was the 

Kwena Malopo Secondary School, previously surrounded by 

dust and bush, which now boasts beautifully landscaped grounds 

and an irrigation system. The tuckshop, a popular meeting place 

for school learners, received massive repair and plastering to 

mend cracks and damp that had begun to creep into the 

building. Gutters and downpipes were replaced and erected 

throughout the school grounds, and all broken windows and 

panes replaced. The finishing touch was a fresh coat of paint. 

The school principal said the work done was a massive financial 

relief as limited resources have largely prevented repairs for 

the past 15 years.
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Specific and ongoing interventions to ensure 
our group plays a significant role in 
empowerment include:
>  More black directors were appointed at 

operational level in 2010.
>  A number of bursary students employed 

in 2010 are from historically 
disadvantaged population groups.

>  Five of 12 employees graduating from our 
internal accredited management 
development programme were black. 

>  As part of our comprehensive 
development programme, a group-wide 
talent audit will be conducted in 2011.

Enterprise development
Basil Read is making steady progress with 
initiatives focused on enterprise 
development, building on a proven approach 
of identifying and developing suitable 
companies through assistance and 
mentoring. 

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited offers 
quality construction services primarily to 
the North West, Mpumalanga and Limpopo 
provinces. Established in 2003 by Basil Read 
and its empowerment partner, Bokhoma 
Mpha, this 80% black-owned and 100% 
black-managed company is making steady 
progress, with projects reaching the 
R300 million mark in value during the year. 
Its flagship projects include the much-
praised Hlanganani Flats at Cosmo City in 
joint venture with Basil Read for the 
Johannesburg City Council. BR-Tsima’s 
services include construction contracting 
for roads, civil engineering, spatial planning 
and building. It also offers structural 
engineering and design-and-build contracts. 
Recognising the needs of the communities it 
serves, BR-Tsima is involved in various 
social upliftment programmes such as 
township services and socio-economic 
development. 

Roadcrete Africa takes ABET into  

the community

In March 2010, Roadcrete Africa 

celebrated with 42 students who 

completed ABET English and numeracy 

courses across levels 1-4 in December 

2009. The students were a mix of 

Roadcrete employees and residents from 

the local community of Comet.

ABET is a cornerstone of skills 

development and training, in turn one of 

the most critical areas of focus in South 

Africa today. Working with an external 

service provider, Roadcrete Africa has 

ensured its ABET courses are flexible 

and targeted at the specific needs of 

particular audiences. Support of ABET 

is ongoing and staff are continuously 

encouraged to participate.

Industrial relations
Basil Read continues to enjoy sound labour 
relations. At all levels of management, our 
people ensure they understand the 
company’s industrial relations policies and 
procedures, and implement them fairly and 
correctly.

A dedicated employee relations team 
focuses on raising awareness of the 
responsibilities and rights of both employer 
and employee on site. It also disseminates 
information about current trends and 
practices in the field to management. This is 
supplemented by formal courses on 
industrial relations developments and 
legislation to encourage line managers to 
assume greater, but informed, responsibility 
for these issues at site level. 

Black economic empowerment and 
employment equity 
Basil Read fully supports the objectives of 
South Africa’s broad-based black economic 
empowerment act (Act 53 of 2003) and its 
associated codes of good practice. Since 
2009, the group has reported against the 
statutory construction industry scorecard 
(page 84), which shows steady progress in 
most areas.

Basil Read became the first truly black-
owned construction company in South 
Africa in 2005, when over 50% of the 
company was acquired by the Amabubesi 
Investments and Metallon consortium. 
Although Metallon has since divested its 
stake, the latest shareholding analysis shows 
that over 25% of the group is held by black 
shareholders with unrestricted voting rights. 
We are investigating proposals to increase 
this percentage.

The empowerment status of key 
subsidiaries is externally verified each year. 
At present, Basil Read is a level 4 (100%) 
contributor, well placed to participate in 
large contracts for major parastatals and 
state-owned entities. Given our ongoing 
organic and acquisitive growth, we are 
concentrating on consolidating and 
standardising processes to ensure this level 
is sustainable before aiming higher.

We understand, however, that lasting and 
broad-based black economic empowerment 
is a journey. While the group scores well in 
some areas – ownership, preferential 
procurement, enterprise and socio-
economic development – we face industry-
wide challenges in management control, 
employment equity and skills development. 
These are the cornerstones of 
transformation in the local construction 
industry. We trust that the new construction 
charter will support an industry-wide effort 
to accelerate this process.
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Transformation in action

1. Dhanaseelan Pakiri Naidu (35)
S3 Building management and quantity surveying

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 2
Entry position: Estimator
Current position: Estimator

2. Vanessa Duncan (41)
NMP, Project Management (Wits Business School)

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 21
Entry position: Site office manager
Current position: Director: SHEQ, Basil Read Mining; 
Group IT Manager

3. Bernard Melvin Johnson (43)
HR Management diploma

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 23
Entry position: Payroll administrator
Current position: Director: Human Resources

4. Ravikumaran Michael (34)
Diploma: Purchasing and supply chain management; 
Strategic logistics management

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 9
Entry position: Buyer
Current position: Director: Purchasing manager

5. Morwangwato Donald Nkadimeng (28)
BCom Accounting,  A+ PC support technician, 
Programming in VB 6.0

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 
10 months
Entry position: Performance monitoring manager: 
transformation
Current position: Performance monitoring manager: 
transformation

6. Daphne Nyati (43)
National diploma: Human resources, Management 
development programme (GIBS)

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 
9 months
Entry position: Human resources manager: buildings
Current position: Human resources business partner

7. Peter Antony Makaza (31)
National diploma: Civil engineering
Number of years with the Basil Read group: 1 
Entry position: Planning and methods engineer
Current position: Planning and methods engineer

8. Vinesh Moodley (44)
National diploma: Chemical engineering  
(cum laude)

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 3
Entry position: Senior project manager: TWP 
Projects
Current position: Managing director: oil and gas

9. Tshiwo Sibane Yenana (35)
Masters in city and regional planning (UCT)

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 2
Entry position: Development manager
Current position: Executive director: business 
development (KZN office)

10. McDonald Letlhogonolo Tisane (36)
BTech: Cost and management accounting

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 13
Entry position: Junior cost controller
Current position: Senior cost control manager

1. 2.

3.

5.

7.

4.

6.

8.

10.9.

Developing our people to their fullest potential has long been 
a cornerstone of our human resources policies and practices 
because we benefit exponentially when individual potential is 
coupled with motivation and loyalty.
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11. Vinayagam Kumarasamy Moodley (41)
Number of years with the Basil Read group: 22
Entry position: Trainee creditors clerk
Current position: Group cost control director

12. Nillesh Bhima (40)
Number of years with the Basil Read group: 9
Entry position: Financial administrator
Current position: Administration director: buildings

13. Dr Ramchunder Singh (44)
BCom, MBA, DBA

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 
9 months
Entry position: Managing director: BR Energy
Current position: Managing director: BR Energy

14. Malachi Setati (35)
National diploma: cost and management 
accounting

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 9
Entry position: Cost controller
Current position: Financial director: plant

15. Thapelo Mokae (55)
Number of years with the Basil Read group: 21
Entry position: Programmer
Current position: System analyst

16. Yusuf Patel (40)
MSc (Financial economics), MSc (Development 
planning), BSc (Quantity surveying)

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 
8 months
Entry position: Executive director: special projects
Current position: Executive director: special projects

17. Kgomotso Bontle Sekgobela (31)
Number of years with the Basil Read group: 2
Entry position: Executive director: business 
developments
Current position: Executive director: group business 
developments

18. Mohamed Saleem Aziz Joosub (45)
BCompt

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 22
Entry position: Financial director: buildings
Current position: Financial director: buildings

19. Webster Mfebe (51)
Diploma International Trade, IPM Diploma

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 1
Entry position: Executive director: stakeholder 
relations
Current position: Executive director: stakeholder 
relations

20. Mushir Khan (44)
MSc Civil

Number of years with the Basil Read group: 4
Entry position: HOD: Civil department (TWP)
Current position: Executive director (TWP)

21. Nariansamy Dheenadayalan Naidoo 
(62)
Number of years with the Basil Read group: 42
Entry position: Office assistant
Current position: Senior buyer, KwaZulu-Natal

20. 21.

11.

13.

15.

12.

14.

16.

19.17.
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Rössing Uranium Mine
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Strategy, risk, performance and sustainability 
are inseparable in the modern business 
environment. A renewed focus on good 
corporate citizenship and governance, 
increased scrutiny by providers of project 
capital, the expansion of directors’ fiduciary 
duties and the need to embed risk in 
business decisions and processes have made 
implementing an integrated enterprise risk 
management process a business priority. 

For Basil Read, safety is both a core element 
and a strategic imperative. The group’s 
robust safety/health/environment/quality 
system is both a guide and measurement 
tool to achieving set standards in each of 
these areas. We are steadily integrating 
disparate systems across the group after 
a period of rapid organic and acquisitive 
growth. 

Safety processes in action across the group
The sophisticated safety framework in place at TWP has delivered significant benefits in recent years, including industry-leading safety 
performance.

TWP Projects LTIFR
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Mining

In Basil Read Mining, annual SHERQ objectives are signed for all senior management and used as the benchmark for performance evaluation. 
These extend beyond actual safety statistics to task observations, audit results, near-miss reporting and safety interactions, among others.

The mining division implemented safety stand-downs at two sites during the year to address the rate of incidents. This intense focus 
contributed to improved LTIFR results at both Jwaneng and Rössing. 

We have incorporated risk management 
into the safety, health and environment 
division, aligning our governance processes 
with the recommendations of King III and 
reinforcing our commitment to an 
integrated approach focused on zero harm. 

We believe that all workplace injuries and 
illnesses are preventable. This is driven by:
>  An uncompromising commitment to zero 

harm.
>  Active involvement of all stakeholders.
>  Continuous improvement of our systems, 

procedures and standards.
>  Applying industry best practice.
>  Continuously training and developing our 

people on risk and safety awareness.

The group applies a ‘do it right first time’ 
principle on every project, with the SHERQ 
system functioning as the procedural tool 

Safety and health

For Basil Read, safety is as much a core element 
as a strategic imperative. The group’s robust safety, 
health, environment and quality system is both a 
guide and measurement tool to achieving set 
standards in each of these areas.

Rössing Uranium Mine

during project management. As such, Basil 
Read fully complies with the requirements 
of the International Standards Organisation 
(ISO) and the relevant SHE legislation, 
ie Occupational Health and Safety Act, 
Mine Health and Safety Act, National 
Environmental Management Act, etc.

All controls and procedures are formalised 
against a comprehensive quality and safety 
management system, and certified under the 
following international and national 
accreditations: ISO 9001:2008, OHSAS 
18001:2007 and ISO 14001:2007.

The implementation of the annual SHERQ 
plan for the group is closely monitored 
through monthly feedback to the CEO and 
directors. Any identified shortcomings are 
immediately addressed and incorporated as 
goals for continual improvement.
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Sustainability continued

Foggy conditions, rain showers, lighting and temperature 
extremes all impact adversely on construction operations. In fact, 
the Highveld area experiences some of the most turbulent 
weather conditions in South Africa. The problem lies in the 
surprise element – a cold snap when stabilising a road or 
unexpected winds during chip and spray result in the loss of 
work in progress and productive time. Rain showers and storms 
also cause havoc with intraday operations – making some kind of 
warning system invaluable to operations.

Basil Read is using a weather safety and risk management portal 
on a number of its road projects to minimise the exposure of 
people and equipment to the effects of disruptive weather. This 
was piloted on the D1 and D2 project with recurring benefits. 

Provided by Weather Intelligence Systems, in conjunction with 
the South African Weather Service, the portal gives sites detailed 
and advanced forecasts of weather conditions in a 15km radius. 
This enables sites to optimise daily operations according to 
expected weather conditions, improve safety and enhance 
productivity under prevailing circumstances.

Roads division invests in weather-warning technology
The system has accuracy levels of up to 95% and can describe 
impending weather per hour for the next two days on a specific 
site. It also provides decision-support information to manage 
risks associated with mist, fog, rainfall, extreme temperature and 
other weather elements through two easy-to-access methods.

Information messages are sent (via sms) to specified staff on site, 
alerting them to dangerous conditions and allowing them to 
optimise any at-risk work ahead of weather conditions. 

Comprehensive information is also provided through a 
web-based portal and is accessible to a number of employees via 
their computers. This includes the current and future position of 
storms as well as an hourly forecast for the next 48-hour period.

Basil Read is using the system to plan weather-sensitive activities 
in the coming period and to avoid losses due to rain. Another 
significant benefit is that it has increased the safety of employees 
and reduced the number of incidents on site.
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84,6%, and legal compliance audits an 
average of 87%. The target for 2010 has 
been set at 90% for group audits and 100% 
for legal compliance audits.

Basil Read’s history of compliance 
underscores our commitment to a working 
environment that does no harm:
>  In 1998, we were one of the first local 

construction companies to be certified to 
ISO 9001:1994.

>  In 2003, Basil Read was the first local 
construction company to achieve 
ISO 9001:2000 certification.

>  Also in 2003, we were assessed and 
certified as meeting the requirements of 
OHSAS 18001:1999.

>  In 2009, Basil Read successfully 
completed its reassessment on 
ISO 9001:2008 and OHSAS 18001:2007 
certification with NQA, an international 
certification body. The group was 
certified to ISO 14001:2007 standards, a 
global environmental benchmark of best 
practices.

To ensure continuous improvement, 
resident engineer and employer 
questionnaires are completed for all sites. 
The responses received, coupled with 
results from internal and external group 
audits, reinforce the benefits of an 
integrated system and group-wide 
commitment to implementing the SHERQ 
system. 

Safety training
Ongoing induction and training on the 
SHERQ management system ensures all 
employees, particularly new employees, 
understand and can meet their 
responsibilities. In addition, an induction 
DVD is distributed to all sites. This greatly 
reduces time spent on the induction 
process and frees our safety personnel to 
focus on areas where they can add more 
value.

Legal compliance, subcontractor 
management and risk assessment training is 
continually provided to all project managers, 
supervisors and foremen to ensure clear 
understanding of their legal responsibilities.

Safety
The driving force behind project delivery, 
teamwork, operational discipline and overall 
business excellence in Basil Read’s 
operations is SHERQ (safety, health, 
environment, risk management and quality).

In the past two years, a strong drive by 
project managers, divisional managers and 
executive directors to reduce the number 
of incidents and accidents, coupled with 
continuous training, has paid off in a 
disabling-injury frequency rate (DIFR) of 
0,58 in 2009 dropping by nearly 30% to 
0,4 in 2010. While this falls short of the 
target set at 0,3 for the review period, 
we believe this is encouraging progress. 

Understanding that over 90% of all 
accidents are caused by human behaviour, 
decreasing at-risk behaviour is key in our 
group. Equally, we believe behaviour-based 
safety is not a programme, it is a process. 
Because we are serious about continually 
reducing work-related injuries, our focus is 
on making safety a way of life.

This approach requires a systematic 
attitudinal change that puts safety 
uppermost in every employee’s mind, 
reinforced by peer support and evaluation, 
and a full-time behaviour-based safety 
champion to ensure a smooth roll-out of 
the programme. In addition, full-time 
SHERQ practitioners are part of the 
management team in each division, assuring 
Basil Read clients of the highest levels of 
quality and professionalism on each project.

Basil Read’s zero-harm approach is 
promoted both from the top down and 
bottom up throughout the company. 
Wherever possible, safer practices are 
continually adopted and lessons learnt 
shared across the group.

The zero-harm approach extends to our 
subcontractors. After refining the relevant 
processes to ensure that all subcontractor 
documents and competencies are 
thoroughly vetted before contracts are 
awarded in 2009, we reinforced this by 
introducing the permit-to-work system in 
2010. Both the project manager and site 

safety manager must sign off that any 
subcontractors are both legally compliant 
and have the necessary competencies prior 
to starting work.

Tragically, the group recorded four fatalities 
at road sites during the year, three of which 
were directly attributable to incorrect 
behaviour:
>  An employee was being transported on 

the back of a truck which collided with an 
excavator. The impact threw the 
employee off the back, causing fatal 
injuries.

>  An employee was crushed when caught 
between a container and a reversing 
truck, not being operated by the 
authorised driver.

>  A subcontractor employee did not use 
access scaffolding to climb down from an 
elevated slab. He was fatally injured when 
he lost his balance and fell through an 
opening in the slab.

>  A flag lady was killed when a motorist 
ignored temporary delineators and drove 
at speed into the demarcated work area. 

The loss of even a single life is unacceptable 
and zero remains the only target. In every 
case, a full internal inquiry was conducted, 
a portfolio of evidence collected and 
a report lodged with the Department 
of Labour.

Where required, risk assessments were 
amended and new processes introduced. 
Group sessions were held to communicate 
results to employees and to share lessons 
learnt. To support this level of 
communication, the SHERQ department 
issues news flashes:
>  Incident – a serious injury has occurred 

on a Basil Read site.
>  Safety alert – a minor injury/incident/

near-miss has occurred.
>  Good news flash – highlighting 

achievements.

Compliance
Statutory and internal compliance is 
monitored monthly through legal 
compliance audits, internal and group audits. 
Against a target of 85% compliance, the 
safety group audits recorded an average of 
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Basil Read Civils exceeds three million hours without injury 

In October 2010, Basil Read’s civils division passed the prestigious milestone of 

three million hours without a lost-time injury (LTI) on Transnet’s multi-billion rand 

Port of Durban upgrade.

This record achievement has been accruing since 2006 through several Basil Read 

projects associated with the port upgrade: infrastructure works, upgrading Pier One, 

truck staging area, car terminal and the upgrade of Pier Two. Basil Read’s prior 

benchmark was two million LTI-free hours on a project for BHP Billiton in Richards 

Bay.

When group teams started on the port upgrade in 2006, they brought detailed and 

tested safety systems, but quickly had to familiarise themselves with issues such as 

hot work permits, ventilation in confined spaces and double-lanyard and fall-

protection for working at heights, which were required at the time by the client. They 

also had to manage the legal liabilities and responsibilities involved in complying with 

Transnet’s safety requirements.

This required new and detailed training for the Basil Read team, using benchmark 

programmes such as IRCON construction and safety training, HIRA (hazard 

identification risk assessment) and legal liability. Once senior personnel training and 

strategic planning had been completed, site staff were trained in the new safety 

culture. Daily reinforcement ensured all team members and site subcontractors 

understood the safety requirements.

Securing the commitment of subcontractors to these high-level safety measures was 

more challenging and protracted, but resolved by a dedicated budget to cover 

elements such as entry/exit-level medicals, personal protective equipment and a 

full-time safety officer.

With this milestone, the Basil Read civils team has set the standard for how safety 

should be implemented, monitored and maintained to ensure a safe working 

environment on such a massive and diverse project. Through a continuous process of 

learning, the next target is four million LTI-free hours by April 2011.

Sustainability continued
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>  Group carbon footprint determined 
during the year.

>  Solar panels at head office generated a 
portion of the group’s energy needs and 
saved carbon dioxide being emitted into 
the atmosphere.

Understanding the direct and indirect 
impact of construction activities on our 
environment, we again made solid progress 
in environmental management during the 
review period. The global standards in place 
at Basil Read are reflected in our ISO 14001 
accreditation, which was confirmed early 
in the review period. 

In recent years, environmental 
considerations have become far more 
important in planning projects. While Basil 
Read’s clients are responsible for completing 
the mandatory environmental impact 
assessments and developing an appropriate 
environmental management plan, we 
supplement the client’s plan with our own 
stringent framework to ensure the best 
possible environmental practices on each 
site.

Basil Read has also proactively developed an 
environmental checklist, based on ISO and 
OHSAS standards, for all tenders. In 
addition, we have our own environmental 
management plans for specific group 
developments such as St Micheil’s.

During the year, Basil Read received no fines 
for non-compliance in any of its operations. 
No major spills were recorded at any of 
our sites.

Carbon footprint for Basil Read group
In 2010, the group initiated an independent 
assessment of its baseline carbon footprint. 
This was compiled according to 
ISO 14064-1 standards, as well as the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol guidelines  
(www.ghgprotocol.org), and covered 
only activities over which Basil Read has 
control. By applying these principles, the 
GHG inventory constitutes a true and 
fair representation of the company’s 
GHG emissions.

Health
Basil Read has had a health monitoring 
programme in place since 2006 to ensure 
all employees are fit and healthy for their 
specific roles and responsibilities. Regular 
medicals are conducted on site by a 
professional third party to ensure no 
employees are exposed to harm.

In 2009, we expanded entry and exit 
medicals for all group and subcontractor 
employees to develop a clear understanding 
of the key occupational health risks faced by 
our group, which include:
>  Noise-induced hearing loss.
>  Vibrating equipment.
>  Dust.
>  Substance abuse.
>  Vision impairment (particularly stress-

related).
>  Fatigue.

Specific programmes are in place to address 
these risks, from enforced rest periods to 
counter the effects of fatigue to six-week 
suspension periods with counselling before 
retesting in the case of identified substance 
abuse.

HIV/Aids
Acknowledging the seriousness of HIV/Aids 
in the workplace and in our operating areas, 
the Basil Read group is working towards 
being a model in the marketplace. This 
includes positively influencing customers, 
suppliers and competitors in their response 
to this challenge.

HIV/Aids awareness in Botswana
The Basil Read mining team and its joint 
venture partner, Bothakga Burrow, 
initiated a very successful HIV/Aids drive 
at its site at Jwaneng Mine in Botswana 
in August 2010. Client Debswana Mining 
Company helped by organising more 
qualified HIV counsellors and staff to 
assist with the testing process. What 
started out as a one-day initiative soon 
escalated into a week-long HIV 
awareness campaign beyond the site into 
surrounding communities.

Testing and counselling were followed by 
motivational discussions from peer 
educators and an awareness drive in the 
greater community. 

Based on the success of this campaign, 
the team is discussing plans for similar 
future initiatives. 

Objectives in 2011
>  Adopting international reporting 

standards.
>  Continuous improvement of the SHERQ 

management system.
>  Compliance with the Basil Read safety 

and environmental legal audit results of a 
minimum 100%.

>  Compliance with the Basil Read SHERQ 
management system group audit results 
of a minimum 90%.

>  Resident engineer assessments – 
minimum 90% per site.

>  Client assessment – average 90% per site.
>  Entrench behaviour-based safety.
>  A safety DIFR of less than 0,3.
>  Improving subcontractor compliance with 

Basil Read’s SHERQ requirements.

Environment
Highlights
>  Basil Read received its ISO 14001 

accreditation end 2009.
>  TWP received ISO 14001 accreditation in 

March 2011.
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With this carbon footprint baseline now 
determined, the group will evaluate all 
available options for reducing emissions. This 
will be reported in future.

SprayPave
As a responsible organisation, SprayPave 
strongly supports environmental best 
practices, and is committed to ongoing 
research that will replace products 
traditionally used by the road-surfacing 
industry to meet all international 
guidelines and legislation. 

SprayPave is also a member of the 
Southern African Bitumen Association 
(Sabita) – a body of representatives that 
encourages best practice in the use and 
application of bituminous materials, 
employee safety, environmental 
conservation and continuous education 
and training.

TWP Energy
Given its active participation in the 
energy sector, TWP Energy is well versed 
in the complexities of the carbon market. 
This experience ensures that the 
potential benefits of the clean 
development mechanism (CDM) are 
incorporated early into relevant projects 
to secure the maximum possible 
advantage for that project and its 
stakeholders.

Projects on which Basil Read was a 
subcontractor were excluded, as these 
carbon footprints depend on client 
specifications, and vary substantially from 
project to project.

In line with international best practice, data 
was collected on direct emissions (scope 1), 
energy indirect emissions (scope 2) and 
other indirect (scope 3) emissions. Direct 
emissions are those from sources owned or 
controlled by the company. Indirect GHG 
emissions are the consequence of the 
company’s activities but occur at sources 
owned or controlled by another company. 
While the boundaries of scope 1 and 2 
emissions are clearly defined, scope 3 
presents more of a challenge. This additional 
voluntary disclosure requires surveying an 
organisation’s entire supply chain, as well as 
those of its suppliers. Basil Read elected to 
include scope 3 emissions in its carbon 
footprint in the interests of accurate and 
transparent reporting.

We also elected to adopt the conservative 
approach of excluding the carbon dioxide 
absorbed by vegetation on areas either 
owned by Basil Read or site rehabilitation. 
Given the extensive tree-planting activities 
of our developments division, this may 
become pertinent in future years.

Our baseline carbon footprint quantifies 
and reports emissions association with the 
following activities:
>  Scope 1: fossil fuel consumption – diesel, 

petrol.
>  Scope 2: use of national grid electricity.
>  Scope 3: business travel (road and air).

The 2009 baseline carbon footprint was 
calculated at 76 736 tonnes CO2-e, with an 
emissions intensity of 16,46 tonnes CO2-e/
R1 million revenue. Calculating the 
emissions intensity will enable better 
comparison with future years’ footprints.

The breakdown of emission sources is 
shown below. Given the dominance of 
surface mining and roads and earthworks 

in group operations, the entities with the 
highest emissions are our roads division 
(49%) and Roadcrete (18%).

Overall emission scopes and emission sources 
of Basil Read

All emissions

90%

5% 5%

Scope 1
Scope 2
Scope 3

Emission sources – Scope 1 and 2

94%

6%

Diesel
Petrol
Electricity

Sustainability continued
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Objectives in 2011
>  Sites will complete a sustainability report 

each month to assist in managing our 
carbon footprint. The report will provide 
detailed information on waste disposal, 
recycling, use of resources (water, 
electricity, fuel), environmental incidents/
achievements and community initiatives.

>  In 2011 this report will become 
web-based, allowing the data to be 
analysed in various ways for more 
meaningful feedback and reports. 

Quality
Group audits were again conducted on the 
Basil Read QA system based on the new 
requirements of ISO 9001:2008. To ensure 
accurate results, these audits were 
conducted throughout the year. Against a 
target of 90% compliance, the quality group 
audits recorded an average of 88%.

Based on collated results, the elements that 
are well managed are:
>  Managing resources.
>  Planning and monitoring financial 

resources.
>  Process planning. 
>  Control and calibration of inspection, 

measuring and testing equipment.
>  Document and data control.

Elements that require further attention 
include:
>  Implementing a system to identify 

personnel competency.
>  Documenting and communicating 

responsibility and authority of all 
personnel. 

>  Inducting all new group personnel on the 
SHERQ system, prior to starting work.

>  Controlling subcontractors (supervision 
and planning).

>  Sites need to train personnel on the 
effectiveness of in-process inspection and 
completion of inspection records (with 
involvement of senior group personnel).

>  Making more effective use of corrective 
and preventative actions. 

Objectives in 2011
>  Basil Read Mining aims to obtain 

ISO 9001 and OHSAS 18001 certification.
>  Roadcrete aims to obtain ISO 9001 and 

OHSAS 18001 certification.

Renewable energy making a difference 

Basil Read demonstrated its commitment to energy conservation by installing a 

R2,3 million solar energy system at its head office in Boksburg late in 2009. The 

photovoltaic solar system feeds power into the company’s grid distribution network 

and provides up to 20% of the head office energy requirements, reducing its need for 

energy from fossil fuels.

Covering 85% of the plant department building, the solar array spans about 352m² 

and has a peak capacity of 43,2kW. 

Figures from the Department of Energy indicate that most areas in South Africa 

average more than 2 500 hours of sunshine a year, with average daily solar-radiation 

levels of 4,5-6,5kWh/m². The annual 24-hour global solar radiation average is about 

220W/m² for South Africa, compared with about 150W/m² for parts of the US, and 

about 100W/m² for Europe and the UK, making South Africa’s local resource one of 

the highest in the world.

In terms of a calculation conducted on the expected peak sun hours in the Boksburg 

area, the annual amount of power that will be generated from the Basil Read system 

is 99MWh, depending on meteorological conditions. For the same quantity of energy 

to be generated using coal-fired electricity, it would require 55,5t of coal and 

142,5 kilolitres of water, resulting in 99 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions, sulphur 

dioxide emissions of 861kg and nitrogen oxide emissions of 435kg.

The system is linked to software that sends data to a display in the building’s 

reception area. This provides real-time information on the amount of power being 

generated by the system, total electricity generated since installation, as well as how 

much carbon dioxide has been displaced since the project was commissioned.

Basil Read’s solar energy system is in line with the government’s strategy of installing 

10 000GWh of renewable energy capacity by 2013. Once government has finalised 

legislation on independent power producers and the related power-purchase 

agreements, we believe there is great potential for growth in the use of solar-

powered systems, both by businesses and private residences.
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Sustainability continued

Basil Read Developments Green Projects, Cosmo City



107

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
re

po
rt

COPY TO 

COME

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

Corporate social investment

Basil Read remains committed to enhancing the 
quality of life of both the people we employ and 
those living in communities touched by our 
operations. 

Basil Read Developments Green Projects, Cosmo City

Go for Gold
After much consideration, and with a deep understanding of the urgent need to develop a healthy skills pool in the construction 

environment, Basil Read selected the Go for Gold initiative. 

Go for Gold was launched in 1999 to address the scarcity of suitably equipped candidates from disadvantaged communities to enter 

the built environment. It has grown steadily since then into an independent non-profit organisation and section 21 company, aiming to 

be the preferred supplier of skilled individuals to the construction sector by developing students and facilitating their careers in 

construction.

The programme comprises four integrated phases. In phase 1, grade 11 and 12 pupils attend regular tutorials for mathematics, science, 

life skills and computer skills. Phase 2 involves a one-year job shadowing/internship, incorporating essential bridging programmes. 

In phase 3, students complete tertiary education or learnerships in preparation for their careers, and phase 4 is the start of permanent 

employment. 

At each phase, the programme addresses the critical skills needed to progress to the next phase. In this way, requirements at entry, 

intermediate and advanced levels are aligned with the needs of both participants and the company that will ultimately employ them. 

The programme is unique and innovative in that it does not focus exclusively on hard skills, but incorporates other key success factors 

such as life skills, communication training and mentoring. The programme ethos is to instil a sense of self-worth and the belief that 

success is within the reach of every student.

All beneficiaries are black youth and, at any point, at least 50% are women. Most candidates enter the programme with a low sense of 

self-worth and self-belief, often coming from communities where they are surrounded by social decay, gang activities and substance 

abuse. 

Through Go for Gold, the beneficiaries begin a journey that will culminate in qualifications and permanent employment, enabling them 

to become role models in their communities and at their schools. They are, in most cases, the first in their families to have permanent 

employment. 

In 2010, the broader Basil Read group contributed over R1 million to Go for Gold, benefiting some 400 young people.
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We believe that for corporate social 
investment (CSI) to be truly effective in 
making a lasting and meaningful difference 
to the lives of underprivileged people 
and to the overall economic well-being of 
the country, it needs to be well-managed 
and underpinned by the principle of 
sustainability.

To ensure our initiatives fulfil real needs, 
a dedicated committee identifies projects 
that are sustainable and reflect the values 
of our group.

To ensure CSI initiatives are aligned with the 
group’s strategy, Basil Read has partnered 
with GreaterCapital in identifying an 
industry-aligned flagship organisation into 
which Basil Read, Blasting & Excavating, 
Roadcrete Africa and SprayPave can channel 
resources (see Flagship initiative). 
GreaterCapital is a not-for-profit social 
enterprise in the GreaterGood group, 
focused on providing specialist services 
to the social investment sector. Its goal 
is to develop a vibrant culture of 
responsible giving and social investment 
in South Africa where communities are 
sustainably developed by a professional 
and well-resourced civil society and 
supported by engaged and committed 
individual and corporate citizens.

Skills development
During the year, Basil Read also contributed 
to Nurcha, which helps emerging 
contractors develop their skills in managing 
and completing construction projects, and 
grow their construction businesses. The 
intention of the project was to facilitate 
the transition from subsistence emerging 
contractor status, to successful, black-
owned construction companies. 

In addition to its flagship initiative and focus 
on skills development, at group level, Basil 
Read continued to support a number of 
other projects throughout the year, 
primarily in health and education. 

Sustainability continued

Cosmo City’s Hlanganani Gardens nominated for SAPOA award
The Hlanganani Gardens residential housing project, in the heart of Cosmo City, received 

a special nomination for the 2010 SAPOA Awards for Innovative Excellence in Property 

Development. This affordable and adaptable housing project, for which Basil Read 

Developments was the project manager and BR-Tsima the main contractor, was another 

groundbreaking residential scheme completed for the Johannesburg Housing Company. 

According to SAPOA, the design of the environmental aspects of this development was 

intensively workshopped with all members of the professional team. Alternative materials 

and products were carefully considered before agreeing on the ideal ones. A guiding 

criterion of the project was to avoid some of the challenges currently being experienced 

in the social housing sector – a critical one being the adoption of environmental solutions 

and methodologies to attenuate design defects that have manifested themselves in similar 

projects. Various environmentally friendly materials and products were explored and 

installed in Hlanganani Gardens, while keeping end-users and their wishes in mind.

Total community involvement was an integral part of the process; subcontractors were 

sourced from the local community, and required to verify their BEE status as well as 

ownership details. As such, it was also possible to create employment for further 

community empowerment.

Without compromising structural stability, different mixes of bricks, roof tiles and other 

materials were used. The community centre serves as an area where a computer centre 

can be established and regular community meetings held. The attenuation dam doubles up 

as a sporting facility, and can be developed into future tennis and basketball courts.



109

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
re

po
rt

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

>  Zweliyakhanya Development Trust – Basil Read contributed to a 
career day to expose rural learners from the Tsojana, Tsomo and 
surrounding villages to the range of opportunities available. 

>  National Health Laboratory Services – funded bursaries for six 
grade 12 historically disadvantaged students, as well as funding 
research for historically disadvantaged students seeking honours 
and masters qualifications.

Rural development
Through a building project initiative at the Skilpadhoek border post 
in Zeerust, Basil Read assisted the Gopane tribe, which controls the 
area, by upgrading tribal offices and adding a boardroom and toilet 
block to the existing tribal administration offices structure. The tribal 
offices are used as a central meeting/contact point for members of a 
tribe that numbers some 600 000. The centre therefore also brings 
community members into the mainstream economy by serving as a 
hub for liaison, information and meetings. 

Other activities
>  Western Cape Firefighters Association – contributed funds 

towards airfares, accommodation, kit and registrations for a team 
of 45 firefighters competing in the World Firefighter Games in 
South Korea. 

>  Business Against Crime South Africa – assists government in 
developing strategies to combat crime by mobilising and deploying 
appropriate business resources and skills to co-ordinate anti-
crime initiatives. 

Health
>  Sparrow Ministry – provides aid and comfort to adults and 

children infected or affected by HIV/Aids. Sparrow Village is both a 
hospice for the terminally ill and home to children who have lost 
one or both parents to the pandemic. It currently cares for 
285 children and 156 adults.

>  East Rand Children’s Fund – assists abused or abandoned children 
(newborn to 18 years) with safe accommodation, food parcels, 
clothing, and blankets. The fund also assists street children with 
regular daily meals through soup kitchens. 

>  Hosanna Community Centre – provides a number of essential 
services that make a real difference in the lives of under-privileged 
people, including soup kitchens.

>  Walter Sisulu Paediatric Foundation – the largest single 
philanthropic paediatric cardiac centre, besides Egypt, in Africa. It is 
dedicated to ensuring that underprivileged children in Africa get 
the corrective cardiac intervention they need irrespective of their 
ability to pay for it. 

Education
>  Girls & Boys Town – provides care and development through 

residential programmes for youths of any race, creed and gender 
who range from underprivileged, deprived, abused and neglected 
to those regarded as difficult to manage and ‘at risk.’ The 
organisation operates eight projects countrywide, caring daily for 
200-300 school-going youth in the 9-18-year bracket. 

>  Kingsway Centre of Concern – Thandanani House of Refuge is 
next to the Zandspruit informal settlement and home to abused, 
orphaned and HIV children from surrounding areas. 
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Sustainability continued

by 2011. These academies will not just be driven by soccer, but 
provide education, life skills development and instil moral values 
in South Africa’s next generation.

AIS-SA is also working closely with the South African Department of 
Correctional Services to set up associated Hope Academies in 
prisons. The academy selects players based on behaviour and soccer 
ability, and runs an intensive one-year programme. Through these 
Hope Academies, AIS-SA aims to eradicate the gangsterism, 
hopelessness, violence and abuse that characterise the lives of many 
prisoners.

The broader group
Basil Read subsidiaries also have active CSI programmes under way. 
In most cases, these are targeted at specific needs in local 
communities.

Newport Construction
>  Emmanuel Haven, Motherwell, Port Elizabeth. For the past two 

years, Newport Construction has been actively involved with this 
project which was established primarily to assist the growing 
number of adults and children in the local community who have 
been infected or adversely affected by HIV/Aids. 

  The company provides financial support to Emmanuel’s Haven by 
paying the salaries of the clinic matron and administration clerk, 
and employees are encouraged to become involved in their 
personal capacities. The result is a growing relationship between 
Newport Construction and Emmanuel’s Haven that will be 
continued well into the future. 

>  Newport Construction has been involved in a high number of 
HIV/Aids education and awareness campaigns since its inception in 
2003. For the past three years, these campaigns have been 
extended to all the staff at Newport Construction as well as 
employees involved in the Coega Industrial Development Zone. 

>  Newport has supported the Take a Girl Child to Work Day 
initiative since 2004, and has hosted many learners from local 
schools such as Uitenhage High School. 

Roadcrete Africa
>  Boksburg Child Welfare – Roadcrete Africa’s regular support 

contributes towards the nutritional needs of the children as well 
as stipends for a number of teachers who volunteer at the 
organisation. The aim of Boksburg Child Welfare is to provide two 
balanced meals per day to all of its programme participants, and to 
give children the opportunity to further their development 
through its Educare programme. 

>  The CHOC cows have done a phenomenal job in raising 
donations for CHOC (Childhood Cancer Foundation). What 

>  Nourish the Children, Hunger & Thirst and Nuskin South Africa 
– a combined initiative that provides feeding schemes and boosts 
immunity levels in primary-school children, in turn creating 
opportunities to improve adult lives through education, jobs and 
teaching self-sufficiency. 

>  St Joseph Church – contributed funds to extending a church 
building for parishioners from historically disadvantaged 
backgrounds. 

Ambassadors In Sport
Basil Read is a partner in Match for a Day, an annual 24-hour soccer 
event developed by Ambassadors In Sport South Africa (AIS-SA) with 
key partners from the worlds of football, business and media. Several 
high-profile football stars have offered their support for these events.

The broader programme has a dual objective: holistic development 
of young people through sport, particularly those from disadvantaged 
communities, and raising funds to assist with AIS-SA’s community 
programmes.

AIS-SA is part of Ambassadors In Sport International and was 
founded in Cape Town in 2001 to ‘bring hope through soccer’. 
As a faith-based, non-profit, public-benefit organisation, AIS-SA 
endeavours to partner with church groups and other NGOs in 
communities across South Africa and into Africa, helping them 
develop the world of soccer from grassroots to professional ranks. 
AIS-SA has pioneered several soccer programme models to help 
young people develop holistically. Through these programmes, AIS-SA 
seeks to counter crime, gangsterism, drugs and alcohol and teach 
players of all ages how to make a difference in their communities.

The AIS-SA flagship programme is its Hope Academy and the 
intention is to have 10 academies running across South Africa 
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started as a dare to ride the 94.7 Cycle Challenge in a cow suit for 
charity resulted in an outstanding fundraising drive for CHOC and 
is fast becoming an annual event at this race. Roadcrete Africa 
joined the initiative in 2009 and increased its contribution in 2010 
to support the 260 cyclists who rode in cow suits and collected 
R3,6 million from various sponsors. Funds from 2010 contributed 
to refurbishing the paediatric section of Chris Hani/Baragwanath 
Hospital.

Roadcrete Africa also regularly supports local schools and 
community welfare organisations in areas where it is building roads. 
In 2010 Roadcrete contributed to the Tsenang Home of Safety in 
Pretoria, Pontsho Disability Care Centre, Oranjekrag Middelbare 
School in Gariep and Zamintuthuko Primary School in Mamelodi. 

SprayPave
>  In 2010 SprayPave joined Roadcrete in supporting the CHOC 

cows in the 94.7 Cycle Challenge.
>  A substantial contribution was made to support skills development 

in our industry by contributing to SERI (Science Education 
Resource Initiative) in establishing a centre of excellence at a 
Khayelitsha School. The centre focuses on skills transfer in maths 
and science technology. 

Blasting & Excavating
>  The group’s mining entity Blasting & Excavating channelled its 2010 

corporate social investment into two areas. The majority was 
invested in the group’s flagship initiative, Go for Gold, and the 
reminder donated to Cotlands, which cares for orphaned and 
vulnerable children.
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Value-added statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010

The value-added statement measures performance in terms of value added by the group through the collective efforts of management, 
employees and the providers of capital.  The statement shows how value added has been distributed to those contributing to its creation.

2010
 R’000  % 

2009
 R’000  % 

VALUE  ADDED  DURING  THE  YEAR

Total revenue  5 389 769  4 662 492 

Contract revenue  5 196 208  4 421 007 

Other revenue  193 561  241 485 

Cost of materials, subcontractors and other services  (3 645 564)  (3 270 302)

Value added from trading operations  1 744 205 96,51%  1 392 190 95,52%

Interest income 63 068 3,49%  65 269 4,48%

Total value added  1 807 273 100,00%  1 457 459 100,00%

DISTRIBUTIONS  DURING  THE  YEAR

Management

Salaries, retirement and other benefits  22 769 1,26%  18 154 1,25%

Employees

Salaries, retirement and other benefits  1 106 789 61,24%  792 028 54,33%

Providers of capital

Interest on borrowings and dividends paid  136 792 7,57%  102 449 7,03%

Government

Taxation  119 370 6,60%  140 869 9,67%

Total distributions  1 385 720 76,67%  1 053 500 72,28%

Retained for reinvestment  421 553 23,33%  403 959 27,72%

Depreciation  221 325  183 197 

Income retained in the business  200 228  220 762 

Total distributions  1 807 273 100,00%  1 457 459 100,00%

NOTES

Income retained in the business

Breakdown of income retained in the business is as follows:

Controlled income from operations  208 951  224 112 

Share of (loss)/profit of associates after taxation  (188)  10 

Non-controlling interests  (8 535)  (3 360)

 200 228  220 762 

2010 2009

Management
Employees
Providers of capital
Government
Retained for reinvestment
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Directors’ responsibility statement

Certificate by company secretary

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries. The financial statements presented on pages 116 to 201 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), and include amounts based upon judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS and AC 500 Standards that they consider to be applicable have been 
followed. The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the year and 
the financial position of the group at year-end. The directors also prepared the other information included in the annual report and are responsible for 
both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with reasonable accuracy 
the financial position of the group companies to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the relevant legislation.

Basil Read Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries operate in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly reviewed. 
This incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets 
are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the directors have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going 
concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. These financial statements support the viability of the company and 
the group.

The group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, audited the financial statements and their report is presented on page 115.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 24 March 2011 and are signed on their behalf by:

  

SLL Peteni ML Heyns MDG Gouveia
Chairman	 Chief	Executive	Officer	 Financial	director

24 March 2011 24 March 2011 24 March 2011

I certify that the requirements as stated in section 268G(d) of the Companies Act No 61 of 1973, as amended, have been met and that all returns, as are 
required of a public company in terms of the aforementioned Act, have been submitted to the Registrar of Companies and that such returns are true, 
correct and up to date.

E Kruger
Company	secretary

24 March 2011
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Report of the independent auditors

To THE MEMbErS oF baSiL rEaD HoLDinGS LiMiTED
We have audited the group annual financial statements and annual financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited, which comprise the consolidated 
and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated and separate income statements, the consolidated and 
separate statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated and separate cash flow 
statements for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, as set out 
on pages 116 to 201.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Basil Read Holdings 
Limited as at 31 December 2010, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers inc
Director:		JP	van	Staden
Registered	Auditor

Johannesburg
24 March 2011
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The directors present their 26th annual report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of the company and of the group for the year 
ended 31 December 2010.

naTUrE oF bUSinESS
Basil Read is one of the top five construction companies in South Africa. The company is listed on the JSE Limited and its subsidiary companies are active 
in the areas of civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed integrated housing developments, property development, bitumen distribution, 
opencast mining, blasting and engineering and project management solutions. These subsidiaries operate throughout Africa and internationally.

DiViDEnDS
A dividend of 42 cents per share was declared and paid during the year under review, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009. On 24 March 
2011, the directors declared a final dividend of 30 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010. This will result in a dividend paid of 
R37 143 313 and a secondary taxation on companies tax charge of R3 714 331 being recognised in the 2011 financial year.

SHarE CaPiTaL
There was no change to the issued share capital of the company in the year under review.

oPEraTinG rESULTS
The financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company and that of the group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out on 
pages 122 to 200.

The group made a profit after taxation of R252 million (2009: R271 million) during the year under review.

ProPErTY, PLanT anD EQUiPMEnT
The group acquired property, plant and equipment to the amount of R423 million (2009: R171 million) during the year.

SUbSiDiariES anD JoinT VEnTUrES
On 1 May 2010, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited for R68,4 million. The company is a 
roads and civil engineering construction company incorporated in Botswana.

On 30 June 2010, the group increased its shareholding in Newport Construction (Pty) Limited to 100% (2009: 70%) for a purchase consideration of 
R4 million. The company is a roads and civil engineering construction company.

On 1 July 2010, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Valente Brothers (Pty) Limited, Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) Limited and Phambili Pipelines 
(Pty) Limited, collectively referred to as the Valente Brothers group, for R25,6 million. The company is a civil engineering company specialising in the 
laying and jacking of pipes. 

On 3 September 2010, the group acquired the remaining 39% of the share capital of Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Limited for R37 898. The 
company is an engineering, procurement and construction management (EPCM) company.

The information relating to the company’s financial interest in its subsidiaries and joint ventures is set out in notes 17, 41, 43, 44 and 48 to the financial 
statements.

inVESTMEnTS in aSSoCiaTES
On 1 January 2009, the group disposed of 80% of its shareholding in BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited for Rnil, as part of its commitment to 
enterprise development. As the group continues to exercise significant influence over the operations of BR-Tsima, it has been reclassified from a 
subsidiary to an associate. BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited specialises in the construction of roads, civil engineering and buildings.

On 5 February 2010, the group acquired a further 19% of the issued share capital of Mmila Projects (Pty) Limited for a purchase consideration of 
R0,1 million. Mmila Projects (Pty) Limited is a distributor and sprayer of bituminous and tar products.

For more information on the group’s investments in associates refer to notes 18, 42 and 43 to the financial statements.

borroWinGS
Interest-bearing borrowings comprise bank borrowings, instalment sale agreements and a domestic medium-term note programme. Other borrowings 
comprise the amount due to former shareholders of the companies that the group has acquired over the last few years. During the year borrowings 
decreased due to the repayment of banking loans and amounts due to former shareholders of acquired companies. The decrease in borrowings was 
partly offset by increases in new instalment sale agreements entered into to fund capital expenditure and property developments that the group is 
involved with and an increase in the domestic medium-term note programme.

For more information on the group’s borrowings, refer to notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements.

Directors’ report
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010
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EVEnTS SUbSEQUEnT  To  THE STaTEMEnT oF FinanCiaL PoSiTion DaTE
On 4 March 2011, the group released a SENS announcement relating to the disposal of Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Limited, a property owning 
subsidiary, for a sale consideration of R91,2 million. The group further announced that it had simultaneously disposed of movable furniture, equipment 
and appliances for a sale consideration of R10,3 million, inclusive of VAT. These assets have been accounted for as assets held for sale in the year under 
review. The profit on this disposal will be accounted for in the 2011 financial year.

SHarEHoLDEr SPrEaD
Details of shareholder categories are set out on page 201 of this report.

DirECToraTE
The following were directors of the company during the year under review:

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni Independent non-executive director, chairman

Marius Lodewucus Heyns Chief executive officer, managing director

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia Chief financial officer, financial director, deputy chief 
executive officer

Nigel John Townshend Executive director Appointed 1 January 2010

Lungisa Brian Dyosi Non-executive director Resigned 6 May 2010

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba Non-executive director 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai Non-executive director 

Charles Peter Davies Independent non-executive director 

Ntombekaya Yvonne September Independent non-executive director Deceased 6 January 2011

Given Refilwe Sibiya Independent non-executive director

DirECTorS’ EMoLUMEnTS

Cash portion 
of package

 r 
benefits*

 r 
incentive bonus

 r 

Gain on 
share options 

exercised
 r 

Total
 r 

Executive directors

2010

Paid	by	Basil	Read	(Pty)	Limited

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 120 594  459 753  9 173 039  –  12 753 386 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  1 587 464  258 973  2 000 000  –  3 846 437 

 4 708 058  718 726  11 173 039  –  16 599 823 

Paid	by	TWP	Projects	(Pty)	Limited

Nigel John Townshend^  2 629 748  410 650  256 368  –  3 296 766 

 7 337 806  1 129 376  11 429 407  –  19 896 589 

2009

Paid	by	Basil	Read	(Pty)	Limited

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  2 877 410  422 251  8 726 142  –  12 025 803 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia#  836 595  149 732  1 333 333  –  2 319 660 

 3 714 005  571 983  10 059 475  –  14 345 463 
*	Benefits	include	the	group’s	contribution	towards	medical	aid	and	provident	fund.
^	Appointed	1	January	2010.
#	Appointed	7	May	2009.
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In addition to the above remuneration, Marius Lodewucus Heyns has an agreement with the group that should he meet certain annual criteria, an 
additional deferred bonus will accrue to him.

The aggregate base amount of the deferred bonus which will accrue and be paid on 31 March 2014 will be R50 million plus accrued interest and shall be 
calculated by the group’s remuneration committee in five equal annual tranches in accordance with the following criteria, applied annually:
•  Headline earnings per share increasing by at least a percentage equal to the spot rate as at 30 September of each year of the RSA Five Year Retail 

Bond rate plus 50%. The spot rate applicable to the 2010 results was 9,75%. The spot rate that applies to the 2011 financial year is 9%.
•  Cash flow from operating activities to be cash generative in each year.
•  The criteria will carry equal weight in the determination of the amount of the deferred bonus.
•  Should the criteria not be met in any one financial year, the deferred bonus will be reduced by an amount equal to that year’s tranche.
•  The remuneration committee may recommend to the board and the board may, in their discretion, relax the criteria in any given year should they 

deem it necessary and appropriate.
•  Mr Heyns must remain in the employ of the group for the five-year period covered by the deferred bonus. If he leaves, unless for reasons of ill health, 

at any time during this period, none of the deferred bonus becomes due and payable.

Mr Heyns met the criteria for the 2009 financial year and accordingly a provision of R10 million was created in the 2009 financial year for payment of 
this deferred bonus. This amount has not been included in the remuneration disclosed in the table above.

Mr Heyns did not meet the criteria for the 2010 financial year and accordingly no provision was created in the 2010 financial year for payment of this 
deferred bonus.

Services 
as director

 r 
Total

 r 

non-executive directors

2010

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  796 000  796 000 

Lungisa Brian Dyosi#*  164 500  164 500 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  259 000  259 000 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai#  283 500  283 500 

Charles Peter Davies  585 000  585 000 

Ntombekaya Yvonne September^  441 000  441 000 

Given Refilwe Sibiya  343 000  343 000 

 2 872 000  2 872 000 

2009

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  533 500  533 500 

Bulelani Thandabantu Ngcuka#•  319 000  319 000 

Lungisa Brian Dyosi#  278 500  278 500 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  190 000  190 000 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai#  261 000  261 000 

Charles Peter Davies  557 500  557 500 

Ntombekaya Yvonne September  311 000  311 000 

Given Refilwe Sibiya  134 000  134 000 

 2 584 500  2 584 500 
*	Resigned	6	May	2010
^	Deceased	6	January	2011
•	Resigned	7	May	2009
#	Paid	to	the	companies	that	these	directors	represent.

Directors’ report continued
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010
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Directors’ fees for the 2010 financial year were paid according to the following table:

 Member  Chairman 

With effect from 1 January 2010

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 

Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 

Audit/risk committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 

Audit/risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Ad hoc meetings – per day  17 500  – 

Directors’ fees are reviewed annually. It is proposed that directors’ fees remain unchanged as follows:

With effect from 1 January 2011

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 

Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 

Audit/risk committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 

Audit/risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Chairman’s committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Ad hoc meetings – per day  17 500  – 

These fees have been waived by the executive directors. Fees are paid quarterly in arrears.

DirECTorS’ EQUiTY-SETTLED inSTrUMEnTS
The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010:

 number 
 average 

strike price 
 average 

exercise price 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2010  380 000  13,95  – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010  380 000  13,95 

315 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2010 with the balance vesting over a 
period of two years.

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2010  105 000  13,95  – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2010  105 000  13,95 

82 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2010 with the balance vesting over a period of two years.



120 annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2009:

 number 
 average 

strike price 
 average 

exercise price 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2009  250 000  13,95  – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  130 000  13,95  – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2009  380 000  13,95 

187 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2009 with the balance vesting over a 
period of three years.

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2009  60 000  13,95  – 

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  45 000  13,95  – 

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2009  105 000  13,95 

45 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2009 with the balance vesting over a period of three years.

The equity-settled instruments terms are detailed in note 38.

inTErESTS oF DirECTorS anD oFFiCErS in SHarE CaPiTaL
The interests, direct and indirect, of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

Direct indirect

2010 2009 2010 2009

beneficial

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  32 070  32 070  –  – 

Nigel John Townshend  –  –  9 337 047  9 096 580 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba  6 986  6 986 3 068 760  3 068 760 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai  –  – 3 068 760  3 068 760 

Lungisa Brian Dyosi  –  –  n/a  169 152 

 39 056  39 056 15 474 567  15 403 252 

Shares held by associates  –  –  –  – 

 39 056  39 056 15 474 567  15 403 252 

The company’s directors did not trade in shares between year-end and the date the financial statements were authorised for issue.

Directors’ report continued
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010



121

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

inTErESTS oF DirECTorS anD oFFiCErS in SHarE inCEnTiVE SCHEME
The direct interests of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

 number of 
unissued 

shares 

% of 
unissued 

shares

% held 
once shares 

issued

2010

Direct

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,11  0,31 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  105 000  5,56  0,08 

Enna Kruger (company secretary)  20 000  1,06  0,02 

2009

Direct

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  18,25  0,31 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  105 000  5,04  0,08 

Enna Kruger (company secretary)  20 000  0,96  0,02 

The right to the unissued shares are in terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme. For further details, refer to note 38(e).

aUDiTorS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc will continue in office in accordance with section 270(2) of the Companies Act, 1973 as amended.

CoMPanY SECrETarY
The company secretary is Enna Kruger.

rEGiSTErED oFFiCE
The Basil Read Campus
7 Romeo Street
Hughes extension
Boksburg
1459

PoSTaL aDDrESS
Private Bag X170
Bedfordview
2008
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Consolidated income statement
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010

Notes
 2010 

 r’000 
 2009 

 R’000 

revenue  5 389 769  4 662 492 

Contracting revenue  5 196 208  4 421 007 

Other revenue – development fees  24 191  68 084 

Other revenue – construction materials and services  169 370  173 401 

Contracting and other costs  (4 579 854)  (3 949 241)

Gross profit  809 915  713 251 

Admin and operating overheads  (401 369)  (283 435)

Other income 8  252  – 

Other gains/(losses) – net 9  –  (448)

Loss on sale of subsidiaries 45  –  (130)

operating profit 10 408 798 429 238

Amortisation of intangible assets (39 303) (20 488)

Interest received 11 63 068  65 269 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 11  6 138  (9 949)

Interest paid 11  (68 587)  (52 301)

Profit before share of profit from associates and jointly controlled entities  370 114  411 769 

Share of profits from jointly controlled entities 17  1 662  – 

Share of (losses)/profits from associates 18  (188)  10 

Profit before taxation  371 588  411 779 

Taxation 12  (119 370)  (140 869)

net profit for the year  252 218  270 910 

net profit for the year attributable to the following:

Equity shareholders of the company  260 753  274 270 

Non-controlling interests  (8 535)  (3 360)

net profit for the year  252 218  270 910 

Earnings per share (cents) 13  210,63  317,15 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 13  210,63  316,49 

Dividend paid per share (cents) 14  42,00  58,00 

Dividend declared per share (cents)* 14 30,00  42,00 

*	Based	on	the	year	to	which	the	dividend	relates
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010

 2010 
 r’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

net profit for the year  252 218  270 910 

other comprehensive income for the year  (2 697)  (4 125)

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  (8 622)  (4 404)

Movement in fair value adjustment reserve  6 222  279 

Deferred tax effect on other comprehensive income  (297)  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year  249 521  266 785 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the following:

Equity shareholders of the company  259 463  269 495 

Non-controlling interests  (9 942)  (2 710)

Total comprehensive income for the year  249 521  266 785 
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as	at	31	December	2010

Notes
 2010 

 r’000 

 Restated* 
 2009 

 R’000 

aSSETS   

non-current assets  1 854 008  1 742 164 

Property, plant and equipment 15  873 390  781 855 

Intangible assets 16  843 183  832 667 

Investments in jointly controlled entities 17  20 423  19 467 

Investments in associates 18  1 413  1 383 

Deferred income tax assets 19  79 335  81 378 

Available-for-sale financial assets 20  36 264  25 414 

Current assets  2 430 905  2 442 783 

Inventories 21  47 700  18 890 

Development land 22  351 938  280 718 

Contract and trade debtors 23  898 323  813 170 

Receivables and prepayments 24  95 144  77 919 

Current income tax assets  26 250  6 047 

Cash and cash equivalents 25  1 011 550  1 246 039 

Non-current assets held for sale 26  92 558  – 

Total assets  4 377 471  4 184 947 

EQUiTY anD LiabiLiTiES

Capital and reserves  1 708 885  1 500 916 

Stated capital 27  948 667  948 667 

Retained earnings  758 472  549 213 

Other reserves  1 746  3 036 

Non-controlling interests 28  6 404  (1 212)

Total capital and reserves  1 715 289  1 499 704 

non-current liabilities  439 156  500 465 

Interest-bearing borrowings 29  337 658  350 852 

Other borrowings 30  26 188  79 357 

Deferred income tax liabilities 19  75 310  70 256 

Current liabilities  2 219 938  2 184 778 

Trade and other payables 32  1 553 622  1 482 484 

Current income tax liabilities  42 351  67 279 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 29  339 733  369 464 

Current portion of other borrowings 30  99 103  90 515 

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 31  152 235  150 802 

Bank overdraft 25  32 894  24 234 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale 26  3 088  – 

Total equity and liabilities  4 377 471  4 184 947 

*	Refer	to	note	2.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010

 Share 
capital 
 r’000 

 Treasury 
shares 
 r’000 

 Foreign 
currency 

trans-
lation 

reserve* 
 r’000 

 Fair value 
adjust-

ment 
reserve 

 r’000 

 Equity- 
settled 
share- 
based 

payment 
reserve 

 r’000 

 retained 
earnings 

 r’000 

 Total 
attri-

butable 
to owners 

of the 
parent 
 r’000 

 non-
control-

ling 
interests 

 r’000 

 Total 
equity 
 r’000 

Balance at 1 January 2009  466 164  (30)  7 811  –  –  315 607  789 552  2 521  792 073 

Movement in shares held by the trust  –  10  –  –  –  –  10  –  10 

Issue of shares in terms of acquisition 
of subsidiary  485 136  –  –  –  –  –  485 136  –  485 136 

Costs relating to the issue of shares  (2 613)  –  –  –  –  –  (2 613)  –  (2 613)

Capital contribution from  
non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  198  198 

Transactions with minorities  
(refer note 44)  –  –  –  –  –  (128)  (128)  (849)  (977)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year  –  –  (5 054)  279  –  274 270  269 495  (2 710)  266 785 

Share-based payment  –  –  –  –  9 612  –  9 612  78  9 690 

Reallocate equity-settled  
share-based payment  –  –  –  –  (9 612)  9 612  –  –  – 

Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  (50 148)  (50 148)  (450)  (50 598)

Balance at 31 December 2009  948 687  (20)  2 757  279  –  549 213  1 500 916  (1 212)  1 499 704 

Capital contribution from  
non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  20 588  20 588 

Transactions with minorities  
(refer note 44)  –  –  –  –  –  (697)  (697)  (3 361)  (4 058)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year  –  –  (7 215)  5 925  –  260 753  259 463  (9 942)  249 521 

Share-based payment  –  –  –  –  1 193  –  1 193  –  1 193 

reallocate equity-settled  
share-based payment  –  –  –  –  (1 193)  1 193  –  –  – 

Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  (51 990)  (51 990)  331  (51 659)

balance at 31 December 2010  948 687  (20)  (4 458)  6 204  –  758 472  1 708 885  6 404  1 715 289 

*		The	foreign	currency	translation	reserve	is	the	result	of	exchange	differences	arising	from	the	translation	of	the	group’s	foreign	operations	to	the	group’s	presentation	currency,	
the rand.
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Notes
 2010 

 r’000 

 Restated *
 2009 

 R’000 

CaSH FLoW FroM oPEraTinG aCTiViTiES  200 022  252 897 

Cash generated by operating activities 33  416 633  503 596 

Net finance costs 11  619  3 019 

Dividends paid 34  (51 558)  (50 623)

Taxation paid 35  (165 672)  (203 095)

CaSH FLoW FroM inVESTinG aCTiViTiES  (123 095)  (142 336)

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 15  (223 375)  (125 051)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  87 469  35 997 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 44  (3 637)  (54 779)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interest parties 28  20 588  198 

Disposal of subsidiaries 45  –  14 873 

Advances made to jointly controlled entities 17  (1 794)  (585)

Dividends received from jointly controlled entities 17  2 500  – 

Acquisition of associate 18  (127)  – 

Advances (made to)/recovered from associates 18  (91)  6 238 

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial asset 20  (4 628)  (19 227)

CaSH FLoW FroM FinanCinG aCTiViTiES  (320 076)  167 487 

(Repayments of)/proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings  (242 889)  181 853 

Repayments of other borrowings  (77 187)  (14 376)

Proceeds from issue of shares – net of costs  –  10 

MoVEMEnT in CaSH anD CaSH EQUiVaLEnTS  (243 149)  278 048 

CaSH anD CaSH EQUiVaLEnTS – aT THE bEGinninG oF THE YEar  1 221 805  943 757 

CaSH anD CaSH EQUiVaLEnTS – aT THE EnD oF THE YEar 25  978 656  1 221 805 

*	Refer	to	note	2.

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 BASIS OF PrEPArATION
	 	The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	and	the	

Companies	Act,	No	61	of	1973,	as	amended.

	 	The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	historical	cost	basis	as	modified	by	the	revaluation	of	available-for-sale	
investments	and	financial	instruments	fair	valued	through	profit	and	loss.	The	following	principal	accounting	policies	are	in	accordance	with	
International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	are	used	by	the	group.	These	policies	have	been	consistently	applied	to	all	the	years	presented	
unless	otherwise	stated.

	 	The	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	IFRS	requires	the	use	of	certain	critical	accounting	estimates.	It	also	requires	
management	to	exercise	its	judgement	in	the	process	of	applying	the	group’s	accounting	policies.	The	areas	involving	a	higher	degree	of	judgement	
or	complexity,	or	areas	where	assumptions	and	estimates	are	significant	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	are	disclosed	in	note	6.

	 	The	accounting	policies	detailed	below	have	been	consistently	applied	to	the	company	financial	statements	detailed	on	pages	194	to	200.

  Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010
	 	During	the	financial	year,	the	following	new	and	revised	accounting	standards,	amendments	to	standards	and	new	interpretations	were	adopted	by	

the	group:
	 •	 	IFRS	2	(Amendment)	Share-based payment	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010)
	 •	 	IFRS	3	(Revised)	–	Business combinations	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IFRS	5	(Improvement)	–	Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	

1 July 2009)
	 •	 	IFRS	8	(Improvement)	–	Operating segments	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	1	(Improvement)	–	Presentation of financial statements	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	7	(Improvement)	–	Statement of cash flows	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	10	(Amendment)	–	Events after the reporting period	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IAS	17	(Improvement)	–	Leases	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	27	(Revised)	–	Consolidated and separate financial statements	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IAS	28	(Amendment)	–	Investments in associates	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IAS	31	(Amendment)	–	Interest in joint ventures	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IAS	32	(Amendment)	–	Financial instruments: Presentation	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	February	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	36	(Improvement)	–	Impairment of assets	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	38	(Improvement)	–	Intangible assets	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IAS	39	(Amendment)	–	Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	AC	504,	IAS	19	–	The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction in the South African pension fund environment	

(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	April	2009)
	 •	 	IFRIC	14,	IAS	19	–	The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	

or	after	1	January	2011)

 Standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to published standards effective in 2010 but not relevant
	 •	 	IFRIC	9	(Amended)	–	Reassessment of embedded derivatives	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IFRIC	16	(Amended)	–	Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IFRIC	17	–	Distribution of non-cash assets to owners	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IFRIC	18	–	Transfers of assets from customers	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IFRS	1	(Revised)	–	First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009)
	 •	 	IFRS	1	(Amendment)	–	First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	

1 July 2010)

	 These	standards,	interpretations,	amendments	and	improvements	did	not	have	a	material	effect	on	the	group.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 BASIS OF PrEPArATION (continued)
  Standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to published standards that are not yet effective and not adopted 

by the group
	 	Certain	new	standards,	amendments,	interpretations	and	improvements	to	existing	standards	have	been	published	that	apply	to	the	group’s	

accounting	periods	beginning	on	1	January	2011	or	later	periods	but	have	not	been	early	adopted	by	the	group.	These	standards,	amendments,	
interpretations	and	improvements	are:

	 •	 	IFRIC	13	(Improvement),	IAS	19	–	Customer loyalty programmes	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011)
	 •	 	IFRIC	14,	IAS	19	–	The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	

or	after	1	January	2011)
	 •	 	IFRIC	19	–	Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity investments	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2010)
	 •	 	IFRS	1	(Amendment)	–	First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	

1 July 2010)
	 •	 	IFRS	1	(Improvement)	–	First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	

1 July 2011)
	 •	 	IFRS	1	(Amendment)	–	First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	

1 July 2011)
	 •	 	IFRS	3	(Improvement)	–	Business combinations	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2010)
	 •	 	IFRS	7	(Improvement)	–	Financial instruments: Disclosures	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011)
	 •	 	IFRS	7	(Amendment)	–	Financial instruments: Disclosures	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2011)
	 •	 	IFRS	9	–	Financial instruments	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013)
	 •	 	IAS	1	(Improvement)	–	Presentation of financial statements	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011)
	 •	 	IAS	12	(Amendment)	–	Income taxes	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2012)
	 •	 	IAS	24	–	Related party disclosures	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011)
	 •	 	IAS	27	(Improvement)	–	Consolidated and separate financial statements	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	32	(Amendment)	–	Financial instruments: Presentation	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	February	2010)
	 •	 	IAS	34	(Improvement)	–	Interim financial reporting	(effective	for	financial	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011)

	 Management	is	currently	reviewing	the	impact	of	these	standards	on	the	group.

 HOLdING COmPANy INvESTmENTS
	 Basil	Read	Holdings	Limited’s	investment	in	subsidiaries	is	recognised	at	cost,	net	of	any	accumulated	impairment	loss.

 GrOUP ACCOUNTING
 Subsidiaries
	 	Subsidiaries,	which	are	those	entities	(including	the	Share	Incentive	Trust)	in	which	the	group	has	an	interest	of	more	than	one-half	of	the	voting	

rights	or	otherwise	has	power	to	govern	the	financial	and	operating	policies,	are	consolidated.	The	existence	and	effect	of	potential	voting	rights	
that	are	currently	exercisable	or	convertible	are	considered	when	assessing	whether	the	group	controls	another	entity.

	 	Subsidiaries	are	consolidated	from	the	date	on	which	control	is	transferred	to	the	group	and	are	no	longer	consolidated	from	the	date	that	
control	ceases.

	 	The	group	has	changed	its	accounting	policy	in	respect	of	business	combinations	from	1	January	2010,	when	the	revised	IFRS	3	Business 
Combinations	became	effective.	The	new	accounting	policy	is	applied	prospectively	and	has	been	applied	to	the	Sladden	International	and	Valente	
Brothers	acquisitions.	Although	the	revised	standard	applies	the	acquisition	method	which	is	similar	to	the	purchase	method	of	the	previous	
standard,	there	are	certain	significant	differences.	These	differences	have	been	highlighted	in	the	updated	accounting	policy	below,	as	the	group	has	
historic	business	combinations	which	are	still	being	accounted	for	under	the	previous	standard.	

	 	The	acquisition	method	of	accounting	is	used	to	account	for	the	acquisition	of	subsidiaries.	The	consideration	transferred	for	the	acquisition	of	
subsidiaries	is	measured	as	the	fair	value	of	the	assets	given	up,	shares	issued	or	liabilities	incurred	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	The	consideration	
transferred	includes	the	fair	value	of	any	assets	or	liabilities	resulting	from	a	contingent	consideration	arrangement.	Acquisition	related	costs	are	
expensed	as	incurred.	(Under	the	previous	accounting	policy,	the	purchase	price	included	the	fair	value	of	any	assets	and	liabilities	resulting	from	a	
contingent	consideration	arrangement	only	if	an	adjustment	to	the	purchase	price	was	considered	probable.	Any	subsequent	adjustment	as	a	result	
of	the	contingent	arrangement	is	treated	as	an	adjustment	to	the	purchase	price.	Directly	related	acquisition	costs	were	capitalised	as	part	of	the	
purchase	price).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 GrOUP ACCOUNTING (continued)
 Subsidiaries (continued)
	 	On	acquisition,	the	group	recognises	the	identifiable	assets,	liabilities,	and	contingent	liabilities	assumed,	at	their	fair	value.	On	an	acquisition	by	

acquisition	basis,	the	group	recognises	non-controlling	interest	in	the	acquiree	(previously	referred	to	as	minority	interest)	either	at	fair	value	or	at	
the	non-controlling	interest’s	proportionate	share	of	the	acquiree’s	net	assets.	(Under	the	previous	accounting	policy,	the	minority	interest	was	
measured	at	the	proportionate	share	of	the	acquiree’s	net	assets).

	 	The	excess	of	the	consideration	transferred,	the	amount	of	any	non-controlling	interest,	and	the	acquisition	date	fair	value	of	any	previous	equity	
interest	in	the	acquiree	over	the	fair	value	of	the	net	assets	of	the	subsidiary	acquired,	is	recorded	as	goodwill.	Goodwill	is	not	amortised	but	
tested	for	impairment	annually.	If	the	cost	of	acquisition	is	less	than	the	fair	value	of	the	net	assets	of	the	subsidiary	acquired,	the	difference	is	
recognised	directly	in	profit	and	loss.	

	 	Intercompany	transactions,	balances	and	unrealised	gains	on	transactions	between	group	companies	are	eliminated.

	 	If	a	subsidiary	uses	accounting	policies	other	than	those	adopted	in	these	consolidated	financial	statements	for	like	transactions	and	events	in	
similar	circumstances,	appropriate	adjustments	are	made	to	its	financial	statements	in	preparing	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

 Transactions and non-controlling interests
	 	The	group	applies	a	policy	of	treating	transactions	with	non-controlling	interests	as	transactions	with	equity	owners	of	the	group.	For	purchases	

from	non-controlling	interests,	the	difference	between	any	consideration	paid	and	the	relevant	share	acquired	of	the	carrying	value	of	net	assets	of	
the	subsidiary	is	recorded	in	equity.	Gains	or	losses	on	disposals	to	non-controlling	interests	are	also	recorded	in	equity.	

 Associates
	 	Associates	are	entities	over	which	the	group	has	significant	influence	but	does	not	control,	generally	accompanying	a	shareholding	of	between	20%	

and	50%	of	the	voting	rights.	Investments	in	associates	are	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	and	are	initially	recognised	at	cost.	
The	group’s	investment	in	associates	includes	goodwill	identified	on	acquisition,	net	of	any	accumulated	impairment	loss.	

	 	The	group’s	share	of	the	post-acquisition	profits	or	losses	of	associates	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement	and	its	share	of	post-acquisition	
equity	movements	are	adjusted	against	the	cost	of	the	investment.	Unrealised	gains	or	losses	on	transactions	between	the	group	and	its	associates	
are	eliminated	to	the	extent	of	the	group’s	interest	in	the	associates,	except	where	unrealised	losses	provide	evidence	of	an	impairment	of	the	
asset.	When	the	group’s	share	of	losses	in	an	associate	equals	or	exceeds	its	interest	in	the	associate,	the	group	does	not	recognise	further	losses,	
unless	the	group	has	incurred	obligations	or	made	payments	on	behalf	of	the	associates.

	 	Accounting	policies	of	associates	have	been	changed	where	necessary	to	ensure	consistency	with	the	policies	adopted	by	the	group.

 Jointly controlled entities
	 	Investments	in	jointly	controlled	entities	are	accounted	for	by	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	Under	this	method	the	group’s	share	of	the	

post-acquisition	profits	or	losses	of	jointly	controlled	entities	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement	and	its	share	of	post-acquisition	equity	
movements	are	adjusted	against	the	cost	of	the	investment.	Unrealised	gains	or	losses	on	transactions	between	the	group	and	its	jointly	controlled	
entities	are	eliminated	to	the	extent	of	the	group’s	interest	in	the	jointly	controlled	entities,	except	where	unrealised	losses	provide	evidence	of	an	
impairment	of	the	asset.

 Jointly controlled operations and assets
	 	The	group’s	interest	in	jointly	controlled	operations	and	assets	is	accounted	for	by	proportionate	consolidation.	The	group	combines	its	share	of	

the	joint	ventures’	individual	income	and	expenses,	assets	and	liabilities	and	cash	flows	on	a	line-by-line	basis	with	similar	items	in	the	group’s	
financial	statements.

	 	Unrealised	profits	and	losses	are	eliminated	to	the	extent	of	the	group’s	interest	in	the	joint	venture,	except	where	unrealised	losses	provide	
evidence	of	an	impairment.

 FOrEIGN CUrrENCIES
 Functional and presentation currency
	 	Items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	of	the	group’s	entities	are	measured	using	the	currency	of	the	primary	economic	environment	in	

which	the	entity	operates	(‘the	functional	currency’).	The	group’s	financial	statements	are	presented	in	South	African	rand,	which	is	the	company’s	
functional	and	presentation	currency.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 FOrEIGN CUrrENCIES (continued)
 Transactions and balances
	 	Foreign	currency	transactions	are	translated	into	the	functional	currency	using	the	exchange	rates	prevailing	at	the	dates	of	the	transactions.	

Foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	resulting	from	the	settlement	of	such	transactions	and	from	the	translation	at	year	end	exchange	rates	of	
monetary	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	recognised	in	the	income	statement,	except	when	deferred	in	equity	as	
qualifying	cash	flow	hedges	and	qualifying	net	investment	hedges.

 Group companies
	 	The	results	and	financial	position	of	all	the	group	entities	(none	of	which	has	the	currency	of	a	hyperinflationary	economy)	that	have	a	functional	

currency	different	from	the	presentation	currency	are	translated	into	the	presentation	currency	as	follows:
	 •	 	Assets	and	liabilities	for	each	statement	of	financial	position	presented	are	translated	at	the	closing	rate	at	the	date	of	the	statement	of	financial	

position.
	 •	 	Income	and	expenses	for	each	income	statement	are	translated	at	average	exchange	rates	(unless	this	average	is	not	a	reasonable	approximation	

of	the	cumulative	effect	of	the	rates	prevailing	on	the	transaction	dates,	in	which	case	income	and	expenses	are	translated	at	the	date	of	the	
transaction).

	 •	 	Equity	items	are	translated	at	the	closing	rate.
	 •	 	All	resulting	exchange	differences	are	recognised	as	a	separate	component	of	equity.

	 	On	consolidation,	exchange	differences	arising	from	the	translation	of	the	net	investment	in	foreign	operations,	and	of	borrowings	and	other	
currency	instruments	designated	as	hedges	of	such	investments,	are	taken	to	shareholders’	equity.	When	a	foreign	operation	is	sold,	exchange	
differences	that	were	recorded	in	equity	are	recognised	in	the	income	statement	as	part	of	the	gain	or	loss	on	sale.

	 	Goodwill	and	fair	value	adjustments	arising	on	the	acquisition	of	a	foreign	entity	are	treated	as	assets	and	liabilities	of	the	foreign	entity	and	
translated	at	the	closing	rate.

 OTHEr INvESTmENTS
	 	The	group	classifies	its	investments	in	equity	securities	as	available-for-sale.	Management	re-evaluates	such	designation	on	a	regular	basis.	

Investments	are	held	for	an	indefinite	period	of	time,	which	may	be	sold	in	response	to	needs	for	liquidity,	and	are	included	in	non-current	assets	
unless	management	has	the	express	intention	of	holding	the	investment	for	less	than	12	months	from	the	statement	of	financial	position	date,	in	
which	case	they	are	included	in	current	assets.

	 	Purchases	of	investments	are	recognised	at	cost	on	the	trade	date,	which	is	the	date	that	the	group	commits	to	purchase	the	asset.	Cost	of	
purchase	includes	transaction	costs.	Investments	are	subsequently	carried	at	fair	value.	Realised	and	unrealised	gains	and	losses	arising	from	
changes	in	the	fair	value	of	these	investments	are	included	in	equity.	The	fair	value	of	listed	investments	are	based	on	quoted	market	prices.	Fair	
values	for	unlisted	equity	securities	are	estimated	using	applicable	price/earnings	or	price/cash	flow	ratios	refined	to	reflect	the	specific	
circumstances	of	the	issuer.	Equity	securities	for	which	fair	values	cannot	be	measured	reliably	are	recognised	at	cost	less	impairment.

 PrOPErTy, PLANT ANd EQUIPmENT
	 	Property,	plant	and	equipment	(except	for	investment	properties)	are	stated	at	historical	cost	less	accumulated	depreciation	and	any	accumulated	

impairment	losses.	Immovable	properties	are	classified	as	either	owner-occupied	property	or	investment	property	and	are	accounted	for	
accordingly.

	 	Cost	includes	expenditure	that	is	directly	attributable	to	the	acquisition	of	the	item	and	includes	transfers	from	equity	of	any	gains	or	losses	on	
qualifying	cash	flow	hedges	of	currency	purchases	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.	The	cost	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	further	
includes	the	initial	estimate	of	the	costs	of	its	dismantlement,	removal	or	restoration	of	the	site	on	which	it	was	located.

	 	Depreciation	is	calculated	to	write	off	the	assets	to	their	residual	values	over	their	expected	useful	lives	on	the	following	basis:
	 •	 	Owner-occupied	buildings	–	Straight-line	basis	over	20	years.
	 •	 	Major	plant	and	equipment	–	Straight-line	basis	over	periods	ranging	from	two	to	15	years.
	 •	 	Other	plant	and	equipment	–	Straight-line	basis	over	periods	ranging	from	three	to	five	years.
	 •	 	Furniture	and	fittings	–	Straight-line	basis	over	periods	ranging	from	three	to	five	years.
	 •	 	Freehold	property	is	not	depreciated.

	 	Residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	assessed	annually	and	any	effect	of	changes	in	residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	accounted	for	as	a	change	in	
estimate,	prospectively.

	 	Gains	and	losses	on	disposals	are	determined	by	comparing	proceeds	with	carrying	amounts	and	are	included	in	operating	profit.

	 	Repairs	and	maintenance	are	charged	to	the	income	statement	during	the	financial	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	The	cost	of	major	
renovations	is	included	in	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	when	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	
the	group	and	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.	Major	renovations	are	depreciated	over	the	remaining	useful	life	of	the	related	asset.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 BOrrOWINGS
	 	Borrowings	are	recognised	initially	as	the	proceeds	received,	net	of	transaction	costs	incurred.	Borrowings	are	subsequently	stated	at	amortised	

cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	Any	difference	between	proceeds	(net	of	transaction	costs)	and	the	redemption	value	is	recognised	in	
the	income	statement	over	the	period	of	the	borrowings	as	interest.	Borrowing	costs	are	recognised	in	the	income	statement	as	incurred.

 CAPITALISATION OF BOrrOWING COSTS
	 	Borrowing	costs,	incurred	in	respect	of	property	developments	or	capital	work	in	progress,	that	require	a	substantial	period	to	prepare	assets	for	

their	intended	use,	are	capitalised	up	to	the	date	that	the	development	of	the	asset	is	ready	for	its	intended	use.	Other	borrowing	costs	are	
recognised	in	the	income	statement	as	incurred.

 INvESTmENT PrOPErTIES
	 	Investment	properties	are	held	to	appreciate	in	capital	value.	Investment	properties	are	treated	as	long-term	investments	and	carried	at	market	

value	determined	annually	by	the	directors	based	on	current	real	estate	prices	for	similar	properties.	Every	three	years	an	external	independent	
valuer	carries	out	an	independent	valuation.	Investment	properties	are	not	subject	to	depreciation.	Increases	and	decreases	in	their	carrying	
amount	are	included	in	net	profit	or	loss	for	the	period.

 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 Goodwill
	 	Goodwill	represents	the	excess	of	the	cost	of	an	acquisition	over	the	fair	value	of	the	net	identifiable	assets	of	the	acquired	subsidiary/associate	at	

the	date	of	acquisition.	Goodwill	on	acquisitions	of	subsidiaries	is	included	in	intangible	assets.	Goodwill	on	acquisitions	of	associates	is	included	in	
investments	in	associates	and	is	tested	for	impairment	as	part	of	the	overall	balance.

	 	Separately	recognised	goodwill	is	tested	annually	for	impairment	and	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	impairment	losses.	Impairment	losses	on	
goodwill	are	not	reversed.	Gains	and	losses	on	the	disposal	of	an	entity	include	the	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	relating	to	the	entity	sold.

	 	Goodwill	is	allocated	to	cash-generating	units	for	the	purpose	of	impairment	testing.	The	allocation	is	made	to	those	cash-generating	units	or	
groups	of	cash-generating	units	that	are	expected	to	benefit	from	the	business	combination	in	which	the	goodwill	arose.

 Contract-based intangibles
	 	Contract-based	intangibles	represent	construction	contracts	existing	at	date	of	acquisition	and	are	recognised	at	fair	value.	Amortisation	is	

calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	to	allocate	the	cost	of	the	contract-based	intangible	over	the	period	of	the	related	contracts,	which	range	
between	one	and	ten	years.

 marketing-related intangibles
	 	Marketing	related	intangibles	represent	the	value	of	the	trademarks	and	trade	names	existing	at	date	of	acquisition	and	are	recognised	at	fair	value.	

Amortisation	is	calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	to	allocate	the	cost	of	the	marketing	related	intangibles	over	20	years.

 LEASEd ASSETS
 Finance leases
	 	Leases	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	where	the	group	has	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	are	classified	as	finance	leases.	

Finance	leases	are	capitalised	at	the	inception	of	the	lease	at	the	lower	of	the	fair	value	of	the	leased	plant	and	equipment	or	the	present	value	of	
the	minimum	lease	payments.	Each	lease	payment	is	allocated	between	the	liability	and	finance	charges	so	as	to	achieve	a	constant	rate	on	the	
finance	balance	outstanding.	The	corresponding	rental	obligations,	net	of	finance	charges,	are	included	in	other	long-term	payables.	The	interest	
element	of	the	finance	cost	is	charged	to	the	income	statement	over	the	lease	period	so	as	to	produce	a	constant	periodic	rate	of	interest	on	the	
remaining	balance	of	the	liability	for	each	period.	The	plant	and	equipment	acquired	under	finance	leases	is	depreciated	over	the	useful	life	of	the	
asset	unless	ownership	is	not	assured,	in	which	case	the	item	of	plant	and	equipment	is	depreciated	over	the	lease	term.

 Operating leases
	 	Leases	of	assets	under	which	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	are	effectively	retained	by	the	lessor	are	classified	as	operating	leases.	

Payments	made	under	operating	leases	are	charged	to	the	income	statement	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	period	of	the	lease.	When	an	
operating	lease	is	terminated	before	the	lease	period	has	expired,	any	payment	required	to	be	made	by	the	lessee	by	way	of	penalty	is	recognised	
as	an	expense	in	the	period	in	which	termination	takes	place.

 ImPAIrmENT
	 	Property,	plant	and	equipment	and	other	non-current	assets	are	reviewed	for	impairment	losses	whenever	events	or	changes	in	circumstances	

indicate	that	the	carrying	amount	may	not	be	recoverable.	An	impairment	loss	is	recognised	for	the	amount	by	which	the	carrying	amount	of	the	
asset	exceeds	its	recoverable	amount	which	is	the	higher	of	fair	value	less	cost	to	sell	and	value	in	use.	For	the	purposes	of	assessing	impairment,	
assets	are	grouped	at	the	lowest	level	for	which	there	are	separately	identifiable	cash	flows.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 INvENTOrIES
	 	Inventories	are	stated	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value.	Cost	is	determined	using	the	weighted	average	cost	basis.	Net	realisable	value	is	

determined	on	the	latest	replacement	cost	for	consumable	goods.	

 dEvELOPmENT LANd
	 	Development	land	is	stated	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value.	Cost	is	assigned	by	specific	identification	and	includes	the	cost	of	

acquisition,	development	and	borrowing	costs	during	development.	When	development	is	completed,	borrowing	costs	and	other	charges	are	
expensed	as	incurred.

 LONG-TErm CONSTrUCTION CONTrACTS ANd CONTrACT rEvENUE rECOGNITION
 revenue and costs
	 	Contract	costs	are	recognised	when	incurred.	When	the	outcome	of	a	construction	contract	cannot	be	estimated	reliably,	contract	revenue	is	

recognised	only	to	the	extent	of	contract	costs	incurred	that	are	likely	to	be	recoverable.	When	the	outcome	of	a	construction	contract	can	be	
estimated	reliably	and	it	is	probable	that	the	contract	will	be	profitable,	contract	revenue	is	recognised	over	the	period	of	the	contract.	When	it	is	
probable	that	total	costs	will	exceed	total	contract	revenue,	the	expected	loss	is	recognised	as	an	expense	immediately.

	 	The	group	uses	the	‘percentage	of	completion	method’	to	determine	the	appropriate	amount	of	revenue	to	recognise	in	a	given	period.	The	stage	
of	completion	is	measured	by	reference	to	the	contract	costs	incurred	up	to	the	statement	of	financial	position	date	as	a	percentage	of	total	
estimated	costs	for	each	contract	and	physical	completion.	Costs	incurred	in	the	year	in	connection	with	future	activity	on	a	contract	are	excluded	
from	contract	costs	in	determining	the	stage	of	completion.	They	are	presented	as	inventories,	prepayments	or	other	assets,	depending	on	their	
nature.

	 	The	group	presents	as	an	asset	(work	in	progress)	the	gross	amount	due	from	customers	for	contract	work	for	all	contracts	in	progress	for	which	
costs	plus	recognised	profits	(less	recognised	losses)	exceeds	progress	billings.	Work	in	progress,	progress	billings	not	yet	paid	by	customers	and	
retentions	are	included	within	contract	debtors	and	retentions.

	 	The	group	presents	as	a	liability	(advance	payments	received	for	contract	work)	the	gross	amount	due	to	customers	for	contract	work	for	all	
contracts	in	progress	for	which	progress	billings	exceed	costs	incurred	plus	recognised	profits	(less	recognised	losses).

 Contract debtors
	 	Contract	debtors	comprise	progress	billings	certified	to	date	less	payments	received.	Retention	debtors	are	also	raised	as	part	of	debtors	at	the	

time.	Contract	debtors	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value	and	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method,	less	
provision	for	impairment.	A	provision	for	impairment	of	contract	debtors	is	established	when	there	is	objective	evidence	that	the	group	will	not	be	
able	to	collect	all	amounts	due	according	to	the	original	terms	of	receivables.

 OTHEr rEvENUE rECOGNITION
	 	Other	revenue	represents	amounts	receivable	for	project	management	services,	development	fees	and	subsidies	receivable	for	the	development	of	

low-cost	housing.	It	also	includes	amounts	receivable	for	the	supply	of	construction-related	goods	and	services.

	 	Other	revenue	is	measured	at	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received	or	receivable	net	of	discounts,	VAT	and	other	sales-related	taxes.

	 	Other	revenue	is	recognised	when	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	are	transferred	and	the	amount	can	be	reliably	measured.

	 	Interest	income	is	recognised	on	a	time-proportion	basis,	taking	account	of	the	principal	outstanding	and	the	effective	rate	over	the	period	to	
maturity,	when	it	is	determined	that	such	income	will	accrue	to	the	group.	

	 	Dividends	are	recognised	when	the	right	to	receive	payment	is	established.

 dEFErrEd TAXATION
	 	Deferred	taxation	is	provided	on	differences	between	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	in	the	financial	statements	and	the	

corresponding	tax	bases	used	in	the	computation	of	taxable	profit,	and	is	accounted	for	using	the	statement	of	financial	position	liability	method.	
Deferred	taxation	liabilities	are	recognised	for	all	taxable	temporary	differences	and	deferred	taxation	assets	are	recognised	to	the	extent	that	it	is	
probable	that	taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	deductible	temporary	differences	can	be	utilised.

	 	Such	assets	and	liabilities	are	not	recognised	if	the	temporary	differences	arise	from	goodwill	or	from	the	initial	recognition,	other	than	in	a	
business	combination,	of	other	assets	and	liabilities	in	a	transaction	that	affects	neither	the	taxable	profit	not	the	accounting	profit.

	 	The	carrying	amount	of	a	deferred	taxation	asset	is	reviewed	at	each	statement	of	financial	position	date	and	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	is	no	
longer	probable	that	sufficient	taxable	profits	will	be	available	to	allow	all	or	part	of	the	asset	to	be	recovered.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 dEFErrEd TAXATION (continued)
	 	Deferred	taxation	is	calculated	at	the	taxation	rates	that	are	expected	to	apply	in	the	period	when	the	liability	is	settled	or	the	asset	realised.	

Deferred	taxation	is	charged	or	credited	to	profit	or	loss,	except	when	it	relates	to	items	charged	or	credited	directly	to	equity,	in	which	case	the	
deferred	taxation	is	also	charged	or	credited	directly	to	equity.

	 	Deferred	taxation	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	when	there	is	a	legal	enforceable	right	to	offset	and	when	the	deferred	taxation	relates	to	the	
same	fiscal	authority.

 FINANCIAL INSTrUmENTS
	 	Financial	instruments	carried	on	the	statement	of	financial	position	include	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	investments,	contract	debtors,	receivables,	

trade	payables,	leases	and	borrowings.	The	particular	recognition	methods	are	disclosed	in	the	individual	policy	statements	or	notes	to	the	financial	
statements.

 HEdGE ACCOUNTING
	 	For	financial	reporting	purposes	forward	exchange	contracts	are	designated	as	fair	value	hedges	or	cash	flow	hedges	as	appropriate	and	are	

designated	at	group	level	as	hedges	of	foreign	exchange	risk	on	specific	assets,	liabilities	or	future	transactions.

	 	When	forward	exchange	contracts	are	entered	into	as	fair	value	hedges,	no	hedge	accounting	is	applied.	All	gains	and	losses	on	such	contracts	are	
recognised	in	the	income	statement.

	 	Where	a	derivative	instrument	is	designated	as	a	cash	flow	hedge	of	an	asset,	liability	or	expected	future	transaction,	the	effective	part	of	any	gain	
or	loss	arising	on	the	derivative	instrument	is	classified	as	a	hedging	reserve	in	the	statement	of	changes	in	equity	until	the	underlying	transaction	
occurs.	The	ineffective	part	of	any	gain	or	loss	is	immediately	recognised	in	the	income	statement.

	 	When	the	expected	future	transaction	results	in	the	recognition	of	an	asset	or	liability,	the	associated	gain	or	loss	is	transferred	from	the	hedging	
reserve	to	the	underlying	asset	or	liability.	Other	cash	flow	hedge	gains	or	losses	are	recognised	in	the	income	statement	at	the	same	time	as	the	
hedged	transaction	occurs.

	 	Other	derivative	financial	instruments	are	initially	recorded	at	fair	value	on	the	date	that	the	contract	is	entered	into	and	are	subsequently	
measured	at	their	fair	value	with	resulting	gains	or	losses	being	accounted	for	in	the	income	statement.

 CASH ANd CASH EQUIvALENTS
	 	Cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	initially	recorded	at	fair	value	and	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost.	For	the	purpose	of	the	cash	flow	

statement,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand	and	bank	balances,	net	of	bank	overdrafts.

 PrOvISIONS
	 	Provisions	are	recognised	when	the	group	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	as	a	result	of	past	events	and	it	is	probable	that	an	

outflow of	resources	embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation	and	a	reliable	estimate	of	the	amount	of	the	obligation	
can	be	made.

	 	Provisions	are	measured	at	the	directors’	best	estimate	of	the	expenditure	required	to	settle	that	obligation	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	
date,	and	are	discounted	to	present	value	where	the	effect	is	material.

 EmPLOyEE BENEFITS
 Pension obligations
	 	Group	companies	have	various	pension	schemes	in	accordance	with	the	local	conditions	and	practices	in	the	countries	in	which	they	operate.	A	

defined	benefit	plan	is	a	pension	plan	that	defines	an	amount	of	pension	benefit	to	be	provided	based	on	a	function	of	various	factors	such	as	age,	
years	of	service	and	compensation.	A	defined	contribution	plan	is	a	privately	administered	pension	insurance	plan	under	which	the	group	pays	fixed	
contributions	into	a	fund	and	will	have	no	legal	or	constructive	obligations	to	pay	further	contributions	if	the	fund	does	not	hold	sufficient	assets	
to	pay	all	employees	benefits	relating	to	employee	service	in	the	current	and	prior	periods.

	 	The	liability	in	respect	of	defined	benefit	pension	plans	is	the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	
date	less	the	fair	value	of	plan	assets,	together	with	adjustments	for	actuarial	gains/losses	and	past	service	cost.	The	defined	benefit	obligation	is	
calculated	every	three	years	by	independent	actuaries	using	the	projected	unit	credit	method.	The	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	is	
determined	by	the	estimated	future	cash	outflows	using	interest	rates	approximating	the	terms	of	the	related	liability.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 EmPLOyEE BENEFITS (continued)
	 	The	group	has	elected	to	apply	the	corridor	method	in	terms	of	which	the	portion	of	actuarial	gains	and	losses	recognised	is	the	excess	over	the	

greater	of:
	 a)	 	10%	of	the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	at	the	end	of	the	previous	reporting	period	(before	deducting	plan	assets);	and
	 b)	 	10%	of	the	fair	value	of	any	plan	assets	at	the	same	date,	

divided	by	the	expected	average	remaining	working	lives	of	the	employees	participating	in	the	fund.

	 The	application	of	the	corridor	method	is	subject	to	“paragraph	58	limit”.

	 	The	“paragraph	58	limit”	ensures	the	asset	to	be	recognised	on	the	group’s	statement	of	financial	position	is	subject	to	a	maximum	of	the	sum	of	
any	recognised	actuarial	losses,	past	service	costs	and	the	present	value	of	any	economic	benefits	available	to	the	group	in	the	form	of	refunds	or	
reductions	in	future	contributions.

 Termination benefits
	 	Termination	benefits	are	payable	whenever	an	employee’s	employment	is	terminated	before	the	normal	retirement	date	or	whenever	an	employee	

accepts	voluntary	redundancy	in	exchange	for	these	benefits.	The	group	recognises	termination	benefits	when	it	is	demonstrably	committed	to	
either	terminate	the	employment	of	current	employees	according	to	a	detailed	formal	plan	without	possibility	of	withdrawal	or	to	provide	
termination	benefits	as	a	result	of	an	offer	made	to	encourage	voluntary	redundancy.

 Leave pay
	 Accrual	is	made	for	the	estimated	liability	for	annual	leave	and	long-service	leave	as	a	result	of	services	rendered	by	employees.

 Share-based payments
	 	Share	options	are	granted	to	employees	in	terms	of	the	scheme	detailed	in	note	38.	The	net	cost	of	share	options,	calculated	as	the	difference	

between	the	fair	value	of	such	options	at	grant	date	and	the	price	at	which	the	options	were	granted,	are	expensed	over	their	vesting	periods.	
Non-market	vesting	conditions	are	included	in	assumptions	about	the	number	of	options	that	are	expected	to	vest.

	 	The	fair	value	of	options	granted	is	determined	by	using	the	European	Binomial	simulation	model,	taking	into	account	the	terms	and	conditions	
upon	which	the	options	were	granted	and	any	market	vesting	conditions.

	 	At	each	statement	of	financial	position	date,	the	group	revises	its	estimates	of	the	number	of	options	that	are	expected	to	vest.	It	recognises	the	
impact	of	the	revision	to	original	estimates,	if	any,	in	the	income	statement,	with	a	corresponding	adjustment	to	equity.

	 Options	exercised	are	equity	settled	through	a	fresh	issue	of	shares.

 dIvIdENdS
	 	Dividends	are	recorded	in	the	group’s	financial	statements	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	approved	by	the	group’s	shareholders.

 SEGmENT rEPOrTING
	 	Operating	segments	are	reported	in	a	manner	consistent	with	the	internal	reporting	provided	to	the	chief	operating	decision	maker.	The	chief	

operating	decision	maker,	who	is	responsible	for	allocating	resources	and	assessing	performance	of	the	operating	segments,	has	been	identified	as	
the	executive	committee	that	makes	strategic	decisions.

 Inter-segment transfers
	 	Segment	revenue,	segment	expenses	and	segment	results	include	transfers	between	business	segments.	Such	transfers	are	accounted	for	based	on	

commercial	terms	and	conditions	at	market-related	prices.	These	transfers	are	eliminated	on	consolidation.

 Segment revenue and expenses
	 	All	segment	revenue	and	expenses	are	directly	attributable	to	the	segments	and	are	disclosed	at	the	operating	profit	level.

 Segment assets and liabilities
	 	Segment	assets	include	all	operating	assets	and	consist	principally	of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	inventory,	contract	debtors	and	retentions	and	

receivables	and	prepayments.

	 	Segment	liabilities	include	all	operating	liabilities	and	consist	principally	of	interest-bearing	borrowings,	trade	and	other	payables	and	taxation.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 ENvIrONmENTAL OBLIGATIONS
	 	Long-term	environmental	obligations	arise	from	the	group’s	stone-crushing	activities,	in	compliance	with	current	environmental	and	regulatory	

requirements	and	contractual	agreements.

	 	Full	provision	is	made	on	the	net	present	value	of	the	estimated	cost	of	restoring	the	environmental	disturbance	that	has	occurred	up	to	the	
statement	of	financial	position	date.	Increases	due	to	additional	environmental	disturbances	are	capitalised	and	amortised	over	the	period	of	the	
contractual	agreement.	These	increases	are	accounted	for	on	a	net	present	value	basis.

	 	Annual	increases	in	the	provision	relating	to	the	change	in	the	net	present	value	of	the	provision	and	inflationary	increases	are	accounted	for	in	
earnings.

	 	The	estimated	costs	of	rehabilitation	are	reviewed	annually	and	adjusted	as	appropriate	for	changes	in	legislation,	technology	or	other	
circumstances.	Cost	estimates	are	not	reduced	by	the	potential	proceeds	from	the	sale	of	assets	or	from	plant	clean-up	at	closure.

2. rESTATEmENT OF PrIOr yEAr STATEmENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ANd STATEmENT OF CASH FLOWS
	 	On	21	December	2009,	the	group	acquired	the	TWP	group	for	a	provisional	purchase	consideration	of	R661,4	million.	The	TWP	group’s	core	

business	is	the	provision	of	engineering,	procurement	and	construction	management	for	clients.

	 	During	the	current	financial	year,	the	purchase	consideration	and	the	purchase	price	allocation	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	the	TWP	group	was	
finalised,	resulting	in	a	revised	allocation	to	the	fair	values	of	assets,	liabilities	and	goodwill.

	 	On	1	September	2009,	the	group	finalised	the	acquisition	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	group	for	a	provisional	purchase	consideration	of	
R351,5 million.	The	Gerolemou/Mvela	group’s	core	business	is	the	construction	of	buildings	for	clients	in	South	Africa.

	 	The	group	finalised	the	purchase	consideration	for	the	acquisition	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	group	in	the	year	under	review,	which	led	to	a	revised	
amount	of	goodwill.

	 	In	terms	of	the	guidance	provided	in	IFRS	3	Business Combinations,	the	group	has	restated	its	statement	of	financial	position	and	statement	of	cash	
flows,	and	accompanying	notes,	for	the	2009	financial	year,	to	reflect	the	abovementioned	changes	as	if	they	had	occurred	at	the	acquisition	date.	
These	changes	did	not	impact	the	income	statement,	statement	of	comprehensive	income	and	statement	of	changes	in	equity.

	 	Further	details	are	provided	in	note	44.

3. FINANCIAL rISK mANAGEmENT
 FINANCIAL rISK FACTOrS
	 	The	group’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks:	market	risk	(including	currency	risk,	interest	rate	risk	and	price	risk),	credit	risk	and	

liquidity	risk.	The	group’s	overall	risk	management	programme	focuses	on	the	unpredictability	of	financial	markets	and	seeks	to	minimise	potential	
adverse	effects	on	the	group’s	financial	performance.	From	time	to	time,	the	group	uses	derivative	financial	instruments	to	hedge	certain	risk	
exposures.

	 	Risk	management	is	carried	out	by	financial	management	under	policies	approved	by	the	board	of	directors.	This	function	identifies,	evaluates	and,	
in	certain	circumstances,	hedges	financial	risks	in	close	co-operation	with	the	group’s	various	operating	divisions.	The	board	provides	principles	for	
overall	risk	management,	as	well	as	policies	covering	specific	areas,	such	as	foreign	exchange	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	credit	risk,	use	of	derivative	
financial	instruments	and	investing	excess	liquidity.

 a. market risk
  i. Foreign exchange risk
	 	 	 	The	group	operates	mainly	in	sub-Saharan	Africa,	Australia	and	South	America	and	is	exposed	to	foreign	exchange	risk	arising	from	various	

currency	exposures.	Foreign	exchange	risk	arises	from	future	commercial	transactions,	recognised	assets	and	liabilities	and	net	investments	
in	foreign	operations.	The	group	is	subject	to	transaction	and	translation	exposure	due	to	fluctuations	in	foreign	currency	exchange	rates.

	 	 	 	Management	requires	that	group	companies	and	divisions	manage	their	foreign	exchange	risk	against	their	functional	currency.	The	group	
companies	and	divisions	are	required	to	report	potential	foreign	currency	risk	exposure	to	the	centralised	group	treasury.	The	group	
treasury	will	assess	the	risk	and	the	possible	financial	impact	using	various	scenario	planning	techniques.	To	manage	foreign	exchange	risk	
arising	from	future	commercial	transactions	and	recognised	assets	and	liabilities,	group	treasury	may	use	forward	contracts,	transacted	with	
various	financial	institutions.	Foreign	exchange	risk	arises	when	future	commercial	transactions	or	recognised	assets	and	liabilities	are	
denominated	in	a	currency	that	is	not	the	entity’s	functional	currency.
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3. FINANCIAL rISK mANAGEmENT (continued)
 FINANCIAL rISK FACTOrS (continued)
 a. market risk (continued)
  i. Foreign exchange risk (continued)
	 	 	 	The	group	treasury’s	risk	management	policy	is	to	assess	the	anticipated	cash	flows	of	each	contract	individually	and	to	hedge	an	

appropriate	percentage	of	these	cash	flows	so	as	to	match	costs	and	revenues	in	each	foreign	currency.

	 	 	 	The	group	has	certain	investments	in	foreign	subsidiaries,	whose	net	assets	are	exposed	to	foreign	currency	translation	risk.	Currency	
exposure	arising	from	the	net	assets	of	the	group’s	foreign	operations	is	managed	primarily	through	borrowings	denominated	in	the	
relevant	foreign	currencies.

	 	 	 	The	group	did	not	have	any	foreign	exchange	exposures	at	31	December	2010	and	at	31	December	2009.

  ii. Interest rate risk
	 	 	 	As	the	group	has	no	significant	interest-bearing	assets,	the	group’s	income	and	operating	cash	flows	are	substantially	independent	of	changes	

in	market	interest	rates.

	 	 	 	The	group’s	interest	rate	risk	arises	from	long-term	borrowings.	Borrowings	issued	at	variable	rates	expose	the	group	to	cash	flow	interest	
rate	risk,	which	is	partially	offset	by	cash	held	at	variable	interest	rates.	Borrowings	issued	at	fixed	rates	expose	the	group	to	fair	value	
interest	rate	risk.	The	group	maintains	its	borrowings	at	variable	interest	rates.	During	2010	and	2009,	the	group’s	borrowings	at	variable	
rate	were	denominated	in	the	functional	currency.

	 	 	 	A	100	basis	points	movement	in	the	prime	rate	would	result	in	a	17%	change	in	interest	charged.

	 	 	 In	2009,	a	100	basis	points	movement	in	the	prime	rate	would	have	resulted	in	a	12%	change	in	interest	charged.

  iii. Price risk
	 	 	 	The	group	is	exposed	to	equity	securities	price	risk	because	of	investments	held	by	the	group	and	classified	on	the	consolidated	statement	

of	financial	position	as	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	To	manage	this	price	risk	the	group	diversifies	its	portfolio,	in	accordance	with	limits	
set	by	management.

	 	 	 	The	group	holds	limited	direct	investments	in	the	equity	of	other	entities	and	instead	invests	in	unit	trust	products	that	are	diversified	in	
terms	of	the	entities	invested	in	and	have	a	minimum	guaranteed	return	at	the	end	of	the	investment	term.	The	underlying	equities	are	
publicly	traded	and	are	included	in	the	All	Share	Index	as	quoted	by	the	Johannesburg	Stock	Exchange	(JSE).

	 	 	 	The	group’s	investments	in	equity	of	other	entities	that	are	publicly	traded	are	included	in	the	Alternative	Investment	Market	(AIM)	at	the	
London	Stock	Exchange	(LSE)	and	the	AltX	Index	at	the	Johannesburg	Stock	Exchange	(JSE).

	 	 	 	The	group	is	exposed	to	materials	price	risk	because	of	the	fluctuation	in	the	price	of	various	raw	materials,	including	diesel,	steel,	cement	
and	rubber.	More	than	80%	of	the	contracts	that	the	group	enters	into	provide	for	escalation	in	the	prices	of	raw	materials.	In	these	cases,	
the	price	risk	is	borne	by	the	client.	In	the	case	of	fixed	price	contracts,	the	group	is	exposed	to	price	risk.	To	minimise	this	risk,	price	
curves	are	determined	for	each	type	of	raw	material	and	the	expected	movement	in	the	cost	of	raw	materials	is	built	into	the	cost	of	the	
contract.

	 	 	 	To	minimise	the	exposure	to	price	risk	for	the	group	as	well	as	all	clients,	the	group	may	enter	into	supplier	agreements	for	the	supply	of	
raw	materials	at	favourable	rates.

	 	 	 	The	group	may,	from	time	to	time,	use	derivative	financial	instruments	to	hedge	certain	of	its	materials	price	risk	exposures.	These	
instruments	would	be	evaluated	in	accordance	with	limits	set	by	management.

	 	 	 	The	group	did	not	have	any	exposure	to	derivative	financial	instruments	entered	into	to	hedge	materials	price	risk	exposures	at	
31 December	2010	and	at	31	December	2009.
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3. FINANCIAL rISK mANAGEmENT (continued)
 FINANCIAL rISK FACTOrS (continued)
 b. Credit risk
	 	 	Credit	risk	is	managed	on	a	group	basis,	except	for	credit	risk	relating	to	contract	and	trade	debtors	balances.	Each	local	entity	is	responsible	

for	managing	and	analysing	the	credit	risk	for	each	of	their	new	clients	before	standard	payment	and	delivery	terms	and	conditions	are	offered.	
Credit	risk	arises	from	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	deposits	with	banks	and	financial	institutions	and	credit	exposures	to	customers,	including	
contract	debtors	and	outstanding	receivables.	For	banks	and	financial	institutions,	only	independently	rated	parties	with	a	minimum	rating	of	‘A’	
are	accepted.	If	customers	are	independently	rated,	these	ratings	are	used.	Otherwise,	if	there	is	no	independent	rating,	the	risk	committee	
assesses	the	credit	quality	of	the	customer,	taking	into	account	its	financial	position,	past	experience	and	other	factors.	In	cases	where	the	risk	
committee	deems	the	risk	level	to	be	unacceptable,	payment	guarantees	issued	by	the	customer	are	insisted	upon.

	 	 	Refer	to	note	23	for	further	information	on	the	group’s	credit	risk	profile.

 c. Liquidity risk
	 	 	Cash	flow	forecasting	is	performed	by	financial	management.	The	group	treasury	monitors	rolling	forecasts	of	the	group’s	liquidity	requirements	

to	ensure	that	it	has	sufficient	cash	to	meet	operational	needs	while	maintaining	sufficient	headroom	on	its	undrawn	committed	borrowing	
facilities	at	all	times	so	that	the	group	does	not	breach	borrowing	limits	or	covenants	(where	applicable)	on	any	of	its	borrowing	facilities.	Such	
forecasting	takes	into	consideration	the	group’s	debt	financing	plans,	covenant	compliance,	compliance	with	internal	statement	of	financial	
position	ratio	targets	and,	if	applicable,	external	regulatory	or	legal	requirements.

	 	 	Surplus	cash	held	over	and	above	balances	required	for	working	capital	management	is	invested	in	interest-bearing	current	accounts,	money	
market	deposits	and	time	deposits,	choosing	instruments	with	appropriate	maturities	or	sufficient	liquidity	to	provide	sufficient	headroom	as	
determined	by	the	abovementioned	forecasts.

	 	 The	major	sources	of	funds	for	the	group	are	as	follows:
	 	 •	 	undrawn	facilities
	 	 •	 available	cash

	 	 Due	to	the	nature	of	the	group’s	activities,	which	includes	progress	payments,	the	liquidity	risk	is	minimal.

	 	 	The	table	below	analyses	the	group’s	financial	liabilities	into	relevant	maturity	groupings	based	on	the	remaining	period	at	the	statement	of	
financial	position	date	to	the	contractual	maturity	date.	The	amounts	disclosed	in	the	table	are	the	contractual	undiscounted	cash	flows,	
including	interest	repayments.	Balances	due	within	12	months	equal	their	carrying	balances	as	the	impact	of	discounting	is	not	significant.

0 – 3 months
r’000

4 – 12 months
r’000

1– 5 years
r’000

>5 years
r’000

Total
r’000

At 31 december 2010

Interest-bearing	borrowings  70 559  310 233  356 787  –  737 579 

Other	borrowings  –  89 017  56 594  –  145 611 

Trade	and	other	payables  1 281 368  272 254  –  –  1 553 622 

 1 351 927  671 504  413 381  –  2 436 812 

At 31 december 2009

Interest-bearing	borrowings 	149	100	 	274	840	 	368	331	 	–	 	792	271	

Other	borrowings 	–	 	85	873	 	87	621	 	11	456	 	184	950	

Trade	and	other	payables 	1	042	869	 	439	615	 	–	 	–	 	1	482	484	

	1	191	969	 	800	328	 	455	952	 	11	456	 	2	459	705	
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3. FINANCIAL rISK mANAGEmENT (continued)
FINANCIAL rISK FACTOrS (continued)

c. Liquidity risk (continued)
The	table	below	analyses	the	group’s	derivative	financial	instruments	which	will	be	settled	on	a	gross	basis	into	the	relevant	maturity	groupings	
based	on	the	remaining	period	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	date	to	the	contractual	maturity	date.	The	amounts	disclosed	in	the	table	
are	the	contractual	undiscounted	cash	flows.	Balances	due	within	12	months	equal	their	carrying	balances	as	the	impact	of	discounting	is	
not significant.

0 – 3 months
r’000

4  – 12 months
r’000

1 – 5 years
r’000

>5 years
r’000

Total
r’000

At 31 december 2010

Forward	foreign	exchange	contracts  –  –  –  –  – 

At 31 december 2009

Forward	foreign	exchange	contracts 	–	 	–	 	–	 	–	 	–	

4. CAPITAL rISK mANAGEmENT
	 	The	group’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	safeguard	the	group’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern	in	order	to	provide	returns	for	

shareholders	and	benefits	for	other	stakeholders	and	to	maintain	an	optimal	capital	structure	to	reduce	the	cost	of	capital.

	 	In	order	to	maintain	or	adjust	the	capital	structure,	the	group	may	adjust	the	amount	of	dividends	paid	to	shareholders,	return	capital	to	
shareholders,	issue	new	shares	or	sell	assets	to	reduce	debt.

	 The	group	considers	total	equity	and	interest-bearing	borrowings	to	comprise	capital.

	 	Consistent	with	others	in	the	industry,	the	group	monitors	capital	on	the	basis	of	the	gearing	ratio.	This	ratio	is	calculated	as	net	debt	divided	by	
total	capital.	Net	debt	is	calculated	as	total	borrowings	(including	‘current	and	non-current	interest-bearing	borrowings	and	other	borrowings’	as	
shown	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position)	less	cash	and	cash	equivalents.	Total	equity	is	calculated	as	‘capital	and	reserves’	as	shown	
in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	plus	net	debt.

	 The	gearing	ratios	at	31	December	2010	and	2009	were	as	follows:

 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

Total	borrowings	(notes	29	and	30)  802 682 	890	188	

Less:	Cash	and	cash	equivalents	(note	25)  (978 656) 	(1	221	805)

Net	debt/(cash)  (175 974) 	(331	617)

Total	equity  1 708 885 1	500	916

Total	capital  1 532 911 	1	169	299	

Gearing	ratio	(%) (11,5) (28,4)
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4. CAPITAL rISK mANAGEmENT (continued)
	 	The	group	considers	a	gearing	ratio	of	less	than	50%	to	be	acceptable.	This	is	reviewed	annually	after	considering	market	conditions	and	the	

growth	goals	of	the	group.

	 	The	group	further	monitors	the	capital	ratio	on	the	basis	of	the	debt	equity	ratio,	and	manages	interest-bearing	liabilities	with	reference	to	the	
assets	they	are	used	to	finance.	The	debt	equity	ratio	is	calculated	as	total	long-term	debt	divided	by	total	equity.	Total	equity	is	calculated	as	‘capital	
and	reserves’	as	shown	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position.

 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

Total	long-term	debt  363 846 	430	209	

Total	equity  1 708 885 	1	500	916	

Debt:	equity	ratio	(%) 21,3 28,7

	 	The	group	considers	a	debt	equity	ratio	of	less	than	100%	to	be	acceptable.	This	is	reviewed	annually	after	considering	market	conditions	and	the	
growth	goals	of	the	group.

	 	The	ratio	of	interest-bearing	debt	to	the	net	book	value	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	development	land	is	calculated	as	follows:

 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

Total	interest-bearing	borrowings	(note	29)  677 391 	720	316	

Total	assets	financed  1 225 328 	1	062	573	

Property,	plant	and	equipment	(note	15)  873 390 	781	855	

Development	land	(note	22)  351 938 	280	718	

Ratio	of	interest-bearing	debt	to	assets	financed	(%) 55,3 67,8

	 	The	group	considers	a	ratio	of	80%	or	less	to	be	acceptable.	This	is	reviewed	annually	after	considering	market	conditions	and	the	growth	goals	of	
the	group.

	 	The	only	loan	covenant	in	place	is	in	the	group’s	subsidiaries	in	Namibia.	This	covenant	requires	the	subsidiaries	to	ensure	that	its	interest-bearing	
debt	to	shareholders	funds	on	a	consolidated	basis,	expressed	as	a	percentage	of	shareholders	funds,	is	not	more	than	100%.	For	the	purposes	of	
the	covenant,	interest-bearing	debt	is	defined	as	all	debts	of	an	interest-bearing	nature,	including	contingent	liabilities,	less	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	
excluding	amounts	received	as	cash	advance	payments	on	contracts.	Shareholders	funds	means	the	sum	of	issued	share	capital,	share	premium,	
reserves,	excluding	asset	revaluation	reserves,	retained	income	less	accumulated	losses	plus	any	ceded	or	subordinated	shareholders	loans	less	any	
amounts	attributable	to	goodwill	or	any	other	intangible	assets.	The loan	covenant	was	met	at	31	December	2010.
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5. FAIr vALUE ESTImATION
	 	The	table	below	analyses	financial	instruments	carried	at	fair	value,	by	valuation	method.	The	different	levels	have	been	defined	as	follows:
	 Level	1:	 Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities
	 Level	2:	 	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	(that	is,	as	prices)	or	

indirectly	(that	is,	derived	from	prices)
	 Level	3:	 Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(that	is	unobservable	inputs)

	 The	following	table	presents	the	group’s	assets	and	liabilities	that	are	measured	at	fair	value	at	31	December	2010.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

Financial assets

Available-for-sale	financial	assets
–	equity	instruments 11	420 24	838 6 	36	264	

The	following	table	presents	the	group’s	assets	and	liabilities	that	
are	measured	at	fair	value	at	31	December	2009.

Financial assets

Available-for-sale	financial	assets
–	equity	instruments 5	902 19	506 6 	25	414	

	 	The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	traded	in	active	markets	is	based	on	quoted	market	prices	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.	
A market	is	regarded	as	active	if	quoted	prices	are	readily	and	regularly	available	from	an	exchange,	dealer,	broker,	industry	group,	pricing	service	or	
regulatory	agency,	and	those	prices	represent	actual	and	regularly	occurring	market	transactions	on	an	arm’s	length	basis.	The	quoted	market	price	
used	for	financial	assets	held	by	the	group	is	the	current	bid	price.	These	instruments	are	included	in	level	1.	Instruments	included	in	level	1	
comprise	primarily	LSE	and	JSE	listed	equity	investments	classified	as	available-for-sale.

	 	The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	that	are	not	traded	in	an	active	market	(for	example,	over-the-counter	derivatives)	is	determined	by	using	
valuation	techniques.	These	valuation	techniques	maximise	the	use	of	observable	market	data	where	it	is	available	and	rely	as	little	as	possible	on	
entity	specific	estimates.	If	all	significant	inputs	required	to	fair	value	an	instrument	are	observable,	the	instrument	is	included	in	level	2.

	 	If	one	or	more	of	the	significant	inputs	is	not	based	on	observable	market	data,	the	instrument	is	included	in	level	3.

	 Specific	valuation	techniques	used	to	value	financial	instruments	include:
	 •	 	Quoted	market	prices	or	dealer	quotes	for	similar	instruments.
	 •	 	The	fair	value	of	forward	exchange	contracts	is	determined	using	forward	exchange	rates	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.
	 •	 	Other	techniques,	such	as	discounted	cash	flow	analysis,	are	used	to	determine	fair	value	for	the	remaining	financial	instruments.
	 •	 	The	carrying	value	less	impairment	provision	of	contract	debtors,	other	receivables	and	trade	payables	are	assumed	to	approximate	their	fair	

values	due	to	the	short-term	nature	of	these	balances.	The	fair	value	of	financial	liabilities	for	disclosure	purposes	is	estimated	by	discounting	the	
future	contractual	cash	flows	at	the	current	market	interest	rate	that	is	available	to	the	group	for	similar	instruments.
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6. CrITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTImATES ANd JUdGEmENTS
	 	Estimates	and	judgements	are	continually	evaluated	and	are	based	on	historical	experience	and	other	factors,	including	expectations	of	future	

events	that	are	believed	to	be	reasonable	under	the	circumstances.

	 	The	group	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	concerning	the	future.	The	resulting	accounting	estimates	will,	by	definition,	seldom	equal	the	related	
actual	results.	The	estimates	and	assumptions	that	have	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	
liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year	are	discussed	below.

 Provision for impairment of contract debtors
	 	A	provision	for	impairment	of	contract	debtors	is	established	when	there	is	objective	evidence	that	the	group	will	not	be	able	to	collect	all	

amounts	due	according	to	the	original	terms	of	receivables.	Significant	financial	difficulties	of	the	debtor,	probability	that	the	debtor	will	enter	
bankruptcy	or	financial	reorganisation,	and	default	or	delinquency	in	payments	are	considered	indicators	that	the	contract	debtor	is	impaired.	The	
amount	of	the	provision	is	the	difference	between	the	contract	debtor’s	carrying	amount	and	the	present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows,	
discounted	at	the	effective	interest	rate.	Refer	to	note	23	for	the	carrying	value.

 Accounting for construction contracts
	 	The	group	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	concerning	the	future,	particularly	as	regards	construction	contract	profit	taking,	provisions,	

arbitrations	and	claims.	The	resulting	accounting	estimates	can,	by	definition,	only	approximate	the	actual	results.	Estimates	and	judgements	are	
continually	evaluated	and	are	based	on	historical	experience	and	other	factors,	including	expectations	of	future	events	that	are	believed	to	be	
reasonable	under	the	circumstances.	Refer	to	note	31	for	details	of	the	group’s	contract	provisions.

	 	The	group	uses	the	‘percentage	of	completion	method’	to	determine	the	appropriate	amount	of	revenue	to	recognise	in	a	given	period.	The	stage	
of	completion	is	measured	by	reference	to	the	contract	costs	incurred	up	to	the	statement	of	financial	position	date	as	a	percentage	of	total	
estimated	costs	for	each	contract	and	physical	completion.	Costs	incurred	in	the	year	in	connection	with	future	activity	on	a	contract	are	excluded	
from	contract	costs	in	determining	the	stage	of	completion.	They	are	presented	as	inventories,	prepayments	or	other	assets,	depending	on	their	
nature.

 Property, plant and equipment
	 	Property,	plant	and	equipment	is	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	its	useful	life	to	residual	value.	Residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	based	

on	management’s	best	estimate	and	actual	future	outcomes	may	differ	from	these	estimates.	Refer	to	note	15	for	details	of	the	group’s	property,	
plant	and	equipment.

	 	The	group	annually	tests	whether	property,	plant	and	equipment	has	suffered	any	impairment.	When	performing	impairment	testing,	the	
recoverable	amount	is	determined	for	the	individual	asset.	If	the	asset	does	not	generate	cash	flows	that	are	largely	independent	from	other	assets	
or	groups	of	assets	then	the	recoverable	amounts	of	cash-generating	units	that	those	assets	belong	to	are	determined	based	on	discounted	future	
cash	flows.

 deferred taxation
	 	A	deferred	tax	asset	is	recognised	with	the	carry-forward	of	unused	tax	losses	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	taxable	profit	will	be	

available	against	which	the	unused	tax	losses	can	be	utilised.

	 	The	group	considered	the	following	criteria	in	assessing	the	probability	that	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	unused	tax	losses	can	
be	utilised:

	 •	 	Whether	the	entity	has	sufficient	taxable	temporary	differences	relating	to	the	same	taxation	authority	and	the	same	taxable	entity,	which	will	
result	in	taxable	amounts	against	which	the	unused	tax	losses	can	be	utilised.

	 •	 	Whether	it	is	probable	that	the	entity	will	have	taxable	profits	before	the	unused	tax	losses	expire.
	 •	 	Whether	the	unused	tax	losses	result	from	identifiable	causes	which	are	unlikely	to	recur.
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6. CrITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTImATES ANd JUdGEmENTS (continued)
	 deferred taxation (continued)
	 	To	the	extent	that	it	is	not	probable	that	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	unused	tax	losses	or	unused	tax	credits	can	be	utilised,	

the	deferred	tax	asset	is	not	recognised.	To	determine	the	probability	that	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	unused	tax	losses	can	be	
utilised,	the	group	has	reviewed	its	forecasts	of	secured	work	for	the	foreseeable	future	and	compared	that	to	its	total	tax	losses.

	 Refer	to	note	19	for	details	of	the	group’s	deferred	tax	assets.

 defined benefit plan
	 	The	defined	benefit	obligation	calculation	is	subject	to	estimates	of	future	contributions,	mortality	tables	and	discount	rates.	These	estimates	could	

change	materially	over	time.	The	principal	actuarial	assumptions	used	for	valuation	purposes	of	the	group’s	defined	benefit	plan	can	be	found	in	
note	38(b)	of	this	report.

 Contingencies
	 	By	their	nature,	contingencies	will	only	be	resolved	when	one	or	more	future	events	occur	or	fail	to	occur.	The	assessment	of	such	contingencies	

inherently	involves	an	exercise	of	significant	judgement	and	estimates	of	the	outcome	of	future	events.	Refer	to	note	36	for	details	of	the	group’s	
contingent	liabilities.

 Goodwill
	 	The	group	annually	tests	whether	goodwill	has	suffered	any	impairment,	in	accordance	with	the	accounting	policy	stated	in	note	1.	The	recoverable	

amounts	of	cash-generating	units	have	been	determined	based	on	discounted	future	cash	flows.	These	calculations	require	the	use	of	estimates.

	 	The	following	elements	are	used	in	the	calculation	of	a	cash-generating	unit’s	value	in	use:
	 a.	 An	estimate	of	the	future	cash	flows	that	the	entity	expects	to	derive	from	the	cash-generating	unit.
	 b.	 Expectations	about	possible	variations	in	the	amount	or	timing	of	those	future	cash	flows.
	 c.	 The	time	value	of	money,	represented	by	the	current	market	risk-free	rate	of	interest.
	 d.	 The	price	for	bearing	the	uncertainty	inherent	in	the	cash-generating	unit.
	 e.	 	Other	factors,	such	as	illiquidity,	that	market	participants	would	reflect	in	pricing	the	future	cash	flows	the	group	expects	to	derive	from	the	

cash-generating	unit.

 Share-based payment
	 	The	fair	value	of	employee	share	options	is	determined	using	the	European	Binomial	simulation	model.	The	significant	inputs	into	this	model	are	

discussed	in	note	38(e).

 Purchase price allocation
	 	The	purchase	price	allocation	of	an	acquired	company	is	subject	to	the	correct	determination	of	the	fair	value	of	the	assets	given	up,	shares	issued	

or	liabilities	undertaken	at	the	date	of	exchange.	Any	excess	of	the	cost	of	the	acquisition	over	the	group’s	interest	in	the	net	fair	value	of	the	
identifiable	assets,	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	of	subsidiaries	at	the	date	of	acquisition	is	recorded	as	goodwill.	Details	of	business	
combinations	during	the	year	are	detailed	in	note	44.	
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7. FINANCIAL INSTrUmENTS
 a. Financial instruments by category
	 	 The	accounting	policies	for	financial	instruments	have	been	applied	to	the	line	items	below:

 Loans and 
receivables 

 r’000 

 Assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

 r’000 

 Available-
for-sale 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

31 december 2010

Assets as per statement of financial position

Advances	to	jointly	controlled	entities  13 943  –  –  13 943 

Advances	to	associates  1 266  –  –  1 266 

Available-for-sale	financial	assets  –  –  36 264  36 264 

Contract	and	trade	debtors  898 323  –  –  898 323 

Receivables  72 827  –  –  72 827 

Cash	and	cash	equivalents  1 011 550  –  –  1 011 550 

Total  1 997 909  –  36 264  2 034 173 

 At 
amortised 

cost 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

Interest-bearing	borrowings  677 391  677 391 

Other	borrowings  125 291  125 291 

Trade	and	other	payables  1 553 622  1 553 622 

Bank	overdraft  32 894  32 894 

Total  2 389 198  2 389 198 
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7. FINANCIAL INSTrUmENTS (continued)
 a. Financial instruments by category (continued)

 Loans and 
receivables 

 r’000 

 Assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

 r’000 

 Available-
for-sale 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

31 december 2009

Assets as per statement of financial position

Advances	to	jointly	controlled	entities 	12	149	 	–	 	–	 	12	149	

Advances	to	associates 	1	175	 	–	 	–	 	1	175	

Available-for-sale	financial	assets 	–	 	–	 	25	414	 	25	414	

Contract	and	trade	debtors 	813	170	 	–	 	–	 	813	170	

Receivables 	51	096	 	–	 	–	 	51	096	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 	1	246	039	 	–	 	–	 	1	246	039	

Total 	2	123	629	 	–	 	25	414	 	2	149	043	

 At 
amortised 

cost 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

Interest-bearing	borrowings 	720	316	 	720	316	

Other	borrowings 	169	872	 	169	872	

Trade	and	other	payables 	1	482	484	 	1	482	484	

Bank	overdraft 	24	234	 	24	234	

Total 	2	396	906	 	2	396	906	
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7. FINANCIAL INSTrUmENTS (continued)
b. Credit quality of financial assets

The	credit	quality	of	financial	assets	that	are	neither	past	due	nor	impaired	have	been	grouped	into	the	following	categories:	government,	
multinational	mining	companies,	listed	companies,	unlisted	companies	and	individuals.

Advances 
to jointly 

controlled 
entities

r’000

 Advances 
to 

associates 
r’000

 Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets 
r’000

 Contract 
and trade 

debtors 
r’000

 receivables 
r’000

 Cash and 
cash 

equivalents 
r’000

 Total 
r’000

31 december 2010

Government  –  –  –  422 364  45 638  –  468 002 

Multinational	mining	companies  –  –  –  110 013  –  –  110 013 

Listed	companies  –  –  36 258  87 066  –  1 011 203  1 134 527 

Unlisted	companies  13 943  1 266  6  70 551  26 268  347  112 381 

Individuals  –  –  –  6 209  921  –  7 130 

 13 943  1 266  36 264  696 203  72 827  1 011 550  1 832 053 

31 december 2009

Government 	–	 	–	 	–	 	229	667	 	17	874	 	–	 	247	541	

Multinational	mining	companies 	–	 	–	 	–	 	135	362	 	–	 	–	 	135	362	

Listed	companies 	–	 	–	 	25	408	 	120	132	 	–	 	1	245	324	 	1	390	864	

Unlisted	companies 	12	149	 	1	175	 	6	 	78	249	 	32	216	 	715	 	124	510	

Individuals 	–	 	–	 	–	 	343	 	1	006	 	–	 	1	349	

	12	149	 	1	175	 	25	414	 	563	753	 	51	096	 	1	246	039	 	1	899	626	

None	of	the	financial	assets	that	are	fully	performing	have	been	renegotiated	in	the	last	year.

 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

8. OTHEr INCOmE

Rent	received  252 –
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

9. OTHEr GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Fair	value	gain	on	forward	foreign	exchange	contract  – 	(448)

Gross	amount  – 	(448)

Taxation  – 	–	

Total gross amount  – 	(448)

10. OPErATING PrOFIT

The	following	items	have	been	(charged)/credited	in	arriving	at	operating	profit:

Raw	materials  (2 022 418) 	(2	460	160)

Subcontractors  (1 307 926) 	(1	069	825)

Depreciation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment

Owned assets  (156 759) 	(83	924)

Plant	and	equipment	and	rehabilitation	asset  (128 795) 	(80	230)

Furniture	and	fittings  (26 325) 	(3	354)

Land	and	buildings	and	surface	properties  (1 639) 	(340)

Leased assets

Plant	and	equipment	and	rehabilitation	asset  (64 035) 	(87	745)

Impairment	of	property,	plant	and	equipment  (531) 	(11	528)

Profit/(loss)	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment  2 234 	(2	151)

Gross	amount  2 597 	(2	501)

Taxation  (363) 	350	

Auditors’	remuneration*  (11 056) 	(6	295)

For	services	as	auditors  (8 899) 	(6	280)

For	other	services	  (2 157) 	(15)

Operating	leases  (39 119) 	(3	523)

Office	equipment  (2 326) 	(1	277)

Office	space	–	contractual  (36 110) 	(715)

Other	services  (683) 	(1	531)

Staff	costs	(refer	note	38)  (1 126 686) 	(806	373)

*  An amount of R13,0 million was paid to the group’s auditors in the prior year and capitalised to the cost of acquisition for the Gerolemou/Mvela Phanda and TWP groups for 
advisory and audit work done.
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

11. NET FINANCE INCOmE/(COSTS)

Bank 40 793 	63	707	

Customers	and	other  22 275 	1	562	

Interest received 63 068 	65	269	

Foreign exchange  6 138 	(9	949)

Bank	loans	and	other	borrowings  (40 405) 	(25	846)

Finance	leases  (21 581) 	(31	453)

Domestic	medium-term	note	programme  (22 816) 	(9	113)

(84 802) 	(66	412)

Less:	Amounts	capitalised	on	qualifying	assets  16 215 	14	111	

Interest paid  (68 587) 	(52	301)

Net finance costs  619 	3	019	

12. TAXATION

South African normal taxation

Current	taxation	  (88 766) 	(160	229)

	 Current	year  (83 215) 	(134	838)

	 Prior	year  (5 551) 	(25	391)

Deferred	taxation  4 006 	45	968	

	 Current	year  1 730 	34	159	

	 Prior	year  2 276 	11	809	

Secondary	taxation	on	companies	(STC)

	 Current	year  (5 200) 	(4	923)

Foreign taxation

Current	taxation	  (22 081) 	(3	489)

	 Current	year  (20 971) 	(3	580)

	 Prior	year  (1 110) 	91	

Deferred	taxation  (7 329) 	(18	196)

	 Current	year  (7 192) 	(19	251)

	 Rate	change  – 	(119)

	 Prior	year  (137) 	1	174	

Total	taxation	charged  (119 370) 	(140	869)

Capital	gains	of	R0,4	million	(2009:	Rnil)	have	been	utilised	against	assessed	losses	in	the	current	year.
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 2010 
 % 

	2009	
%	

12. TAXATION (continued)

reconciliation of the standard rate of taxation to effective rate

South	African	normal	rate	of	taxation  28,0 	28,0	

Foreign	taxation  0,1 	0,8	

Losses	utilised  (0,3) 	(0,2)

Secondary	taxation	on	companies	(STC)  1,4 	1,2	

Capital	gains	tax	(CGT)  – 	(0,8)

Prior	year	underprovision  1,2 	2,9	

Timing	differences	not	accounted	for	under	deferred	tax  1,5 	0,2	

Non-taxable	items  0,2 	2,1	

Effective	tax	rate  32,1 	34,2	

The	tax	rate	reconciliation	is	prepared	using	the	tax	rate	applicable	to	the	Basil	Read	group	in	
South Africa.	The	impact	of	tax	rate	differences	in	other	countries	is	disclosed	as	a	reconciling	item.

Timing	differences	not	accounted	for	under	deferred	taxation	include	the	result	of	certain	subsidiaries	
where	deferred	taxation	on	assessed	losses	have	not	been	provided.

Estimated tax losses

Total	estimated	tax	losses	of	subsidiaries	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	available	for	utilisation		
against	future	taxable	income	of	those	companies.  155 393 	109	843	

 2010 	2009	

13. EArNINGS PEr SHArE

Earnings per share (cents)  210,63 	317,15	

The	calculation	of	earnings	per	share	is	based	on	the	consolidated	profit	after	taxation	of	
R260 752 156	(2009:	R274	270	195)	and	the	weighted	average	number	of	shares	in	issue	during	the	
year	of	123	797	536	(2009:	86	478	733)	shares.

Headline earnings per share (cents)  209,25 	333,12	

The	calculation	of	headline	earnings	per	share	is	based	on	the	consolidated	headline	profit	after	
taxation	of	R259	049	592	(2009:	R288	079	294)	and	the	weighted	average	number	of	shares	in	issue	
during	the	year	of	123	797	536	(2009:	86	478	733)	shares.

diluted earnings per share (cents)  210,63 	316,49	

The	calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share	is	based	on	the	consolidated	profit	after	taxation	of	
R260 752	156	(2009:	R274	270	195)	and	the	weighted	average	number	of	shares	in	issue	during	the	
year	of	123	797	536	(2009:	86	659	897)	shares.

diluted headline earnings per share (cents)  209,25 	332,43	

The	calculation	of	diluted	headline	earnings	per	share	is	based	on	the	consolidated	headline	profit	
after taxation	of	R259	049	592	(2009:	R288	079	294)	and	the	weighted	average	number	of	shares	in	
issue	during	the	year	of	123	797	536	(2009:	86	659	897)	shares.
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 2010
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13. EArNINGS PEr SHArE (continued)

reconciliation between basic earnings, diluted earnings and headline earnings  
is as follows:

Basic	and	diluted	earnings  260 753 	274	270	

Adjusted	by	the	after	tax	effect	of	the	following:

Loss	on	sale	of	subsidiary  – 	130	

(Profit)/loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	(refer	note	10)  (2 234) 	2	151	

Impairment	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	(refer	note	10)  531 	11	528	

Headline	earnings  259 050 	288	079	

 Number 
’000 

	Number	
’000	

reconciliation between weighted average number of shares and diluted weighted 
average number of shares:

Weighted	average	number	of	shares  123 798 	86	479	

Adjusted	by:	Basil	Read	Share	Incentive	Scheme	(refer	note	38(e))  –* 	181	

Diluted	weighted	average	number	of	shares  123 798 	86	660	

* The market price was below the option strike price during the year.

 2010
r’000 

	2009
R’000	

14. dIvIdENdS

Dividends	paid  51 990 	50	148	

A	final	dividend	of	42	cents	per	share	in	respect	of	the	2009	financial	year	was	declared	on	11	March	2010	(2009:	58	cents	per	share)	and	paid	
on	17	May	2010.

A	final	dividend	in	respect	of	the	2010	financial	year	of	30	cents	per	share	was	approved	by	the	board	of	directors	on	24	March	2011.	This	
dividend	payable	is	not	reflected	in	these	financial	statements.	The	declaration	of	this	dividend	will	result	in	a	dividend	paid	of	R37	143	313	and	
a secondary	taxation	on	companies	tax	charge	of	R3	714	331	being	recognised	in	the	2011	financial	year.
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 Land and 
buildings 

and surface 
properties 

 r’000 

 mining 
assets 
 r’000 

 Plant and 
equipment and 

rehabilitation 
asset 

 r’000 

 Furniture 
and fittings 

 r’000 
 Total 

 r’000 

15. PrOPErTy, PLANT ANd EQUIPmENT

At 1 January 2009

Cost 	123	834	 	–	 	984	998	 	15	037	 	1	123	869	

Accumulated	depreciation 	(1	595) 	–	 	(351	578) 	(9	226) 	(362	399)

Net book amount 	122	239	 	–	 	633	420	 	5	811	 	761	470	

year ended 31 december 2009

Opening	net	book	amount 	122	239	 	–	 	633	420	 	5	811	 	761	470	

Additions 	34	811	 	–	 	131	357	 	4	507	 	170	675	

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	(refer	note	44) 	5	582	 	333	 	48	358	 	45	928	 	100	201	

Disposal	of	subsidiary 	(168) 	–	 	(21	531) 	(21) 	(21	720)

Disposals 	–	 	–	 	(38	173) 	(325) 	(38	498)

Depreciation 	(340) 	–	 	(167	975) 	(3	354) 	(171	669)

Impairment 	–	 	–	 	(11	528) 	–	 	(11	528)

Exchange	differences 	–	 	–	 	(7	076) 	–	 	(7	076)

Closing net book amount 	162	124	 	333	 	566	852	 	52	546	 	781	855	

At 31 december 2009

Cost	 	165	804	 	333	 	1	067	025	 	123	067	 	1	356	229	

Accumulated	depreciation 	(3	680) 	–	 	(500	173) 	(70	521) 	(574	374)

Net book amount 	162	124	 	333	 	566	852	 	52	546	 	781	855	

year ended 31 december 2010

Opening	net	book	amount  162 124  333  566 852  52 546  781 855 

Additions  7 644  5 194  398 984  10 976  422 798 

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	(refer	note	44)  4 000  –  68 558  61  72 619 

Disposals  (31 555)  –  (51 834)  (1 483)  (84 872)

Depreciation  (1 639)  –  (192 830)  (26 325)  (220 794)

Impairment  –  –  (531)  –  (531)

Exchange	differences  31  –  (6 069)  19  (6 019)

Transferred	to	assets	held	for	sale  (89 466)  –  (2 200)  –  (91 666)

Closing net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

At 31 december 2010

Cost	  55 936  5 527  1 432 129  127 712  1 621 304 

Accumulated	depreciation  (4 797)  –  (651 199)  (91 918)  (747 914)

Net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

For	the	purposes	of	the	statement	of	cash	flows,	additions	to	property,	plant	and	equipment	were	reduced	by	R199,4	million	
(2009: R45,6 million)	relating	to	instalment	sale	agreements	entered	into	during	the	year.
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15. PrOPErTy, PLANT ANd EQUIPmENT (continued)

Book	value	of	plant	and	equipment	subject	to	instalment	sale	agreements	(refer	note	29)	are	as	follows:

Instalment sale agreements  434 137 	293	442	

Cost  612 765 	447	426	

Accumulated	depreciation  (178 628) 	(153	984)

Banking loans  4 000 	–	

Cost  4 000 	–	

Accumulated	depreciation  – 	–	

A	full	register	of	the	group’s	land	and	buildings	is	available	for	inspection	at	the	registered	office.

Assets-under-construction,	included	in	plant	and	equipment,	amount	to	R7,2	million	(2009:	R12,4	million).

Depreciation	and	impairment	expenses	have	been	included	in	‘Contracting	and	other	costs’	in	the	income	statement.

 Goodwill 
 r’000 

 Contract- 
based 

intangibles 
 r’000 

 marketing- 
related 

intangibles 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2009

Cost 	133	440	 	18	921	 	–	 	152	361	

Accumulated	amortisation 	–	 	(6	150) 	–	 	(6	150)

Accumulated	impairment 	(2	304) 	–	 	–	 	(2	304)

Net book amount 	131	136	 	12	771	 	–	 	143	907	

year ended 31 december 2009

Opening	net	book	amount 	131	136	 	12	771	 	–	 	143	907	

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	–	Sunset	Bay 	–	 	8	599	 	–	 	8	599	

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	–	Gerolemou/Mvela	Phanda	group 	170	240	 	32	197	 	–	 	202	437	

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	–	TWP	group 	452	549	 	18	544	 	27	119	 	498	212	

Amortisation	charge 	–	 	(20	488) 	–	 	(20	488)

Closing net book amount 	753	925	 	51	623	 	27	119	 	832	667	

The	accumulated	impairment	of	R2,3	million	was	derecognised	during	the	year	due	to	the	disposal	of	Stone	and	Allied	Industries	Limited.
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 Goodwill 
 r’000 

 Contract- 
based 

intangibles 
 r’000 

 marketing- 
related 

intangibles 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

At 31 december 2009

Cost 	753	925	 	78	261	 	27	119	 	859	305	

Accumulated	amortisation 	–	 	(26	638) 	–	 	(26	638)

Accumulated	impairment 	–	 	–	 	–	 	–	

Net book amount 	753	925	 	51	623	 	27	119	 	832	667	

year ended 31 december 2010

Opening	net	book	amount  753 925  51 623  27 119  832 667 

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	–	Sladden	International  32 403  –  –  32 403 

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	–	Valente	Brothers	group  15 500  1 916  –  17 416 

Amortisation	charge  –  (37 947)  (1 356)  (39 303)

Impairment  –  –  –  – 

Closing net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

At 31 december 2010

Cost  801 828  80 177  27 119  909 124 

Accumulated	amortisation  –  (64 585)  (1 356)  (65 941)

Accumulated	impairment  –  –  –  – 

Net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

The	goodwill	in	the	current	year	relates	to	the	acquisitions	of	Sladden	International	(Botswana)	(Pty)	Limited	and	the	Valente	Brothers	group	and	
is	mainly	attributable	to	the	workforces	of	the	acquired	businesses	and	the	significant	synergies	that	are	expected	to	arise	in	the	future	(refer	
note	44).

As	part	of	the	finalisation	of	the	purchase	price	allocation	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	the	TWP	group,	an	adjustment	was	made	to	goodwill	for	
an	amount	of	R132,0	million	relating	to	changes	in	the	at	acquisition	values	of	various	assets	and	liabilities	(refer	note	44).

As	part	of	the	finalisation	of	the	purchase	price	allocation	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	group,	an	adjustment	was	made	to	
goodwill	for	an	amount	of	R0,3	million	relating	to	a	change	in	the	purchase	price	due	to	additional	transaction	costs	incurred.

The	goodwill	in	the	prior	year	relates	to	the	acquisitions	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	group	and	the	TWP	group	and	is	mainly	attributable	to	the	
workforce	of	the	acquired	business	and	the	significant	synergies	that	are	expected	to	arise	in	the	future	(refer	note	44).

Goodwill	is	allocated	to	the	group’s	cash-generating	units	identified	according	to	the	business	segments	that	are	expected	to	benefit	from	the	
business	combination.	The	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	has	been	allocated	to	the	following	business	segments:
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Construction  314 500 	266	597	

Mining  34 779 	34	779	

Developments  – 	–	

Engineering  452 549 	452	549	

 801 828 	753	925	

The	group	tests	goodwill	for	impairment	annually,	or	more	frequently	if	there	are	indicators	that	goodwill	might	be	impaired.	The	recoverable	
amount	of	a	cash-generating	unit	is	determined	based	on	value-in-use	calculations.	These	calculations	use	cash	flow	projections	based	on	financial	
budgets	approved	by	management	covering	a	one-year	period.	Cash	flows	beyond	the	one-year	period	are	extrapolated	using	an	estimated	
growth	rate	of	5%.	These	cash	flow	projections	are	discounted	using	the	group’s	weighted	average	cost	of	capital	adjusted	for	relevant	risk	
factors.

The	goodwill	is	considered	to	have	an	indefinite	life.	Goodwill	is	tested	for	impairment	and	any	subsequent	losses	are	taken	to	the	income	
statement.

All	other	cash-generating	units	to	which	goodwill	applies	have	been	tested	for	impairment	in	the	year	under	review.	None	of	these	units	were	
found	to	be	impaired.

The	contract-based	intangible	asset	in	the	current	year	that	arose	on	the	acquisition	of	the	Valente	Brothers	group	has	been	determined	to	have	
a	finite	life	based	on	the	expected	duration	of	the	longest	contract	in	the	acquired	group.	It	is	being	amortised	over	a	maximum	period	of	
17 months,	of	which	11	months	are	remaining.

The	contract-based	intangible	asset	that	arose	on	the	acquisition	of	the	TWP	group	has	been	adjusted	due	to	the	finalisation	of	the	purchase	
price	allocation.	The	balance	of	R18,5	million	has	been	determined	to	have	a	finite	life	based	on	the	expected	duration	of	the	longest	contract	in	
the	acquired	group.	It	is	being	amortised	over	a	maximum	period	of	24	months,	of	which	12	months	are	remaining.

The	contract-based	intangible	asset	in	the	prior	year	that	arose	on	the	acquisition	of	Sunset	Bay	Trading	282	(Pty)	Limited	has	been	determined	
to	have	a	finite	life	based	on	the	expected	duration	of	the	property	development.	It	is	being	amortised	over	a	maximum	period	of	120	months,	of	
which	98	months	are	remaining.

The	contract-based	intangible	asset	in	the	prior	year	that	arose	on	the	acquisition	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	Phanda	group	has	been	determined	
to	have	a	finite	life	based	on	the	longest	contract	in	the	acquired	group.	It	is	being	amortised	over	a	maximum	period	of	24	months,	of	which	
eight months	are	remaining.

The	marketing-related	intangible	asset	in	the	prior	year	that	arose	on	the	acquisition	of	the	TWP	group	has	been	determined	to	have	a	finite	life	
and	is	being	amortised	over	a	maximum	period	of	240	months,	of	which	228	months	are	remaining.

The	amortisation	charge	has	been	included	in	‘Amortisation	of	intangible	assets’	in	the	income	statement.
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

17. INvESTmENTS IN JOINTLy CONTrOLLEd ENTITIES

Shares	at	cost  41 	41	

Attributable	post-acquisition	net	accumulated	profit  6 439 	7	277	

Advances	made	to	jointly	controlled	entities  13 943 	12	149	

 20 423 	19	467	

Less:	Current	portion	transferred	to	current	assets  – 	–	

Total non-current investment in jointly controlled entities  20 423 	19	467	

reconciliation of opening and closing balances

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  19 467 	12	706	

Acquisition	of	subsidiary  – 	6	176	

Share	of	profits	for	the	year	after	tax  1 662 	–	

Gross	amount  1 952 	–	

Taxation  (290) 	–	

Advances	made	to	jointly	controlled	entities  1 794 	585	

Dividends	received	from	jointly	controlled	entities  (2 500) 	–	

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year  20 423 	19	467	

The	following	information	relates	to	the	company’s	direct	and	indirect	interest	in	jointly	controlled	
entities	including	the	group’s	net	investment	in	the	jointly	controlled	entities:

Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Limited  15 085 	13	291	

Number	of	shares	held:	50	(2009:	50)

Proportion	owned:	50%	(2009:	50%)

Nature	of	business:	Mixed	integrated	housing	development

vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Limited  5 338 6	176

Number	of	shares	held:	40	000	(2009:	40	000)

Proportion	owned:	50%	(2009:	50%)

Nature	of	business:	Mineral	processing	plant	design	and	control	engineering

 20 423 19	467

The	directors	value	the	unlisted	investment	in	jointly	controlled	entities	at	R20	422	760	(2009:	R19	467	491).	This	approximates	its	fair	value.

Refer	to	note	41	for	further	details	regarding	the	investments	in	jointly	controlled	entities.
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18. INvESTmENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Shares	at	cost  225 	98	

Attributable	post-acquisition	net	accumulated	(loss)/profit  (78) 	110	

Advances	made	to	associates  1 266 	1	175	

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year  1 413 	1	383	

reconciliation of opening and closing balances

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  1 383 	21	579	

Acquisition	of	associate  127 	32	

Share	of	profits	for	the	year	after	tax  (188) 	10	

Gross	amount  (148) 	10	

Taxation  (40) 	–	

Advances	made	to	associates  91 	–	

Advances	recovered	from	associates  – 	(6	238)

Associates	reclassified	as	subsidiaries  – 	(14	000)

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year  1 413 	1	383	

The	following	information	relates	to	the	company’s	direct	and	indirect	interest	in	associate	companies	
including	the	group’s	net	investment	in	the	associate:

mmila Projects (Pty) Limited  395 	224	

Number	of	shares	held	by	SprayPave	(Pty)	Limited:	49	(2009:	30)

Proportion	owned	by	SprayPave	(Pty)	Limited:	49%	(2009:	30%)

Nature	of	business:	Distributor	and	sprayer	of	bituminous	and	tar	products

Br-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited  1 018 	1	159	

Number	of	shares	held:	20	(2009:	20)

Proportion	owned:	20%	(2009:	20%)

Nature	of	business:	Construction	of	roads,	buildings	and	civil	engineering	structures

 1 413 	1	383	

During	the	year,	the	group	acquired	a	further	19%	of	Mmila	Projects	(Pty)	Limited	for	a	purchase	consideration	of	R0,1	million.

During	the	prior	year,	the	group	disposed	of	80%	of	its	interest	in	BR-Tsima	Construction	(Pty)	Limited.	Previously	disclosed	as	a	subsidiary	of	
the	group,	BR-Tsima	was	reclassified	as	an	associate.	The	group	continues	to	exercise	significant	influence	in	the	operations	of	the	company.

The	directors	value	the	unlisted	investment	in	associates	at	R1	412	771	(2009:	R1	383	306).	This	approximates	its	fair	value.

Refer	to	note	42	for	further	details	regarding	the	investments	in	associates.
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 r’000 
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19. dEFErrEd TAXATION

Deferred	taxation	is	calculated	on	all	temporary	differences	under	the	liability	method	using	a	
principal	tax	rate	of	the	fiscal	authority	as	indicated	below:

Botswana:	25%	(2009:	25%)

Namibia:	34%	(2009:	34%)

South	Africa:	28%	(2009:	28%)

Zambia:	35%	(2009:	35%)

The	movement	on	the	deferred	taxation	account	is	as	follows:

Balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year  11 122 	(17	852)

Movements	during	the	year	attributable	to:

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries  (6 498) 	6	001	

Disposal	of	subsidiaries  – 	(5	584)

Change	in	tax	rate  – 	(119)

Temporary	differences  (3 620) 	27	891	

Transferred	to	assets	held	for	sale  2 185 	–	

Forex	adjustment  836 	785	

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year  4 025 	11	122	

The	movement	in	the	group’s	deferred	taxation	asset	during	the	year	is	as	follows:

 Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
 r’000 

 Provisions, 
accruals and 

retentions 
 r’000 

 Assessed 
losses and 

other 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Balance as at 1 January 2009 	(26	734) 	23	432	 	25	135	 	21	833	

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries 	(1	757) 	18	002	 	16	475	 	32	720	

Credited/(charged)	to	the	income	statement 	24	045	 	24	711	 	(21	931) 	26	825	

Balance as at 31 december 2009 	(4	446) 	66	145	 	19	679	 	81	378	

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries  12  163  –  175 

Credited/(charged)	to	the	income	statement  (5 072)  (24 417)  27 333  (2 156)

Credited/(charged)	to	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income  –  –  (297)  (297)

Forex	adjustment  –  –  235  235 

Balance as at 31 december 2010  (9 506)  41 891  46 950  79 335 
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19. dEFErrEd TAXATION (continued)

The	movement	in	the	group’s	deferred	taxation	liability	during	the	year	is	as	follows:

 Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
 r’000 

 Provisions, 
accruals and 

retentions 
 r’000 

 Assessed 
losses and 

other 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Balance as at 1 January 2009 	(36	218) 	(4	359) 	892	 	(39	685)

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries 	(25	808) 	(1	662) 	751	 	(26	719)

Disposal	of	subsidiaries 	3	023	 	(1	807) 	(6	800) 	(5	584)

Credited/(charged)	to	the	income	statement 	(18	382) 	8	764	 	10	684	 	1	066	

Change	in	tax	rate 	580	 	(3) 	(696) 	(119)

Forex	adjustment 	767	 	27	 	(9) 	785	

Balance as at 31 december 2009 	(76	038) 	960	 	4	822	 	(70	256)

Acquisition	of	subsidiaries  (9 846)  3 843  (670)  (6 673)

Credited/(charged)	to	the	income	statement 8 209  5 381  (14 757)  (1 167)

Transferred	to	assets	held	for	sale  2 185  –  –  2 185 

Forex	adjustment  489  112  –  601 

Balance as at 31 december 2010  (75 001)  10 296  (10 605)  (75 310)

Combined	balance	as	at	31	December	2009 	(80	484) 	67	105	 	24	501	 	11	122	

Combined balance as at 31 december 2010  (84 507)  52 187 36 345  4 025 

Deferred	taxation	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	when	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	set	off	current	tax	assets	against	current	tax	liabilities	
and	when	the	deferred	taxes	relate	to	the	same	fiscal	authority.	

Deferred	tax	has	not	been	provided	on	estimated	assessed	losses	of	subsidiary	companies	amounting	to	R40,7	million	(2009:	Rnil).

An	announcement	was	made	by	the	Namibian	government	during	the	2009	financial	year	that	the	tax	rate	was	to	be	reduced	to	34%.		Although	
not	promulgated	as	at	31	December	2009,	due	to	the	fact	that	it	was	substantively	enacted,	deferred	tax	was	provided	at	a	rate	of	34%	in	the	
prior	year	for	all	Namibian	companies.	The	effect	of	this	change	in	tax	rate	is	disclosed	above.
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

20. AvAILABLE-FOr-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Unlisted investments

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  19 512 	–	

Additions  4 628 	19	227	

Acquisition	of	subsidiary  – 	6	

Mark-to-market	adjustment	through	equity  704 	279	

At	the	end	of	the	year  24 844 	19	512	

The	following	information	relates	to	the	group’s	interest	in	unlisted	investments:

Stanlib investment  24 838 	19	506	

The	group	holds	an	investment	product	with	Stanlib	Asset	Management.	The	underlying	investment	
mainly	comprises	a	diversified	portfolio	of	listed	equity	securities.		An	additional	R4,6	million	
(2009: R19,2	million)	was	invested	in	the	product	during	the	year.	

desbel Sewe (Pty) Limited  6 	6	

Mvela	Phanda	Construction	(Pty)	Limited	holds	an	investment	in	Desbel	Sewe	(Pty)	Limited,	a	hotel	
management	company.

The	directors	value	the	unlisted	investments	at	R24	844	432	(2009:	R19	512	451).	This	approximates	
their	fair	value.

Listed investments

At	the	end	of	the	year  11 420 	5	902	

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  5 902 	2	

Acquisition	of	subsidiary  – 	5	900	

Mark-to-market	adjustment	through	equity  5 518 	–	

The	following	information	relates	to	the	group’s	interest	in	listed	investments:

Through	the	TWP	group,	the	group	holds	an	investment	in	African	Eagle	Resources	plc,	a	UK-listed	
mineral	exploration	and	development	company	operating	in	Zambia,	Tanzania	and	Mozambique.

The	carrying	value	of	listed	investments	approximates	their	fair	value.

 36 264 	25	414	

21. INvENTOrIES

Consumables  34 307 	6	727	

Finished	goods  2 937 	491	

Spares  10 456 	11	672	

 47 700 	18	890	



159

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

22. dEvELOPmENT LANd

Development	land  351 938 	280	718	

Development	land	comprises	land	purchased	for	the	purposes	of	property	development	and	
subsequent	resale.	Due	to	the	nature	of	property	developments,	the	full	value	of	development	land	
may	not	be	realised	in	the	coming	12-month	period.

In	the	prior	year,	development	land	to	the	value	of	R60	million	was	pledged	as	security	for	one	of	the	
group’s	banking	loans.	Refer	to	note	29	for	further	details.

reconciliation of carrying value of development land

Purchase	consideration	of	land  46 217 	46	217	

Capitalisation	of	development	costs	and	installation	of	bulk	services  266 719 	211	714	

Capitalisation	of	borrowing	costs  39 002 	22	787	

 351 938 	280	718	

movements in development land are as follows:

Opening	balance  280 718 	54	734	

Capitalisation	of	development	costs	and	installation	of	bulk	services  55 005 	97	504	

Capitalisation	of	borrowing	costs  16 215 	14	111	

Acquisition	of	subsidiary  – 	114	369	

Closing	balance  351 938 	280	718	

23. CONTrACT ANd TrAdE dEBTOrS

Contract	debtors  598 827 	566	925	

	 Contract	debtors  617 280 	605	280	

	 Provision	for	impairment	of	contract	debtors  (18 453) 	(38	355)

Trade	receivables  21 065 	41	473	

	 Trade	receivables  22 190 	42	667	

	 Provision	for	impairment	of	trade	receivables  (1 125) 	(1	194)

Retention	debtors  127 656 	93	043	

	 Retention	debtors  128 624 	94	011	

	 Provision	for	impairment	of	retention	debtors  (968) 	(968)

Work	in	progress  150 775 	111	729	

	 Costs	incurred	to	date  4 793 730 	4	733	778	

	 Profit	recognised	to	date  312 079 	278	814	

	 Progress	payments	received	and	receivable  (4 955 034) 	(4	900	863)

 898 323 	813	170	

Contract	debtors	of	the	TWP	group	were	ceded	as	security	for	the	bank	overdraft	facilities	in	place.	At	year	end,	the	total	utilised	overdraft	
facility	amounted	to	R32,9	million	(2009:	R24,2	million)	(refer	note	25).	This	security	was	released	in	early	2011.

Contract	debtors	to	the	value	of	R12	million	of	Blasting	&	Excavating	(Pty)	Limited	are	ceded	as	security	for	the	bank	overdraft	facilities	in	place.	
At	year	end,	the	total	utilised	overdraft	facility	amounted	to	Rnil	(2009:	Rnil)	(refer	note	25).
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23. CONTrACT ANd TrAdE dEBTOrS (continued)

The	age	analysis	of	contract	debtors,	trade	receivables	and	retention	debtors	is	as	follows:

Fully 
performing

 r’000 

Past due 
but not 

impaired
 r’000 

Impaired
 r’000 

Total
 r’000 

31 december 2010

Contract debtors

Government  213 754  95 507  1 356  310 617 

Multinational	mining	companies  79 068  57 650  10 438  147 156 

Listed	companies  65 369  30  –  65 399 

Unlisted	companies  36 028  46 552  6 574  89 154 

Individuals  4 864  5  85  4 954 

 399 083  199 744  18 453  617 280 

The	age	analysis	for	contract	debtors	balances	that	are	considered	past	due	is	as	follows:

0 – 3 months
r’000

4 – 6 months
r’000

 7 – 12 months 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Past	due	balances  92 816  35 968  70 960  199 744 

No	security	is	held	against	these	balances.

Fully 
performing

 r’000 

Past due 
but not 

impaired
 r’000 

Impaired
 r’000 

Total
 r’000 

Trade receivables

Government  205  –  –  205 

Multinational	mining	companies  –  –  –  – 

Listed	companies  1 976  –  –  1 976 

Unlisted	companies  16 509  2 375  1 125  20 009 

Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 18 690  2 375  1 125  22 190 

The	age	analysis	for	trade	receivables	balances	that	are	considered	past	due	is	as	follows:

0 – 3 months
r’000

4 – 6 months
r’000

 7 – 12 months 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Past	due	balances  49 – 2 326 2 375

No	security	is	held	against	these	balances.



161

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

23. CONTrACT ANd TrAdE dEBTOrS (continued)

31 december 2010 (continued)

Fully 
performing

 r’000 

Past due 
but not 

impaired
 r’000 

Impaired
 r’000 

Total
 r’000 

retention debtors

Government  116 936  –  968  117 904 

Multinational	mining	companies  7 120  –  –  7 120 

Listed	companies  865  –  –  865 

Unlisted	companies  2 735  –  –  2 735 

Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 127 656  –  968  128 624 

No	security	is	held	against	these	balances.

Fully 
performing

 r’000 

Past due 
but not 

impaired
 r’000 

Impaired
 r’000 

Total
 r’000 

31 december 2009

Contract debtors

Government 	87	388	 	122	399	 	1	356	 	211	143	

Multinational	mining	companies 	108	007	 	58	890	 	22	937	 	189	834	

Listed	companies 	94	173	 	4	980	 	1	104	 	100	257	

Unlisted	companies 	32	936	 	57	815	 	12	873	 	103	624	

Individuals 	275	 	62	 	85	 	422	

	322	779	 	244	146	 	38	355	 	605	280	

The	age	analysis	for	contract	debtors	balances	that	are	considered	past	due	is	as	follows:

0 – 3 months
r’000

4 – 6 months
r’000

 7 – 12 months 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Past	due	balances 	165	706 	20	188 	58	252 	244	146

No	security	was	held	against	these	balances.
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23. CONTrACT ANd TrAdE dEBTOrS (continued)

31 december 2009 (continued)

Fully 
performing

 r’000 

Past due 
but not 

impaired
 r’000 

Impaired
 r’000 

Total
 r’000 

Trade receivables

Government 	9	361	 	30	 	–	 	9	391	

Multinational	mining	companies 	–	 	–	 	–	 	–	

Listed	companies 	1	712	 	1	949	 	–	 	3	661	

Unlisted	companies 	25	129	 	3	292	 	1	194	 	29	615	

Individuals 	–	 	–	 	–	 	–	

	36	202	 	5	271	 	1	194	 	42	667	

The	age	analysis	for	trade	receivables	balances	that	are	considered	past	due	is	as	follows:

0 – 3 months
r’000

4 – 6 months
r’000

 7 – 12 months 
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

Past	due	balances 	689 	4	552 	30 	5	271

No	security	was	held	against	these	balances.

Fully 
performing

 r’000 

Past due 
but not 

impaired
 r’000 

Impaired
 r’000 

Total
 r’000 

retention debtors

Government 	87	401	 	–	 	968	 	88	369	

Multinational	mining	companies 	528	 	–	 	–	 	528	

Listed	companies 	438	 	–	 	–	 	438	

Unlisted	companies 	4	676	 	–	 	–	 	4	676	

Individuals 	–	 	–	 	–	 	–	

	93	043	 	–	 	968	 	94	011	

No	security	was	held	against	these	balances.
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23. CONTrACT ANd TrAdE dEBTOrS (continued)

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	group’s	contract	debtors,	trade	receivables,	retention	debtors	and	work	in	progress	are	denominated	in	the	
following	currencies:

 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

South	African	rand  748 150 	801	001	

US	dollar  18 118 	369	

Botswana	pula  61 588 	11	800	

Australian	dollar  6 589 	–

Mozambique	meticais  63 878 	–

 898 323 	813	170	

Movements	on	the	group	provision	for	impairment	of	contract	debtors	are	as	follows:

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  38 355 	2	129	

Acquisition	of	subsidiary  – 	34	925	

Disposal	of	subsidiary  – 	(182)

Provision	for	impairment  9 758 	1	519	

Receivables	written	off	during	the	year	as	uncollectible  (29 660) 	(14)

Unused	amounts	reversed  – 	(22)

At	the	end	of	the	year  18 453 	38	355	

Movements	on	the	group	provision	for	impairment	of	trade	receivables	are	as	follows:

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  1 194 	1	284	

Disposal	of	subsidiary  – 	(397)

Provision	for	impairment  300 	307	

Receivables	written	off	during	the	year	as	uncollectible  (369) 	–	

Unused	amounts	reversed  – 	–	

At	the	end	of	the	year  1 125 	1	194	

Movements	on	the	group	provision	for	impairment	of	retention	debtors	are	as	follows:

At	the	beginning	of	the	year  968 	–	

Provision	for	impairment  – 	968	

Receivables	written	off	during	the	year	as	uncollectible  – 	–	

Unused	amounts	reversed  – 	–	

At	the	end	of	the	year  968 	968	

The	creation	and	release	of	provision	for	impaired	contract	debtors,	trade	receivables	and	retention	debtors	have	been	included	in	‘Contracting	
and	other	costs’	in	the	income	statement.	Amounts	charged	to	the	allowance	account	are	generally	written	off,	when	there	is	no	expectation	of	
recovering	amounts	due.

The	other	classes	within	contract	and	trade	debtors	do	not	contain	impaired	assets.

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	at	the	reporting	date	is	the	fair	value	of	each	class	of	receivable	mentioned	above.	The	group	may	hold	
payment	guarantees	as	security.
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

24. rECEIvABLES ANd PrEPAymENTS

Prepayments  17 824 	14	520	

Staff	debtors  921 	1	006	

Deposits  4 493 	12	303	

VAT	receivable  45 638 	17	874	

Other	receivables  26 268 	32	216	

 95 144 	77	919	

Included	in	other	receivables	is	an	amount	of	R18,1	million	due	from	the	non-controlling	interest	
party	of	Basil	Read	Construction	Middle	East LLC.

25. CASH ANd CASH EQUIvALENTS

Bank	balances  1 009 625 	1	244	688	

Cash	on	hand  1 925 	1	351	

 1 011 550 	1	246	039	

Bank	overdraft  (32 894) 	(24	234)

 978 656 	1	221	805	

The	group	holds	deposits	with	banks	and	financial	institutions	that	have	a	minimum	credit	rating	of	‘A’.

26. NON-CUrrENT ASSETS HELd FOr SALE

The	assets	and	liabilities	relating	to	Basil	Read	Contracting	(Pty)	Limited	(part	of	the	construction	
segment),	a	property	owning	subsidiary,	as	well	as	moveable	furniture,	equipment	and	appliances	have	
been	presented	as	held	for	sale	following	the	approval	by	the	group’s	management	to	sell	the	assets.

The	profit	on	this	disposal	will	be	accounted	for	in	the	2011	financial	year.

Assets classified as held for sale

Property,	plant	and	equipment  91 666 	–	

Receivables	and	prepayments  892 	–	

 92 558 	–	

Liabilities classified as held for sale

Deferred	income	tax	liabilities  2 185 	–	

Trade	and	other	payables  284 	–	

Current	income	tax	liabilities  619 	–	

 3 088 	–	
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 Number 
of shares 

 No par value 
ordinary shares 

 r’000 

Treasury 
shares
 r’000 

 Total 
 r’000 

27. STATEd CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary shares

150	000	000	ordinary	no	par	value	shares	(2009:	150	000	000)

Issued

Ordinary shares

year ended 31 december 2009

At	the	beginning	of	the	year 	86	472	146	 	466	164	 	(30) 	466	134	

Issued	for	acquisition	of	subsidiary	–	net	of	costs 	37	317	512	 	482	515	 	–	 	482	515	

Issued	for	acquisition	of	subsidiary	–	previously	held	as		
treasury	stock 	628	 	8	 	–	 	8	

Add:	Previously	held	as	treasury	stock 	7	250	 	–	 	10	 	10	

At	the	end	of	the	year 	123	797	536	 	948	687	 	(20) 	948	667	

year ended 31 december 2010

At	the	beginning	and	end	of	the	year  123 797 536  948 687  (20)  948 667 

All	shares	issued	by	the	company	are	fully	paid	up.

The	unissued	shares	were	placed	under	the	control	of	the	directors	by	resolution	of	the	shareholders	until	the	forthcoming	annual	general	
meeting.	The	directors	are	not	authorised,	by	resolution	of	the	shareholders	and	until	the	forthcoming	annual	general	meeting,	to	issue	ordinary	
shares	for	cash.

 Number 
of shares 

 Total 
 r’000 

reconciliation of closing balance

year ended 31 december 2009

Group	issued	share	capital 	123	797	536	 	948	667	

Treasury	shares	held	by	the	Basil	Read	Share	Incentive	Scheme 	13	507	 	20	

	123	811	043	 	948	687	

year ended 31 december 2010

Group	issued	share	capital  123 797 536  948 667 

Treasury	shares	held	by	the	Basil	Read	Share	Incentive	Scheme  13 507  20 

 123 811 043  948 687 
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

28. NON-CONTrOLLING INTErESTS

Balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year  (1 212) 	2	521	

Transactions	with	minorities  (3 361) 	(849)

Capital	contribution	from	non-controlling	interest	parties  20 588 	198	

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year  (9 942) 	(2	710)

Share-based	payment – 	78	

Dividends	paid  331 	(450)

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year  6 404 	(1	212)

29. INTErEST-BEArING BOrrOWINGS

Instalment sale agreements

Total	amount	outstanding  296 772 	203	799	

The	instalment	sale	agreements	for	plant	and	equipment	bear	interest	between	the	prime	overdraft	
rate	plus	5%	and	prime	less	2%	per	annum	and	are	repayable	in	monthly	instalments	of	between	
R3 888	and	R537	853	over	a	period	of	between	one	and	five	years.

The	agreements	are	secured	by	plant	and	equipment	with	a	book	value	of	R434	137	299	
(2009: R293 441	865).	Refer	to	note	15	for	further	details.

Banking loans

Total	amount	outstanding  128 154 	288	367	

A	banking	loan	was	entered	into	in	the	prior	year,	in	terms	of	which	interest	is	payable	at	the	local	
prime	overdraft	rate	less	0,26%.	The	capital	portion	of	the	loan	is	repayable	in	36	equal	monthly	
instalments	of	R5	555	556,	of	which	23	are	remaining.	The	final	payment	falls	due	in	November	2012.	
The	balance	outstanding	at	year	end	was	R127,8	million	at	an	interest	rate	of	8,74%.

Through	the	acquisition	of	the	Valente	Brothers	group,	the	group	acquired	a	banking	loan	of	
R376 401.	The	loan	bears	interest	at	the	local	prime	overdraft	rate	and	is	repayable	in	monthly	
instalments	of	R31	314,	of	which	15	instalments	are	remaining.	The	loan	is	secured	by	a	mortgage	
bond	over	land	and	buildings	that	are	owner	occupied	by	the	Valente	Brothers	group.	The	property	
has	a	book	value	of	R4	million.	Refer	to	note	15	for	further	details.

Through	the	acquisition	of	Sunset	Bay	Trading	282	(Pty)	Limited	in	the	prior	year,	the	group	acquired	
a	banking	loan	of	R81,6	million.	The	loan	bore	interest	at	the	local	prime	overdraft	rate	less	1,5%.	This	
loan	was	settled	in	the	year	under	review.	The	loan	was	secured	by	development	land	to	the	value	of	
R60	million.	This	security	was	released	in	the	current	year	on	settlement	of	the	loan.	Refer	to	note	21	
for	further	details.

The	final	instalment	of	another	banking	loan,	which	was	entered	into	in	the	prior	year,	in	terms	of	
which	interest	was	payable	at	the	local	prime	overdraft	rate	plus	2,75%,	was	paid	in	July	2010.	The	
balance	outstanding	at	31	December	2009	was	R12,3	million.
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

29. INTErEST-BEArING BOrrOWINGS (continued)

domestic medium Term Note Programme

Total	amount	outstanding  252 465 	228	150	

On	6	August	2009,	the	group	raised	R125	million	under	this	programme.	The	note,	BSR01,	was	listed	
on	the	Bond	Exchange	of	South	Africa	on	12	August	2009	and	bore	interest	at	the	three-month	
ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX	rate	plus	3%.	Interest	was	payable	quarterly.	This	bond	was	fully	redeemed	on	
20 December	2010.

On	7	August	2009,	the	group	raised	R100	million	under	this	programme.	The	note,	BSR02,	was	listed	
on	the	Bond	Exchange	of	South	Africa	on	13	August	2009	and	bore	interest	at	the	three-month	
ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX	rate	plus	2,9%.	Interest	was	payable	quarterly.	This	bond	was	fully	redeemed	on	
12	August	2010.

On	12	July	2010,	the	group	raised	R125	million	under	this	programme.	The	note,	BSR03,	was	listed	on	
the	Bond	Exchange	of	South	Africa	on	13	July	2010	and	bears	interest	at	the	three-month	ZAR-
JIBAR-SAFEX	rate	plus	1,68%.	Interest	is	payable	quarterly	and	the	capital	sum	is	payable	on	12	July	
2011.	The	interest	rate	applicable	at	year	end	was	7,715%.

On	14	December	2010,	the	group	raised	R125	million	under	this	programme.	The	note,	BSR04,	was	
listed	on	the	Bond	Exchange	of	South	Africa	on	20	December	2010	and	bears	interest	at	the	
three-month	ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX	rate	plus	2,35%.	Interest	is	payable	quarterly	and	the	capital	sum	is	
payable	on	20	June	2012.	The	interest	rate	applicable	at	year	end	was	7,9%.

Total interest-bearing borrowings  677 391 	720	316	

Less: Current	portion	transferred	to	current	liabilities	  (339 733) 	(369	464)

Instalment	sale	agreements  (145 601) 	(105	725)

Banking	loan  (66 667) 	(160	589)

Domestic	Medium	Term	Note	Programme  (127 465) 	(103	150)

Total non-current interest-bearing borrowings  337 658 	350	852	

The	present	value	of	future	minimum	payments	on	instalment	sale	agreements	is	as	follows:

Due	within	the	next	12	months  145 601 	105	725	

Due	between	1	and	5	years  151 171 	98	074	

Thereafter  – 	–	

 296 772 	203	799	

The	present	value	of	future	minimum	payments	on	banking	loans	is	as	follows:

Due	within	the	next	12	months  66 667 	160	589	

Due	between	1	and	3	years  61 487 	127	778	

Thereafter  – 	–	

 128 154 	288	367	

The	present	value	of	future	minimum	payments	on	the	Domestic	Medium	Term	Note	Programme		
is	as	follows:

Due	within	the	next	12	months  127 465 	103	150	

Due	between	1	and	2	years  125 000 	125	000	

Thereafter  – 	–	

 252 465 	228	150	
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 2010 
 r’000 

	2009	
	R’000	

29. INTErEST-BEArING BOrrOWINGS (continued)

The	fair	value	of	interest-bearing	borrowings	is	as	follows:

Instalment	sale	agreements  296 772 	203	799	

Banking	loans  128 154 	288	367	

Domestic	Medium	Term	Note	Programme  252 465 	228	150	

 677 391 	720	316	

The	carrying	amounts	of	interest-bearing	borrowings	are	denominated	in	the	following	currencies:

South	African	rand  605 421 	720	316	

Botswana	pula  71 970 	–	

 677 391 	720	316	

The	group	has	R1,0	billion	(2009:	R1,0	billion)	undrawn	borrowing	facilities	at	the	end	of	the	year.	
These	facilities	are	annual	facilities	and	are	subject	to	review	at	various	dates	during	2011.

30. OTHEr BOrrOWINGS

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	the	Blasting	&	Excavating	group  – 	8	485	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	Sunset	Bay	Trading	282	(Pty)	Limited  13 250 	13	250	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	Roadcrete	Africa	(Pty)	Limited  9 498 	18	995	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	Phanda	group  57 208 	109	215	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	TWP	Matomo	Process	Plant	(Pty)	Limited  6 082 	9	298	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	TPS.P	Architects	(Pty)	Limited  6 585 	10	629	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	Sladden	International	(Botswana)	(Pty)	Limited  25 932 	–	

Deferred	payment:	Previous	shareholders	of	Valente	Brothers	(Pty)	Limited  6 736 	–	

Total	amount	outstanding  125 291 	169	872	

Less: Current	portion	transferred	to	current	liabilities	  (99 103) 	(90	515)

Total non-current other borrowings  26 188 	79	357	

The	carrying	amounts	of	other	borrowings	are	denominated	in	the	following	currencies:

South	African	rand  99 359 	169	872	

Botswana	pula  25 932 	–	

 125 291 	169	872	
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30. OTHEr BOrrOWINGS (continued)

The	deferred	payment	for	the	acquisition	of	the	Blasting	&	Excavating	group	was	payable	annually	in	July	in	three	equal	instalments	of	R9	million.	
The	loan’s	notional	effective	interest	rate	was	12,5%	per	annum.	The	first	and	second	of	these	payments	was	made	in	prior	years.	The	third	and	
final	payment	was	made	in	the	current	year.

Due	to	a	continued	dispute	with	the	previous	shareholders	of	Sunset	Bay	Trading	282	(Pty)	Limited,	the	timing	of	all	future	payments	is	uncertain.

The	deferred	payment	for	the	acquisition	of	Roadcrete	Africa	(Pty)	Limited	is	payable	annually	in	September	in	three	instalments	of	R12	million,	
R11	million	and	R10	million.	The	first	of	these	instalments	was	paid	in	the	prior	year.	The	second	instalment	was	paid	in	the	year	under	review.	
The	loan’s	notional	effective	interest	rate	is	10%	per	annum.	The	amount	disclosed	above	is	the	present	value	of	the	remaining	instalment	using	a	
discount	rate	of	10%	per	annum.

The	deferred	payment	for	the	acquisition	of	the	Gerolemou/Mvela	Phanda	group	is	payable	annually	in	July	in	two	equal	instalments	of	
R60 million.	R25,8 million	of	each	instalment	is	conditional	on	the	company	meeting	certain	profit	warranties.	The	first	instalment	was	paid	in	the	
current	year,	including	the	portion	pertaining	to	the	profit	warranty.	The	loan’s	notional	effective	interest	rate	is	10%	per	annum.	The	amount	
disclosed	above	is	the	present	value	of	the	remaining	instalment	using	a	discount	rate	of	10%	per	annum.

The	deferred	payment	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	TWP	Matomo	Process	Plant	(Pty)	Limited	is	payable	annually	in	October	in	two	instalments	
of	R5	million	and	R6,5	million.	The	first	instalment	of	R5	million	was	paid	in	the	year	under	review.	The	loan’s	notional	effective	interest	rate	is	
15,5%	per	annum.	The	amount	disclosed	above	is	the	present	value	of	the	remaining	instalment	using	a	discount	rate	of	15,5%	per	annum.

The	deferred	payment	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	TPS.P	Architects	(Pty)	Limited	relates	to	shareholders	loans	acquired	that	have	yet	to	be	
settled.	The	loans	are	interest	free,	unsecured	and	have	no	fixed	terms	of	repayment.

The	deferred	payment	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	Sladden	International	(Botswana)	(Pty)	Limited	is	payable	annually	in	April	in	three	
instalments.	The	first	instalment	of	R19,7	million,	consists	of	a	guaranteed	payment	of	R6,6	million	and	a	R13,1	million	payment	that	was	
conditional	on	the	company	meeting	a	profit	warranty.	Due	to	the	company’s	inability	to	meet	this	profit	warranty,	the	conditional	portion	of	
the deferred	payment	has	been	reversed	to	the	income	statement	where	it	has	been	included	in	‘Admin	and	operating	expenses’.	The	second	
instalment	of	R7,9	million	is	conditional	on	the	company	meeting	a	profit	warranty.	The	third	and	final	instalment	comprises	a	guaranteed	
payment	of	R10,3	million	and	a	R10,6	million	payment	that	is	conditional	on	the	company	meeting	a	profit	warranty.	The	loan’s	notional	
effective interest	rate	is	10%	per	annum.	The	amount	disclosed	above	is	the	present	value	of	the	remaining	instalments	using	a	discount	rate	
of 10%	per	annum.

The	deferred	payment	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	the	Valente	Brothers	group	is	payable	in	August	2011.	The	loan’s	notional	effective	interest	
rate	is	8%	per	annum.	The	amount	disclosed	above	is	the	present	value	of	this	instalment	using	a	discount	rate	of	8%	per	annum.
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 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

31. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Employee provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  33 915  15 701 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  4 464  1 689 

Disposal of subsidiaries  –  (483)

Provisions created  118 708  98 460 

Provisions reversed  (14 007)  – 

Provisions utilised  (74 481)  (81 452)

Balance at the end of the year  68 599  33 915 

Employee provisions consist mainly of employee incentives which are awarded based on individual 
performance and are paid within three months of the financial year end.

Contract provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  96 259  54 104 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  8 759  – 

Provisions created 53 989  64 430 

Provisions reversed (47 889)  (6 836)

Provisions utilised (42 669)  (15 439)

Balance at the end of the year  68 449  96 259 

Contract provisions consist mainly of provision for losses to end-of-site and provision for end-of-site 
maintenance period.

Other provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  20 628  – 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  –  20 628 

Provisions created  –  – 

Provisions reversed  –  – 

Provisions utilised  (5 441)  – 

Balance at the end of the year  15 187  20 628 

Other provisions consist mainly of provisions for onerous leases and legal settlements.

Balance at the end of the year – current provisions  152 235  150 802 

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors and accruals  969 726  997 507 

Shareholders for dividends  497  396 

Advance payments received for contract work  583 399  484 581 

 1 553 622  1 482 484 
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 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

33. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit 408 798 429 238

Adjustment for non-cash items: 208 080 195 518

Depreciation  220 794  171 669 

Share-based payment  1 193  9 690 

Impairment loss  531  11 528 

(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (2 597)  2 501 

Loss on sale of subsidiary  –  130 

Reversal of other borrowings – deferred payment to previous shareholders 
of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited  (11 841)  – 

Operating cash flow 616 878  624 756 

Movements in working capital:  (200 245)  (121 160)

Inventories  (28 810)  1 888 

Development land  (71 220)  (111 615)

Contract and trade debtors  (52 209)  (149 488)

Receivables and prepayments  (11 016)  8 008 

Trade and other payables  (21 761)  68 997 

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (11 790)  59 163 

Foreign currency translation differences  (3 439)  1 887 

Cash generated by operating activities 416 633  503 596 

Excluded from the cash flow statement are additions to fixed assets amounting to R199,4 million 
(2009: R45,6 million) which were funded by instalment sale agreements.

34. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends due at the beginning of the year  (396)  (421)

Dividends declared per the statement of changes in equity  (51 659)  (50 598)

Dividends due at the end of the year  497  396 

Dividends paid  (51 558)  (50 623)

35. TAXATION PAID

Net taxation due at the beginning of the year  (61 232)  (81 160)

Normal taxation and STC charged to the income statement  (116 047)  (168 641)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  (5 113)  (14 751)

Disposal of subsidiaries  –  225 

Transferred to assets held for sale  619  – 

Net taxation due at the end of the year  16 101  61 232 

Taxation paid  (165 672)  (203 095)
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36. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The group has the following guarantees and suretyships outstanding at the year end:

Payment guarantees  42 811  83 190 

Performance and construction guarantees  1 466 679  1 337 461 

Bond retention guarantees  271 264  275 275 

Bid and other bonds  184 213  154 312 

 1 964 967  1 850 238 

It is not expected that any loss will arise out of the issue of the above guarantees.

The group had a contingent liability in the prior year relating to the acquisition of TWP Holdings 
Limited. The deferred payment for the acquisition of TWP, for an amount of R59,9 million, was payable 
upon finalisation of their audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2010 and was 
subject to a minimum profit warranty. Due to the company not meeting the minimum profit warranty, 
this contingent liability no longer exists.

37. CAPITAL AND OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for at the statement of financial position date  –  4 531 

Capital expenditure approved and not yet contracted for  359 478  145 469 

The above capital expenditure will be financed from funds generated from operations and borrowings.

Operating lease commitments contracted for at the statement of financial position date:

Due within the next 12 months  83 093  35 791 

Due between 1 and 2 years  40 869  39 536 

Thereafter  57 077  84 628 

 181 039  159 955 

The operating leases for office equipment are payable in monthly instalments of between R390 and R38 219, escalating annually by between 
0% and 15%, over a period of between one and five years.

The operating leases for office space are payable in monthly instalments of between R10 106 and R1 969 386. The longest lease expires in 
five years.

The operating lease for other services is payable in monthly instalments of R92 000, escalating annually by agreement between the parties. The 
lease agreement is in force for an indefinite period but may be terminated by giving three months written notice.
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38. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Staff costs  1 126 686  806 373 

Salaries and wages  1 018 735  719 430 

Share-based payment  1 193  9 690 

Pension costs – defined contribution plans  64 531  41 525 

Pension costs – defined benefit plan  –  – 

Social security costs  42 227  35 728 

 Number  Number 

Segment employees analysis

Number of employees employed by the group: Geographical  7 592  5 682 

Local  5 926  5 209 

International  1 666  473 

b) Defined contribution and defined benefit plan

The Basil Read Group Pension Fund, the Basil Read Group Provident Fund and the Construction Industry Retirement Benefit Plan covers 
permanent employees of the group and its subsidiary companies. The pension fund is a defined benefit plan while the provident fund and 
Construction Industry Retirement Benefit Plan are both defined contribution plans. All three funds are registered under the Pension Funds 
Act of 1965 as privately administered funds.

The Basil Read Group Pension Fund was actuarially valued on 30 September 2007 and subsequently rolled forward to 31 December 2009. 
The surplus apportionment, as required by the Pension Funds Second Amendment Act 2001, was approved by the Financial Services Board 
during January 2007.

 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

Present value of funded obligations  (46 772)  (44 815)

Fair value of plan assets  46 602  47 603 

(Deficit)/surplus  (170)  2 788 

Unrecognised due to paragraph 58(b) limit:  –  (2 788)

The principal actuarial assumptions used for valuation purposes were as follows:

% %

Discount rate 8,75 9,50

Expected return on assets 7,25 7,50

Future salary increases n/a n/a

Future pension increases 3,57 4,29



174

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2010

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

38. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

b) Defined contribution and defined benefit plan (continued)

Reconciliation of present value of funded obligations

Balance at the beginning of the year  44 815  43 512 

Service cost  –  – 

Member contributions  –  – 

Interest cost  3 959  2 959 

Actuarial (gain)/loss  (156)  883 

Benefits paid  (1 846)  (2 539)

Risk premiums  –  – 

Amount settled  –  – 

Curtailment loss  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  46 772  44 815 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Balance at the beginning of the year  47 603  48 051 

Expected return on assets  3 570  2 643 

Contributions  –  – 

Risk premiums  –  – 

Benefits paid  (1 846)  (2 539)

Actuarial loss  (2 725)  (552)

Amount settled  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  46 602  47 603 

The assets of the Basil Read Pension Fund were invested as follows:

% %

Cash 50,8 55,4

Bonds 49,2 44,6

Total 100,0 100,0

Expected return on assets

The fund’s expected long-term return is a function of the expected long-term returns on equities, cash and bonds. In setting these 
assumptions, the asset split as at 31 October 2010 was used. The expected long-term rate of return on bonds was set at the same level as 
the discount rate. This implies a yield on government bonds of 8,75% per annum. The expected long-term rate of return on equities was set 
at a level of 3% above the bond rate, whilst the expected long-term rate of return on cash was set at a level of 1% below the bond rate. 
Adjustments were made to reflect the effect of expenses.

c) Company contribution

The company, on the advice of the actuary, determines the company contribution rate in respect of the Basil Read Group Pension Fund.

d) Medical aid

The company continuously reviews its contribution and benefit structures in its various medical aid schemes to ensure that these are well 
positioned against steeply rising healthcare costs. The group has no current exposure to post-retirement medical aid costs.
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38. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e) Share Incentive Scheme

In terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue options to directors and qualifying 
employees. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the market price of the shares less a maximum discount of 10% on the grant 
date. Options are conditional on the employee being in the service of the group on the vesting date. The group has no legal or constructive 
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

First grant

In terms of the first issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this 
option in September 2002. The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R1,40 per share when the group issues these 
shares at the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued 
shares amounted to R172 447 (2009: R175 256) based on the group’s year-end share price.

The movement in the rights to acquire Basil Read shares in terms of issue one is as follows:

 Number 
 2010 
 ’000 

 Number 
 2009 
 ’000 

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  14  21 

Rights exercised during the year  –  (6)

Lapsed during the year due to resignations  – (1)

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  14  14 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited to the 
following vesting periods:

September 2005  8  8 

September 2006  –  – 

September 2007  6  6 

 14  14 

Third grant

In terms of the third issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right 
to issue shares to employees who exercised this option in November 2007. The qualifying 
employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R13,95 per share when the group issues 
these shares at the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered through the 
Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued shares amounted to R22 888 725 
(2009: R26 837 773) based on the group’s year-end share price.

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  2 068  2 188 

Rights exercised during the year  –  (46)

Lapsed during the year due to resignations  (192)  (74)

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  1 876  2 068 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited to the 
following vesting periods:

November 2008  926  1 022 

November 2009  471  519 

November 2010  479  527 

 1 876  2 068 
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38. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e) Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

Third grant (continued)

The following share options allocated to executive directors are still outstanding at year end:

Vested  310  233 

Non-vested  –  77 

 310  310 

The following share options allocated to key management are still outstanding at year end:

Vested  515  386 

Non-vested  –  129 

 515  515 

The weighted average fair value of options granted in terms of this issue determined using the European Binomial valuation model on grant 
date was R21,52 per option. The significant inputs into the model are disclosed below.

The inputs to the model for options granted during November 2007 were as follows:

– exercise price  13,95 

–  expected volatility (based on a statistical analysis of the share price on a weighted moving average basis for the 
expected term of the option) 57,29%

– expected term (years)  1 – 3 

– expected dividend yield 1,4%

– risk-free interest rate 9,80%

– weighted average fair value of an option  R21,52 
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38. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e) Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

Fourth grant

In terms of the fourth issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this 
option in April 2009. The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R13,95 per share when the group issues these 
shares at the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued 
shares amounted to R19 832 320 (2009: R21 754 480) based on the group’s year-end share price.

 Number 
 2010 
 ’000 

 Number 
 2009 
 ’000 

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  1 676  – 

Rights issued during the year  –  1 678 

Rights exercised during the year  –  (2)

Lapsed during the year due to resignations  (51)  – 

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  1 625  1 676 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited to the 
following vesting periods:

April 2010  813  838 

April 2011  406  419 

April 2012  406  419 

 1 625  1 676 

The following share options allocated to executive directors are still outstanding at year end:

Vested  88  – 

Non-vested  87  175 

 175  175 

The following share options allocated to key management are still outstanding at year end:

Vested  311  – 

Non-vested  311  622 

 622  622 

The weighted average fair value of options granted in terms of this issue determined using the European Binomial valuation model on grant 
date was R2,11 per option. The significant inputs into the model are disclosed below.

The inputs to the model for options granted during the year were as follows:

–  exercise price  13,95 

–  expected volatility (based on a statistical analysis of the share price on a weighted moving average basis for the 
expected term of the option) 41,67%

–  expected term (years)  1 – 3 

–  expected dividend yield 5,3%

–  risk-free interest rate 6,24%

–  weighted average fair value of an option  R2,11 
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39. SEGMENT REPORT

The group mainly operates in South Africa, sub-Saharan Africa,  Australia and South America. The group’s client base consists mainly of government 
and mining institutions.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic executive committee that are used to make 
strategic decisions.

The committee manages the business in terms of four segments, construction, developments, engineering and mining. Assets and liabilities are 
allocated to each of these segments and are managed accordingly.

In terms of revenue and profitability, the construction segment has been further broken down into buildings, civil engineering and roads to be 
consistent with the internal reporting reviewed by the committee. 

Although the developments segment does not meet the qualitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, management has concluded that this segment 
should be reported, as it is closely monitored by the strategic executive committee as a growth area with a unique risk profile.

Intersegment revenue is charged at market rates prevailing at the time of the transaction. The revenue from external customers reported to the 
strategic executive committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the income statement.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial 
statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the 
financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.

The segment information provided to the strategic executive committee for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2010  
is as follows:

Operating 
profit 

%

Con-
struction

 R’000 

Develop-
ments
 R’000 

Engin-
eering
 R’000 

Mining
 R’000 

Inter-
segment 

elimination
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

Revenue  3 962 637  24 191  664 405 812 012  (73 476)  5 389 769 
Buildings  845 753  –  –  –  –  845 753 
Civil engineering  766 269  –  –  –  (6 760)  759 509 
Roads  2 350 615  –  –  –  (55 396)  2 295 219 
Mining  –  –  – 812 012  (10 294) 801 718
Developments  –  24 191  –  –  –  24 191 
Engineering  –  –  664 405  –  (1 026)  663 379 
Operating profit 7,58 293 024 4 653 (225) 111 346 – 408 798
Buildings  (1,79) (15 105)  –  –  –  – (15 105)
Civil engineering  5,15 39 126  –  –  –  – 39 126
Roads  11,72 269 003  –  –  –  – 269 003
Mining 13,89  –  –  – 111 346  – 111 346
Developments 19,23  – 4 653  –  –  – 4 653
Engineering (0,03)  –  – (225)  –  – (225)
Depreciation  (67 536)  (74)  (25 305)  (127 879)  –  (220 794)
Impairment  (531)  –  –  –  –  (531)
Net finance income/
(costs)  8 716  1 612  (2 908)  (6 801)  –  619
Property, plant and 
equipment  451 007  3 217  53 695  365 471  –  873 390 
Goodwill  314 500  –  452 549  34 779  –  801 828 
Inventories  2 389  –  9 443  35 868  –  47 700 
Cash and cash equivalents  715 463  36 232  (10 098)  237 059  –  978 656 
Interest-bearing 
borrowings  399 563  127 778  2 367  147 683  –  677 391 
Other borrowings  112 624  –  12 667  –  –  125 291 
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39. SEGMENT REPORT (continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2009 is as follows:

Operating 
profit 

%

Construc-
tion

 R’000 

Develop-
ments
 R’000 

Engineering
 R’000 

Mining
 R’000 

Inter-
segment 

elimination
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

Revenue  4 072 696  68 276  – 698 322  (176 802)  4 662 492 

Buildings  1 175 785  –  –  –  (14 437)  1 161 348 

Civil engineering  578 454  –  –  –  –  578 454 

Roads  2 318 457  –  –  –  (143 230)  2 175 227 

Mining  –  –  – 698 322  (19 135) 679 187

Developments  –  68 276  –  –  –  68 276 

Engineering  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Operating profit 9,21 309 133  6 198  –  113 907  – 429 238

Buildings 2,05 23 776  –  –  –  –  23 776 

Civil engineering  5,18  29 950  –  –  –  –  29 950 

Roads 11,74 255 407  –  –  –  – 255 407

Mining  16,77  –  –  – 113 907  – 113 907

Developments  9,08  –  6 198  –  –  –  6 198 

Engineering  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Depreciation  (46 393)  –  –  (125 276)  –  (171 669)

Impairment  –  –  –  (11 528)  –  (11 528)

Net finance income/
(costs)  23 716  2 088  –  (22 785)  –  3 019 

Property, plant and 
equipment  395 582  1 582 59 266  325 425  – 781 855

Goodwill  266 597  – 452 549  34 779  – 753 925

Inventories  1 817  – 46  17 027  – 18 890

Cash and cash equivalents  1 087 492  43 510  111  90 692  –  1 221 805 

Interest-bearing 
borrowings  404 084  194 444  7 652  114 136  –  720 316 

Other borrowings  141 460  –  19 927  8 485  –  169 872 
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties during the year:

Costs incurred by the group:

 Nature of relationship/amounts paid to
Nature 
of transaction

2010
R’000

 2009 
R’000

Shareholders

Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Limited Directors’ fees  543  451 

Vuwa Investments (Pty) Limited Directors’ fees  165  598 

Directors

Amounts paid to other non-executive directors Directors’ fees  2 164  1 536 

Amounts paid to executive directors Remuneration and incentives  19 897  14 345 

Management

Amounts paid to key management# Cash portion of package  22 153  18 333 

Amounts paid to key management# Benefits  2 751  2 698 

Amounts paid to key management# Incentive bonus  15 837  11 667 

Associate companies and joint ventures

Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Limited  Loan*  13 290  13 290 

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Limited  Loan*  (1 141)  (570)

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited  Loan*  1 275  1 125 

Mmila Projects (Pty) Limited  Loan*  (9)  50 

* Refer notes 17 and 18 for further details.
#  Key management include the directors of the group’s two largest operating subsidiaries, Basil Read (Pty) Limited and TWP Projects (Pty) Limited. Details of share options awarded 

to key management can be found in note 38.
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 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

41. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

Jointly controlled operations

The group’s aggregate proportionate share of jointly controlled operations:

Assets

Non-current assets  355 950  202 601 

Current assets  402 573  556 310 

 758 523  758 911 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  351 415  207 040 

Current liabilities  407 108  551 871 

 758 523  758 911 

Income statement

Revenue  1 533 705  1 764 106 

Cost  (1 348 488)  (1 590 191)

Net profit for the year  185 217  173 915 

Jointly controlled entities

The group’s proportionate share of jointly controlled entities:

Assets

Non-current assets  2 618  – 

Current assets  71 438  83 003 

 74 056  83 003 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  6 480 7 318

Non-current liabilities  –  58 447 

Current liabilities  67 566 17 238

 74 046  83 003 

Income statement

Revenue  859  – 

Cost  803  – 

Net profit for the year  1 662  – 

42. ASSOCIATES

The group’s proportionate share of associates:

Assets

Non-current assets  23  23 

Current assets  3 386  1 906 

 3 409  1 929 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  (16)  209 

Non-current liabilities –  450 

Current liabilities  3 425  1 270 

 3 409  1 929 

Income statement

Revenue  16 427  10 926 

Cost  (16 615)  (10 916)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (188)  10 
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43. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES

The following information relates to the group’s financial interest in direct and indirect investments that are material to the group.

Issued Proportion held

Currency
ordinary

share capital
2010

%
2009 

 %

Subsidiaries

Abrina 6830 (section 21) ZAR 100  100 

Angloafrican Underwriting Managers (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 51  51 

African Road Maintenance and Construction (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 100  100 

Basil Read (Pty) Limited ZAR 200 100  100 

Basil Read Mining Botswana (Pty) Limited (formerly Basil Read Botswana 
(Pty) Limited) (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 2 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Limited (incorporated in the United Kingdom) GBP 1 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Middle East LLC (incorporated in Abu Dhabi) AED 20 200 000 49  49 

Basil Read Construction Namibia (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 100 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Sierra Leone Limited (incorporated in  
Sierra Leone) SLL 100 000 000 100  – 

Basil Read Homes (Pty) Limited ZAR 2 100  100 

Basil Read International (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mauritius (Pty) Limited (formerly BRM Services Limited) 
(incorporated in Mauritius) USD 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mining (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mining Namibia (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 10 100  100 

Basil Read Mining SA (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mozambique Limitada (incorporated in Mozambique) MZM 1 500 000 100  100 

Basil Read Nigeria Limited (incorporated in Nigeria) NGN 2 000 000 100  100 

Basil Read Properties No 2 (Pty) Limited ZAR 389 000 100  100 

Basil Read Properties No 3 (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Tanzania (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Tanzania) TZS 2 000 000 100  – 

Basil Read Uganda (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Uganda) UGX 100 100  100 

Basil Read Zambia Limited (incorporated in Zambia) ZMK 5 000 100  100 

B & E Africa (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Swaziland) ZAR 200 100  100 

B & E Botswana (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 200 100  100 

B & E Lesotho (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Lesotho) ZAR 200 100  100 

Blasting & Excavating Namibia (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 200 100  100 

Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Blue Wave Properties 183 (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

City Square Trading 949 (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Codevco (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 100  100 
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43. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

Issued Proportion held

Currency
ordinary

share capital
2010

%
2009 

 %

Subsidiaries (continued)

Facets Interiors (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Limited NAD 100 100  61 

Matomo Projects (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Mvela Phanda Construction (Pty) Limited ZAR 10 000 100  100 

Newport Construction (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  70 

P. Gerolemou Construction (Pty) Limited ZAR 200 100  100 

Phambili Pipelines (Pty) Limited ZAR 730 100  – 

Portal – TPC Architects (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Portal Partnership Incorporated ZAR 50 000 100  100 

Richtrau No 111 (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Roadcrete Africa (Pty) Limited ZAR 4 900 100  100 

Roadcrete Mkhatjwa (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 000 100  100 

Siyavuya Mining (Pty) Limited* ZAR 100 49  49 

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 500 000 100  – 

SprayPave (Pty) Limited ZAR 200 100  100 

Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 000 100  33,3 

Swaziland Construction Company (Pty) Limited (incorporated in Swaziland) SZL 2 100  100 

TPS.P Architects (Pty) Limited ZAR 373 100  100 

TPS.P Arquitectos Limitada MZM 20 000 97,5  98 

TPS Siyakha Architects (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

TRG Trading (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 000 100  100 

Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) Limited ZAR 300 100  – 

TWP Australia (Pty) Limited AUD 1 000 87,5  88 

TWP Energy (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

TWP Environmental Services (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Limited ZAR 286 171 209 100  100 

TWP Investments (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Limpopo Engineering (Pty) Limited ZAR 100  100 

TWP Matomo Process Plants (Pty) Limited ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Projects (Pty) Limited ZAR 100 100  100 

Valente Brothers (Pty) Limited ZAR 200 100  – 



184

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2010

annual repor t 2010  BASIL READ

43. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

Issued Proportion held

Currency
ordinary

share capital
2010

%
2009 

 %

Jointly controlled entities

Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Limited R 100 50  50 

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Limited R 80 000 50  50 

Jointly controlled operations

Basil Read Bothakga Burrow joint venture P n/a 70  70 

Basil Read Intrafor joint venture R n/a 51  51 

Basil Read joint venture R n/a 60  60 

Basil Read Genesis joint venture N$ n/a 80  80 

Basil Read Lutamo joint venture R n/a 70  70 

Basil Read Newport joint venture R n/a 100  75,5 

Basil Read Quinisa joint venture R n/a 50  50 

Basil Read Sivukile joint venture R n/a 70  70 

BRCD joint venture R n/a 80  80 

BRBB joint venture P n/a 70  70 

BRDC N17 joint venture R n/a 80  – 

BRSB joint venture R n/a 70  70 

DCT joint venture R n/a 70  70 

Germiston Hospital Contractors joint venture R n/a 70  70 

GSC joint venture R n/a 60  60 

Kopano joint venture R n/a 50  50 

Kusile Civil Works joint venture R n/a 25  25 

Mbombela Stadium joint venture R n/a 40  40 

MPC/NHC joint venture R n/a 70  70 

MPC/SSB joint venture R n/a 66  66 

PGTN joint venture R n/a 60  60 

Realeka/MPC joint venture R n/a 50  50 

Roadcrete Africa joint venture R n/a 100  100 

Runway Contractors joint venture R n/a 70  70 

Trekkopje joint venture N$ n/a 33,3  – 

Associates

Binga Constuçoes Mozambique Limitada MT 30 000 000 49  49 

 (incorporated in Mozambique)

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited R 100 20  100 

Mmila Projects (Pty) Limited R 100 49  30 

N17 Toll Operators (Pty) Limited R 1 000 25  25 

Protea Parkway Concession (Pty) Limited R 100 25  25 

SBB Mozambique Limitada MT 10 000 000 30  30 

The holding company’s interest in the aggregate net profits earned by subsidiaries amounted to R256,6 million for the year (2009: R278,3 million).

* Siyavuya Mining (Pty) Limited is classified as a subsidiary as the group has effective control.
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2010

TWP Holdings Limited

Following finalisation of the purchase price allocation of TWP Holdings Limited, which was acquired during the 2009 financial year, adjustments 
were made to several assets and liabilities resulting in an increase in goodwill. 

TWP Holdings Limited has been included as part of the engineering segment.

The revised details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 Restated 
 R’000

As previously
 reported

 R’000

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  179 862  178 890 

– equity shares issued  482 523  482 523 

– liability raised  –  – 

Total purchase consideration  662 385  661 413 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (209 836)  (340 843)

Goodwill  452 549  320 570 

The assets and liabilities as of 21 December 2009 arising from the acquisition are:

 Restated 
 Fair value 

 R’000 

 Restated 
 Acquiree’s 

carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

As previously
 reported

 Fair value 
 R’000 

As previously
 reported

 Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  111  111  111  111 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  59 266  59 266  75 901  75 901 

Intangible assets  45 663  207 467  68 436  210 245 

Investments in jointly controlled entities  6 176  6 176  13 033  13 033 

Deferred income tax assets  19 380  19 380  10 502  10 502 

Available-for-sale financial assets  5 900  5 900  5 900  5 900 

Inventory  46  46  6 084  6 084 

Contract and trade debtors  173 114  173 114  258 741  258 741 

Receivables and prepayments  13 852  13 852  16 454  16 454 

Current income tax assets  3 835  3 835  8 817  8 817 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (7 652)  (7 652)  (7 652)  (7 652)

Other borrowings  (19 927)  (19 927)  (19 927)  (19 927)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (12 786)  –  (28 269)  (9 885)

Trade and other payables  (50 944)  (50 944)  (52 092)  (52 092)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (20 690)  (20 690)  (62)  (62)

Current income tax liabilities  (5 508)  (5 508)  (15 134)  (15 134)

Net assets  209 836  384 426  340 843  501 036 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  179 862  178 890 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (111)  (111)

Cash outflow on acquisition  179 751  178 779 
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

The Gerolemou/Mvela Phanda group

Following finalisation of the purchase price allocation of the Gerolemou/Mvela Phanda group, which was acquired during the 2009 financial year, 
adjustments were made to the purchase price resulting in an increase in goodwill. 

The Gerolemou/Mvela Phanda group has been included as part of the construction segment under the buildings sub-segment.

The revised details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 Restated 
 R’000 

As previously
 reported

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  246 033  245 746 

– liability raised  105 800  105 800 

Total purchase consideration  351 833  351 546 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (181 593)  (181 593)

Goodwill  170 240  169 953 

The assets and liabilities as of 1 September 2009 arising from the acquisition are:

 Restated 
 Fair value 

 R’000 

 Restated 
 Acquiree’s 

carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

As previously
 reported

 Fair value 
 R’000 

As previously
 reported

 Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  371 501  371 501  371 501  371 501 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  40 732  40 732  40 732  40 732 

Intangible assets  32 197  –  32 197  – 

Deferred income tax assets  12 842  12 842  12 842  12 842 

Available-for-sale financial assets  6  6  6  6 

Contract and trade debtors  50 826  50 826  50 826  50 826 

Receivables and prepayments  34 895  34 895  34 895  34 895 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (1 274)  (1 274)  (1 274)  (1 274)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (11 525)  (2 510)  (11 525)  (2 510)

Trade and other payables  (333 902)  (333 902)  (333 902)  (333 902)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (1 627)  (1 627)  (1 627)  (1 627)

Current income tax liabilities  (13 078)  (13 078)  (13 078)  (13 078)

Net assets  181 593  158 411  181 593  158 411 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  246 033  245 746 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (371 501)  (371 501)

Cash inflow on acquisition  (125 468)  (125 755)
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited

On 1 May 2010, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited, a company incorporated in 
Botswana. Sladden’s core business is the construction of roads and civil engineering structures for clients in Botswana and neighbouring countries. 
The acquired businesses contributed revenues of R67,1 million and net profit of R5,3 million. If the acquisition had been effective 1 January 2010, 
the acquired business would have contributed revenues of R127,6 million and net profit of R8,5 million. These amounts have been calculated using 
the group’s accounting policies.

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited has been included as part of the construction segment under the roads sub-segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  30 459 

– equity shares issued  – 

– liability raised  37 966 

Total purchase consideration  68 425 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (36 022)

Goodwill  32 403 

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business, the significant synergies expected to arise following the acquisition of 
Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited and the accounting impact of deferred tax on fair value adjustments.

The total purchase consideration of R76,0 million is payable in four instalments. The first instalment of R30,5 million was paid on 21 May 2010. 
The remaining R45,5 million is payable in three instalments on 30 April 2011, 30 April 2012 and 30 April 2013, dependent on the company 
meeting certain profit warranties. The R45,5 million deferred payment is interest free and has therefore been discounted at 10% per annum to 
reflect fair value.

The payment schedule for the deferred payment is as follows:

 R millions 

30 April 2011 – guaranteed payment  6,6 

30 April 2011 – dependent on meeting profit warranty  13,1 

30 April 2012 – dependent on meeting profit warranty  7,9 

30 April 2013 – dependent on meeting profit warranty  10,6 

30 April 2013 – guaranteed payment  7,3 

 45,5 
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Limited (continued)

The assets and liabilities as of 1 May 2010 arising from the acquisition are:

 Fair 
value 

 R’000 

 Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  36 069  36 069 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  66 153  66 153 

Contract and trade debtors  31 407  31 407 

Receivables and prepayments  6 923  6 923 

Deferred income tax liabilities  (5 399)  (5 399)

Trade and other payables  (82 826)  (82 826)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (12 229)  (12 229)

Current income tax liabilities  (4 076)  (4 076)

Net assets  36 022  36 022 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  30 459 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (36 069)

Cash inflow on acquisition  (5 610)

Valente Brothers group

On 1 July 2010, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Valente Brothers (Pty) Limited, Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) Limited and Phambili 
Pipelines (Pty) Limited, collectively referred to as the Valente Brothers group. Valente Brothers’ core business is the construction of civil 
engineering structures, specialising in the laying and jacking of pipes, for clients in South Africa. The acquired businesses contributed revenues of 
R23,1 million and net profit of R4,1 million. If the acquisition had been effective 1 January 2010, the acquired business would have contributed 
revenues of R54,6 million and net profit of R6,6 million. These amounts have been calculated using the group’s accounting policies.

The Valente Brothers group has been included as part of the construction segment under the civil engineering sub-segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  19 168 

– liability raised  6 481 

Total purchase consideration  25 649 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (10 149)

Goodwill  15 500 

The total purchase consideration of R26,2 million is payable in two instalments. The first instalment of R19,2 million was paid in July 2010. The 
remaining R7 million is payable in one instalment on the first anniversary date. The deferred payment of R7 million is interest free and has 
therefore been discounted at 8% per annum to reflect fair value.
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The assets and liabilities as of 1 July 2010 arising from the acquisition are:

 Fair 
value 

 R’000 

 Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  13 979  13 979 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  6 466  6 466 

Intangible assets  1 916  443 

Deferred income tax assets  175  175 

Contract and trade debtors  1 537  1 537 

Receivables and prepayments  178  178 

Current income tax assets  264  264 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (541)  (541)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (1 274)  (737)

Trade and other payables  (10 256)  (10 256)

Current income tax liabilities  (1 301)  (1 301)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (994)  (994)

Net assets  10 149  9 213 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  19 168 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (13 979)

Cash outflow on acquisition  5 189 

Newport Construction (Pty) Limited

On 30 June 2010, the group acquired the remaining 30% of the share capital of Newport Construction (Pty) Limited, thereby giving the group an 
effective 100% interest in the company.

 R’000 

Carrying value of minority share acquired  3 137 

Purchase price paid  (4 020)

Loss on transactions with minorities  (883)

Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Limited

On 3 September 2010, the group acquired the remaining 39% of the share capital of Matomo Engineering 
Namibia (Pty) Limited, thereby giving the group an effective 100% interest in the company.

Carrying value of minority share acquired  224 

Purchase price paid  (38)

Gain on transactions with minorities  186 
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)

Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Limited (continued)

On 1 March 2009, the group acquired the remaining 66,67% of the share capital of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Limited, thereby giving the group 
an effective 100% interest in the company. Sunset Bay’s core business is the development of golf and leisure estates, specifically the St Micheils golf 
estate, outside Dullstroom. The acquired business contributed revenues of R9,1 million and a net loss of R6,0 million. If the acquisition had been 
effective 1 January 2009, the acquired business would have contributed revenues of R9,1 million and net profit of R6,0 million. These amounts have 
been calculated using the group’s accounting policies.

Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Limited has been included as part of the construction segment under the roads sub-segment.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 R’000 

Purchase consideration:

– cash paid  – 

– liability raised  14 000 

Total purchase consideration (net of shareholders’ loan acquired)  14 000 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (14 000)

Goodwill  – 

The total purchase consideration of R14 million is payable in four instalments. The first instalment of R750 000 was paid on 1 July 2009. The 
remaining R13,25 million is payable in three instalments of R750 000 and a fourth instalment of R11 million at various dates. The group is 
currently in dispute with the previous shareholders and does not expect to make any further payment until the dispute has been resolved.
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)

Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Limited (continued)

The assets and liabilities as of 1 March 2009 arising from the acquisition are:

 Fair 
value 

 R’000 

 Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  481  481 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  203  203 

Intangible assets  8 599  – 

Deferred income tax assets  498  498 

Development land  114 369  114 369 

Contract and trade debtors  1 481  1 481 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (81 795)  (81 795)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (2 408)  – 

Trade and other payables  (19 928)  (19 928)

Shareholders’ loans  (7 500)  (5 572)

Net assets  14 000  9 737 

Purchase consideration settled in cash  – 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired  (481)

Cash inflow on acquisition  (481)

Newport Construction (Pty) Limited

On 1 July 2009, the group acquired a further 15% of the share capital of Newport Construction (Pty) Limited, thereby giving the group an 
effective 70% interest in the company.

 R’000 

Carrying value of minority share acquired  849 

Purchase price paid  (977) 

Loss on transactions with minorities  (128)
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45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2010

There were no disposals in the year ended 31 December 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2009

Stone and Allied Industries Limited

On 1 July 2009, the group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Stone and Allied Industries Limited. The company is a stone-crushing company. 
The disposed business contributed revenues of R32,9 million and net profit of R5,0 million during the 2009 financial year.

Stone and Allied Industries Limited was included as part of the mining segment.

Details of net assets disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received  20 382 

– asset raised  500 

Total sale consideration  20 882 

Fair value of net assets disposed  (20 882)

Loss on sale  – 

The assets and liabilities as of 1 July 2009 disposed of are:

 Fair 
value 

 R’000 

 Disposee’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  5 219  5 219 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  21 720  33 248 

Deferred income tax assets  5 674  5 674 

Inventory  5 208  5 208 

Contract and trade debtors  10 384  10 384 

Receivables and prepayments  58  58 

Interest-bearing borrowings  (5 567)  (5 567)

Trade and other payables  (15 926)  (15 926)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (5 888)  (5 888)

Net assets  20 882  32 410 

Purchase consideration received in cash  20 382 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (5 219)

Cash inflow on disposal  15 163 
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45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited

On 1 January 2009, the group disposed of 80% of the share capital of BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited.

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Limited was included as part of the construction segment.

Details of net assets disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received  – 

Total sale consideration  – 

Fair value of net assets disposed (80%)  (130)

Loss on sale  (130)

The assets and liabilities as of 1 January 2009 disposed of are:

 Fair 
value 

 R’000 

 Disposee’s 
carrying 
amount 

 R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  290  290 

Contract and trade debtors  322  322 

Deferred income tax liabilities  (90)  (90)

Trade and other payables  (135)  (135)

Taxation payable  (225)  (225)

Net assets  162  162 

Purchase consideration received in cash  – 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (290)

Cash outflow on disposal  (290)
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Company income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Company statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Notes
2010

R’000
2009

R’000

Revenue  –  – 

Contracting revenue  –  – 

Other  –  – 

Contracting and other costs  –  – 

Gross profit  –  – 

Admin and operating overheads  (2 063)  (780)

Dividends received  30 000  37 000 

Other gains/(losses) – net 46  –  (448)

Operating profit  27 937  35 772 

Interest received 47  3 459  9 990 

Interest paid 47  (578)  (8 708)

Profit before taxation  30 818  37 054 

Taxation 57  (5 200)  (4 823)

Profit after taxation  25 618  32 231 

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Net profit for the year  25 618  32 231 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – –

Total comprehensive income for the year  25 618  32 231
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Company statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2010

Notes
2010

R’000
2009

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets  960 392  1 005 110 

Investments in subsidiaries 48  960 390  1 005 108 

Available-for-sale financial assets 49  2  2 

Current assets  127  735 

Receivables and prepayments 50 –  454 

Cash and cash equivalents 51  127  281 

TOTAL ASSETS  960 519  1 005 845 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves  959 880  985 070 

Stated capital 52  948 687  948 687 

Retained earnings  11 193  36 383 

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 53  –    –   

Current liabilities  639  20 775 

Trade and other payables 54  639  8 502 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 53 –    12 273 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  960 519  1 005 845 
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Notes
2010

R’000
2009

R’000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (33 792)  (9 663)

Cash generated by operating activities 55  20 427  44 069 

Net finance income  2 881  1 282 

Dividends paid 56  (51 900)  (50 191)

Taxation paid 57  (5 200)  (4 823)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  45 911  63 542 

Acquisition of subsidiary  (972)  (178 890)

Loans repaid by subsidiaries  46 883  242 432 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (12 273)  (54 021)

Proceeds from issue of shares – –

Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings  (12 273)  (54 021)

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (154)  (142)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  281  423 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – AT THE END OF THE YEAR 51  127  281 

 Share 
capital 
 R’000 

Retained 
earnings 

R’000 
Total 
R’000 

Balance at 1 January 2009  466 164  44 628  510 792 

Issue of shares in terms of acquisition of subsidiary  485 136 –  485 136 

Costs relating to the issue of shares  (2 613) –  (2 613)

Total comprehensive income for the year –  32 231  32 231 

Share-based payment –  9 690  9 690 

Dividend paid –  (50 166)  (50 166)

Balance at 31 December 2009  948 687  36 383  985 070 

Total comprehensive income for the year –  25 618  25 618 

Share-based payment –  1 193  1 193 

Dividend paid –  (52 001)  (52 001)

Balance at 31 December 2010  948 687  11 193  959 880 
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Notes to the company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 2010
 R’000 

 2009
 R’000 

46. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Fair value gain on forward foreign exchange contract  –  (448)

Gross amount  –  (448)

Taxation  –  – 

Total gross amount  –  (448)

47. NET FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS)

Interest paid

Bank loans and other borrowings  (578)  (8 708)

Interest received  3 459  9 990 

Bank  171  68 

Other  3 288  9 922 

 2 881  1 282 

48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted investments

Shares at cost  662 386  661 414 

Share-based payments  61 888  60 695 

Loans to subsidiaries  236 116  282 999 

 960 390  1 005 108 

Details of the company’s investments in subsidiaries are as follows:

Basil Read (Pty) Limited  270 627  294 105 

Shares at cost  1  1 

Share-based payment  61 888  60 695 

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  208 738  233 409 

TWP Holdings Limited

Shares at cost  662 385  661 413 

Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Limited

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  –  18 974 

Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme

Interest-free loans to trust  78  57 

Basil Read Properties No 2 (Pty) Limited

Interest-free loans from subsidiary  (170)  (170)

Basil Read Properties No 3 (Pty) Limited  27 462  30 721 

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  1 474  4 733 

Interest-bearing loan to subsidiary  25 988  25 988 

Blue Wave Properties 183 (Pty) Limited

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  8  8 

960 390 1 005 108
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 2010
 R’000 

 2009
 R’000 

48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Unless indicated, the above loans are interest free. Partial loans to Basil Read Properties 
No 3 (Pty) Limited are charged interest at the local prime overdraft rate plus 2,75%.

At 31 December 2010, the net asset value of the group was R1,7 billion (2009: 
R1,5 billion) and the market capitalisation was R1,5 billion (2009: R1,6 billion), based 
on the group’s year end share price.

49. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Listed investments

At the beginning and the end of the year  2  2 

The carrying value of listed investments approximates their fair value.

50. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

VAT receivable –  454 

51. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances  127  281 

 Number 
of shares 

 No par value 
ordinary shares 

 R’000 

52. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary shares

150 000 000 ordinary no par value shares (2009: 150 000 000)

Issued

Ordinary shares

Year ended 31 December 2009

At the beginning of the year  86 493 531  466 164 

Issued in acquisition of subsidiary – net of costs  37 317 512  482 523 

At the end of the year  123 811 043  948 687 

Year ended 31 December 2010

At the beginning and end of the year  123 811 043  948 687 

The unissued shares were placed under the control of the directors by resolution of the shareholders until the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. The directors are not authorised, by resolution of the shareholders and until the forthcoming annual general meeting, to issue ordinary 
shares for cash.
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 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

53. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Banking loan

Total amount outstanding  – 12 273

The banking loan was charged interest at the local prime overdraft rate plus 2,75%. The loan was 
repayable in monthly instalments of R1 852 016 with the final payment being made in July 2010.

 –  12 273 

Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities 

Banking loan  –  (12 273)

Total non-current interest-bearing borrowings  –  – 

The present value of future minimum payments on banking loans is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months  –  12 273 

Due between 1 and 3 years  –  – 

Thereafter  –  – 

 –  12 273 

The fair value of interest-bearing borrowings is as follows:

Banking loans  –  12 273 

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

South African rand  –  12 273 

54. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors and accruals  142  8 106 

Shareholders for dividends  497  396 

 639  8 502 

The carrying value of trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the short-term 
maturities of these balances.

55. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit  27 937  35 772 

Adjustment for non-cash items: – –

Operating cash flow  27 937  35 772 

Movements in working capital:  (7 510)  8 297 

Receivables and prepayments  454  196 

Trade and other payables  (7 964)  8 101 

Cash generated by operating activities  20 427  44 069 
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 2010 
 R’000 

 2009 
 R’000 

56. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends due at the beginning of the year  (396)  (421)

Dividends declared per the statement of changes in equity  (52 001)  (50 166)

Dividends due at the end of the year  497  396 

Dividends paid  (51 900)  (50 191)

57. TAXATION PAID

Taxation due at the beginning of the year – –

STC charged to the income statement  (5 200)  (4 823)

Taxation due at the end of the year – –

Taxation paid  (5 200)  (4 823)

58. BORROWING POWERS

The company has unlimited borrowing powers in terms of its articles of association.

59. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company has issued sureties for unlimited amounts in respect of amounts advanced to and sureties issued on behalf of subsidiary companies. 
It is not expected that any loss will arise out of the issue of these guarantees.

The group had a contingent liability in the prior year relating to the acquisition of TWP Holdings Limited. The deferred payment for the 
acquisition of TWP, for an amount of R59,9 million, was payable upon finalisation of their audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 
2010 and was subject to a minimum profit warranty. Due to the company not meeting the minimum profit warranty, this contingent liability no 
longer exists.
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Shareholders’ information
as at 31 December 2010

ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS
The following are the shareholders beneficially holding, directly or indirectly, in excess of 2% of the share capital: 

Number of 
shares held

% of 
shares held

Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Limited 12 275 041 9,91 
The Townshend Family Trust  9 337 047  7,54
Industrial Development Corporation  9 090 909  7,34 
Public Investment Comissioners  6 795 217  5,49 
Pictet et cie Banquiers  5 525 000  4,46 
Anchor Park Investments 81 (Pty) Limited (Vunani Limited)  4 434 178  3,58 
Standard Financial Markets (Pty) Limited  3 568 316  2,88 
Goudstad Nominees (Vuwa Investments (Pty) Limited)  2 819 195  2,28 
Standard Bank Asset Managers  2 616 971  2,11 

DESCRIPTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Number of 
shareholders

% of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares held

% of 
shares held

Public shareholding
Corporate entities/Nominees/Trusts/Individuals  5 574  99,88 94 881 348 76,64

 5 574  99,88 94 881 348 76,64
Non-public shareholding
Share Incentive Scheme  1  0,02  25 178  0,02 
Major black economic empowerment partners  3  0,05 19 528 414 15,77
Directors (direct and indirect)  3  0,05  9 376 103  7,57 

 7  0,12 28 929 695 23,36
Total  5 581  100,00  123 811 043  100,00 

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
1 – 1 000 shares  2 193  39,29  1 135 898  0,92 
1 001 – 5 000 shares  2 305  41,30  5 820 692  4,70 
5 001 – 10 000 shares  509  9,12  3 893 448  3,14 
10 001 – 50 000 shares  389  6,97  8 281 881  6,69 
50 001 – 100 000 shares  54  0,97  3 794 137  3,06 
Over 100 001 shares  131  2,35  100 884 987  81,49 

 5 581  100,00  123 811 043  100,00 

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS ACCORDING TO COUNTRY
South Africa  5 498  98,50  115 826 494  93,55 
Switzerland  3  0,05  5 589 990  4,51 
United States of America  21  0,38  1 256 211  1,01 
Netherlands  3  0,05  549 472  0,44 
Namibia  20  0,36  400 451  0,32 
United Kingdom  14  0,25  106 793  0,09 
Luxembourg  1  0,02  25 031  0,02 
Israel  1  0,02  20 000  0,02 
Botswana  8  0,14  17 109  0,01 
Zimbabwe  5  0,09  8 300  0,01 
Canada  1  0,02  5 500  0,01 
Germany  1  0,02  2 000  0,01 
Gibraltar  1  0,02  1 500  – 
Portugal  1  0,02  1 000  – 
Swaziland  2  0,04  792  – 
Greece  1  0,02  400  – 

 5 581 100,00  123 811 043  100,00 
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Notice is hereby given that the 26th annual general meeting of the shareholders of Basil Read Holdings Limited will be held at TWP’s head office, 
54 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg on Thursday, 26 May 2011 at 12:00 for the purposes of transacting the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To consider and adopt the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the reports of the directors and auditors.
2.  To elect the following directors who retire in accordance with the provisions of the group’s articles of association and being eligible offer 

themselves for re-election. Their short CVs are detailed on page 9 of the annual report.
 2.1 SS Ntsaluba (appointed 05/07/2006)
 2.2 AT Tlelai (appointed 05/07/2006)
 2.3 CP Davies (appointed 05/07/2006)
3. To confirm fees payable to the directors (refer pages 119).
4. To authorise the directors to approve the remuneration of the auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc for the year under review.
5. To reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1: Control of authorised but unissued shares
6.  To place the unissued ordinary shares in the authorised ordinary share capital of the company under the control of the directors in terms of 

section 221 and 222 of the Companies Act, 1973, as amended (“the Act”), who are authorised to allot and issue shares on such terms and 
conditions as they deem fit, until the next annual general meeting, subject to the provisions of the Act and the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings 
Requirements.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2: General authority to issue shares for cash
7.  Resolved that the directors have the power to allot and issue ordinary shares for cash as and when the directors consider it appropriate in the 

circumstances, subject to the Act, any share incentive trust deed entered into by the company, the articles of association of the company and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable, and the following limitations, namely that:

 •  this authority shall not endure beyond the earlier of the next annual general meeting of the company or beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the 
date of this meeting;

 •  there will be no restrictions in regard to the persons to whom the shares may be issued, provided that such shares are to be issued to public 
shareholders (as defined by the JSE Listings Requirements) but not to related parties;

 •  upon any issue of ordinary shares representing on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five percent) or more of the number of ordinary 
shares in issue, the company shall, by way of a paid press announcement in terms of 11.22 of the JSE Listings Requirements, give full details 
thereof, including the effect on the net asset value of the company and earnings per share, the number of securities issued and the average 
discount to the weighted average traded price of the securities over the 30 days prior to the date that the price of such issue is agreed in writing 
between the issuer and the party/ies subscribing for the securities;

 •  that issues in the aggregate in any one financial year shall not exceed 15% (fifteen percent) of the number of issued ordinary shares of the 
company (including instruments which are compulsorily convertible into ordinary shares) at the date of application less any ordinary shares 
issued, or to be issued in the future arising from options/convertible securities issued during the current financial year;

 •  the maximum discount at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of the ordinary shares 
of the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed between the issuer and the party 
subscribing for the securities, and;

 •  under the JSE Listings Requirements, a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of votes cast by the ordinary shareholders present or represented by 
proxy at the general meeting is required to approve the resolution.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1: General authority to repurchase shares 
8.  Resolved that the company approves, as a general approval as contemplated in sections 85(2) and 85(3) of the Companies Act, the acquisition of 

shares issued by the company upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors may from time to time decide, but subject to 
the provisions of section 85 to section 89 of the Companies Act, the articles of association and the JSE Listings Requirements, namely that:

 •  the repurchase of securities may only be effected on the open market through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done 
without any understanding between the company and the counterparty;

 •  authorisation thereto being given by the company’s articles of association;
 •  approval by shareholders in terms of a special resolution of the company, which shall be valid only until the company’s next annual general 

meeting or for 15 months from the date of the special resolution, whichever period is shorter;
 •  at any point in time, the company will only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the company’s behalf;
 •  in any one financial year the general authority to repurchase will be limited to a maximum of 20% of the company’s issued capital of that class at 

the time authority is granted in that financial year;
 •  repurchases may not be made at a price greater than 10% above the weighted average of the market value for the securities for the five business 

days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction is effected;
 •  the company after such repurchases still complies with paragraph 3.37 to 3.41 of the JSE Listings Requirements concerning shareholder spread 

requirements;

Notice to shareholders
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 •  the company makes an announcement in terms of paragraph 11.27 of the JSE Listings Requirements; and
 •  repurchases may not be made during a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, unless a 

repurchase programme (where the dates and quantities of shares to be repurchased during the prohibited period are fixed) is in place and full 
details thereof announced on SENS prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

The reason for and the effect of special resolution number 1
The reason for and the effect of special resolution number 1 is to grant the directors a general authority in terms of the Act for the acquisition by the 
company of shares issued by it on the basis reflected in special resolution number 1.

Explanatory notes to special resolution number 1
Pursuant to the terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors hereby state:
1.  that the intention of the company is to utilise the general authority to repurchase securities if at some future date the cash resources of the 

company are in excess of its requirements. In this regard the directors will take account of, inter alia appropriate capitalisation structures for the 
company, the long-term cash needs of the company and will ensure that any such repurchases are in the interest of shareholders;

2.  that the method by which the company intends to repurchase its securities and the date on which such repurchases will take place, have not yet 
been determined;

3. that after considering the effect of a maximum permitted general repurchase of securities;
 •  the company and the group will be able in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the date of the 

general repurchase;
 •  the assets of the company and the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the company and the group for a period of 12 months after the 

date of general repurchase. For this purpose, the assets and liabilities will be recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies 
used in the latest audited consolidated annual financial statements;

 •  the share capital and reserves of the company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 12 months after the 
date of general repurchase;

 •  the working capital of the company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 12 months after the date of 
the general repurchase; and

 •  the company will provide its sponsor and the JSE with all documentation as required in Schedule 25 of the JSE Listings Requirements, and will 
not commence any repurchase programme until the sponsor has signed off on the adequacy of its working capital, advised the JSE accordingly 
and the JSE has approved this documentation.

Additional explanatory notes to special resolution number 1
Information required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements with regard to the general authority for the company or any of its subsidiaries to 
repurchase the company’s securities appears in the annual financial statements, to which this notice of annual general meeting is annexed as indicated 
below:
•  Directors and management: pages 8, 9, 10 and 11 of the annual financial statements.
•  Major shareholders: page 201 of the annual financial statements.
•  Directors’ interests in securities: page 120 of the annual financial statements.
•  Share capital of the company: pages 165 and 198 of the annual financial statements.

Litigation
There are no legal or arbitration proceedings, including any proceedings that are pending or threatened of which the company is aware, that may have 
or have had in the recent past, being at least the previous 12 months, a material effect on the company’s financial position.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual report, there have been no material changes in the affairs or financial position of the 
company since the date of signature of the audit report and the date of this notice.

Responsibility statement
The directors, whose names are given on pages 8 and 9 of the annual report in which this notice was included, collectively and individually accept full 
responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this notice and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts that 
have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and 
that the annual report and notice contain all information required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

9. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting.
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Notice to shareholders continued

VOTING
The ordinary resolutions are subject to a simple majority vote of shareholders present or represented by proxy at the annual general meeting. Every 
shareholder present in person or by proxy at the annual general meeting shall, on a show of hands, have one vote only, and on a poll, have one vote for 
each share of which he/she is the registered holder.

A shareholder entitled to attend, speak and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy (who need not be a shareholder of the 
company), to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead.

Shareholders which are companies or other bodies corporate may, in terms of section 188(1) of the Act, by resolution of its directors or other 
governing body, authorise any person to act as its representative at the annual general meeting.

Certificated shareholders and own-name dematerialised shareholders who are unable to attend the annual general meeting but wish to be represented 
thereat should complete and return the attached form of proxy in accordance with the instruction contained therein so as to be received by the 
Transfer Secretaries of the company, Link Market Services (Pty) Limited, 11 Diagonal Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000) at 
least 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the annual general meeting.

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than by own name registration who wish to vote by way 
of proxy, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions, in terms of the custody agreement entered into between such shareholders 
and their CSDP or broker. These instructions must be provided to their CSDP or broker by the cut-off time or date advised by their CSDP or broker 
for instructions of this nature.

Dematerialised shareholders who wish to attend the annual general meeting must request their CSDP or broker to vote by proxy on their behalf in 
terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholder and their CSDP or broker.

By order of the board

E Kruger
Company secretary

Boksburg
3 May 2011
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Form of proxy

BASIL READ HOLDINGS  LIMITED
Registration number 1984/007758/06
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(“the company”)

For use by  certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held at 12:00 on Thursday, 26 May 2011 at 
TWP’s head office, 54 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg.

I/We

of address

being the holder/s of ordinary shares in the company, appoint: (see note 1)

1.  or failing him/her

2.  or failing him/her

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the annual general meeting of the company to be held at 12:00 on Thursday, 26 May 2011 at TWP’s head office, 
54 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg and at any adjournment thereof.  I/We desire to vote as indicated below (see note 2):

Number of shares

Proposed ordinary/special resolutions In favour Against Abstain

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Resolution number 1

Adopt the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. Resolution number 2
Re-elect the directors as listed/below, who retire in accordance with the articles of 
association of the company, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election

2.1 SS Ntsaluba

2.2 AT Tlelai

2.3 CP Davies

3. Resolution number 3
To confirm the fees payable to the directors

4. Resolution number 4
Approve the auditors’ remuneration

5. Resolution number 5
Reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors

SPECIAL BUSINESS
6. Ordinary resolution number 1

Place unissued shares under the control of directors

7. Ordinary resolution number 2
To grant the directors a general authority to issue ordinary shares for cash

8. Special resolution number 1
General authority to repurchase shares

(Indicate instructions to proxy by way of a cross in the appropriate space(s) provided above)

Signed at on 2011

Signature 

Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a member of the company), to attend, speak and vote in place of that 
member at the annual general meeting.

Please read the notes of the reverse side hereof.
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR SIGNING AND LODGING THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PROXY FORM
1.  A shareholder may insert the name(s) of two alternative proxies (neither of whom need be a shareholder of the company) in the space provided, 

with or without deleting the words “chairman of the annual general meeting”. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and has 
not been deleted and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. 
In the event that no names are indicated, the proxy shall be exercised by the chairman of the annual general meeting.

2.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of an “X” or the relevant number of votes exercisable by that 
shareholder in the appropriate box/boxes provided. If a proxy form, fully signed, is lodged without specific directions as to which way the proxy is 
to vote, the chairman of the annual general meeting will be deemed to have been authorised as he/she thinks fit. A shareholder or the proxy is 
obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by the proxy.

3.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank spaces need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must be 
initialled by the authorised signatory/ies.

4. When there are joint holders of Basil Read shares, all joint Basil Read shareholders must sign the form of proxy.

5.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the shareholder, who grants this proxy, from attending the annual general 
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.

6.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this 
form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries.

7.  Where this form is signed under power of attorney, such power of attorney must accompany this form unless it has been previously registered 
with the company or the transfer secretaries.

8.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant document establishing his/her legal capacity has been produced or 
registered by the transfer secretaries.

9.  Completed forms of proxy must be forwarded to the company’s transfer secretaries, Link Market Services (Pty) Limited, 11 Diagonal Street, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000) so as to be received at least 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, 
before the annual general meeting.

Notes to form of proxy
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Administration

BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Registration number: 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR
ISIN: ZAE000029781

COMPANY SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE
Enna Kruger
The Basil Read Campus
7 Romeo Street
Hughes Extension
Boksburg 1459

Private Bag X170 Bedfordview 2008
Tel: +27 11 418 6300
Fax: +27 11 418 6334

SPONSOR
Sasfin Capital
29 Scott Street
Waverley 2090

BANKERS
Nedbank Corporate Banking – Gauteng
1st Floor
Corporate Place Nedbank
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown 2196

First National Bank of Southern Africa Limited
5th Floor
No 3 First Place
Bank City
Harrison Street
Johannesburg 2001

Financial year-end 31 December
Annual general meeting 26 May 2011

REPORTS
Half-year interim report August 2011
Audited results March 2012

FINAL DIvIDEND
SA cents per share 30
Last date to trade cum dividend Friday, 27 May 2011
Share to commence trading ex dividend Monday, 30 May 2011
Record date (date shareholders recorded in books) Friday, 3 June 2011
Payment date Monday, 6 June 2011

Shareholders’ diary
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58 years1 9 5 2 2 0 1 0
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